FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT
Hyatt Franchising, L.L.C.

a Delaware limited liability company
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 750-1234
www.hyatt.com
information@hyatt.com

The franchise offered is to operate a unique, upscale accommodations and hospitality affiliation
under a separate tradename that you own but affiliated with the name “The Unbound Collection
by Hyatt®”.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Brand Hotel ranges from $45,391,000 to
$153,701,078. This includes $272,000 to $967,577 that must be paid to the franchisor or affiliate.

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other
information in plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements
carefully. You must receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar-days before you sign a
binding agreement with, or make any payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with
the proposed franchise sale. Note, however, that no governmental agency has verified the
information contained in this document.

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for
you. To discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact Rebecca Smetters
(rebecca.smetters@hyatt.com) at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606, and (312)
780-5828.

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don’t rely on the disclosure
document alone to understand your contract. Read all of your contract carefully. Show your
contract and this disclosure document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help
you make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as “A Consumer’s Guide to
Buying a Franchise,” which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is
available from the Federal Trade Commission. You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or
by writing to the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20580. You can also
visit the FTC’s home page at www.ftc.gov for additional information. Call your state agency or
visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

Issuance date of this Franchise Disclosure Document: March 26, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024
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How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to

find more information:

QUESTION

WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION

How much can | earn?

Iltem 19 may give you information about outlet
sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try to
obtain this information from others, like current and
former franchisees. You can find their names and
contact information in Item 20 or Exhibits H and 1.

How much will I need to invest?

Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the
franchisor or at the franchisor’s direction. Item 7
lists the initial investment to open. Item 8
describes the suppliers you must use.

Does the franchisor have the
financial ability to provide
support to my business?

Item 21 or Exhibit A includes financial statements.
Review these statements carefully.

Is the franchise system stable,
growing, or shrinking?

Iltem 20 summarizes the recent history of the
number of company-owned and franchised outlets.

Will my business be the only
The Unbound Collection by
Hyatt® business in my area?

Iltem 12 and the “territory” provisions in the
franchise agreement describe whether the
franchisor and other franchisees can compete with
you.

Does the franchisor have a
troubled legal history?

Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or its
management have been involved in material
litigation or bankruptcy proceedings.

What’s it like to be a The
Unbound Collection by Hyatt®
franchisee?

Item 20 or Exhibit H and I lists current and former
franchisees. You can contact them to ask about
their experiences.

What else should | know?

These questions are only a few things you should
look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in
this disclosure document to better understand this
franchise opportunity. See the table of contents.
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What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally

Continuing responsibility to pay fees. You may have to pay royalties and other fees
even if you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to change
its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require you to
make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your franchise
business.

Supplier restrictions. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a limited
group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than
similar items you could buy on your own.

Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a
similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions.
Some examples may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what
you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation.

Competition from franchisor. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the
franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you
may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to
continue to operate your franchise business.

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a
similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your
landlord or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to
register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that
the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To
find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the
agency information in Exhibit E.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be
made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda.
See the Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific Addenda.
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Special Risks to Consider About This Franchise

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted:

1. Out-of-State Dispute Resolution. The franchise agreement requires you to
resolve disputes with the franchisor by arbitration and/or litigation only in
Illinois. Out-of-state arbitration or litigation may force you to accept a less
favorable settlement for disputes. It may also cost more to arbitrate or litigate
with the franchisor in Illinois than in your own state.

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the “State Specific
Addenda” (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted.
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THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS APPLY ONLY TO TRANSACTIONS GOVERNED BY THE
MICHIGAN FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN PROHIBITS CERTAIN UNFAIR PROVISIONS THAT ARE
SOMETIMES IN FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS. IF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS
ARE IN THESE FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS, THE PROVISIONS ARE VOID AND CANNOT BE
ENFORCED AGAINST YOU.

Each of the following provisions is void and unenforceable if contained in any documents relating to a
franchise:

@) A prohibition on the right of a franchisee to join an association of franchisees.

(b) A requirement that a franchisee assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver, or
estoppel which deprives a franchisee of rights and protections provided in this act. This shall not preclude
a franchisee, after entering into a franchise agreement, from settling any and all claims.

(c) A provision that permits a franchisor to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of its
term except for good cause. Good cause shall include the failure of the franchisee to comply with any
lawful provision of the franchise agreement and to cure such failure after being given written notice thereof
and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be more than 30 days, to cure such failure.

(d) A provision that permits a franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly
compensating the franchisee by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the time of expiration
of the franchisee’s inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings. Personalized materials which
have no value to the franchisor and inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings not reasonably
required in the conduct of the franchise business are not subject to compensation. This subsection applies
only if: (i) The term of the franchise is less than 5 years and (ii) the franchisee is prohibited by the franchise
or other agreement from continuing to conduct substantially the same business under another trademark,
service mark, trade name, logotype, advertising, or other commercial symbol in the same area subsequent
to the expiration of the franchise or the franchisee does not receive at least 6 months advance notice of
franchisor’s intent not to renew the franchise.

(e) A provision that permits the franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally
available to other franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This section does not
require a renewal provision.

(f A provision requiring that arbitration or litigation be conducted outside this state. This
shall not preclude the franchisee from entering into an agreement, at the time of arbitration, to conduct
arbitration at a location outside this state.

(o) A provision which permits a franchisor to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a
franchise, except for good cause. This subdivision does not prevent a franchisor from exercising a right of
first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but is not limited to:

(1) The failure of the proposed transferee to meet the franchisor’s then current
reasonable qualifications or standards.

(i) The fact that the proposed transferee is a competitor of the franchisor or
subfranchisor.
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(iii)  The unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with
all lawful obligations.

(iv) The failure of the franchisee or proposed transferee to pay any sums owing to the
franchisor or to cure any default in the franchise agreement existing at the time of the proposed
transfer.

(h) A provision that requires the franchisee to resell to the franchisor items that are not
uniquely identified with the franchisor. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that grants to a
franchisor a right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchise on the same terms and conditions as a
bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those assets, nor does this subdivision prohibit a provision
that grants the franchisor the right to acquire the assets of a franchise for the market or appraised value of
such assets if the franchisee has breached the lawful provisions of the franchise agreement and has failed
to cure the breach in the manner provided in subdivision (c).

(1 A provision which permits the franchisor to directly or indirectly convey, assign, or
otherwise transfer its obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to the franchisee unless provision has
been made for providing the required contractual services.

If the franchisor’s most recent financial statements are unaudited and show a net worth of less than
$100,000.00, the franchisee may request the franchisor to arrange for the escrow of initial investment and
other funds paid by the franchisee until the obligations, if any, of the franchisor to provide real estate,
improvements, equipment, inventory, training or other items included in the franchise offering are fulfilled.
At the option of the franchisor, a surety bond may be provided in place of escrow.

THE FACT THAT THERE IS A NOTICE OF THIS OFFERING ON FILE WITH THE
ATTORNEY GENERAL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION, OR
ENFORCEMENT BY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

Any questions regarding this notice should be directed to:

State of Michigan
Consumer Protection Division
Attn: Franchise Section
670 G. Mennen Building
Lansing, Michigan 48913
Telephone Number: (517) 335-7567

Notwithstanding paragraph (f) above, we intend to enforce fully the provisions of the arbitration section in
our Franchise Agreement. We believe that paragraph (f) is unconstitutional and cannot preclude us from
enforcing our arbitration provision. If you acquire a franchise, you acknowledge that we will seek to enforce
that section as written, and that the terms of the Franchise Agreement will govern our relationship with you,
including the specific requirements of the arbitration section.
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ltem 1

THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND AFFILIATES

To simplify the language in this disclosure document, “we,” “us” or “our” means Hyatt
Franchising, L.L.C., the franchisor. “You” means the entity acquiring a franchise. One or more
of the owners of a Controlling Ownership Interest (defined in Item 15) in you who we specify must
sign the Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations, which means that all provisions of the Franchise
Agreement (Exhibit C) also will apply to those owners. We expect that only entities, and not
individuals, will acquire our franchises.

Our Company History and Parent

We incorporated in Delaware as Hyatt Franchise Corporation and converted under
Delaware law to Hyatt Franchising, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company. This change in
form did not affect our existence as an operating business entity. Our principal business address
is 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606. If we have an agent for service of process
in your state, we disclose that agent in Exhibit E. We do business only under our company name
and the Proprietary Marks (defined below). We have never operated Brand Hotels (defined below),
but some of our affiliates do. We have no predecessors and no business activities that are not
described here. Our parent company is Hyatt Hotels Corporation, whose principal business
address is the same as our address.

We have offered franchises for Brand Hotels since June 2016. We offered franchises for
full service hotels under the Hyatt® name (without a sub-brand) from December 1994 until
April 1997 and again from September 2006 until January 2015. We previously offered (but no
longer intend to offer) franchises for full service hotels under the Thompson® name from
December 2018 to August 2021. There currently are 8 full service hotels which operate under the
Hyatt name (without a sub-brand), 6 of which are franchised. We also have offered franchises for
full service hotels operating under the Hyatt Centric® brand since February 2015. We offered
franchises for full service hotels under the Hyatt Regency® name from December 1994 until
April 1997 and have again offered those franchises since September 2006. We began offering
franchises for “lifestyle” hotels operating in the United States under the brand names
“Destination®” and “joie de vivre®” (also referred to as “JdV®”) in May 2019 and under the
brand name “Caption by Hyatt®” in September 2019. We now refer to these brands as
“Destination by Hyatt®,” “JdV by Hyatt®” and “Caption by Hyatt®” respectively. We have
offered franchises for upper-midscale, extended stay hotels operating in the United States under
the brand name “Hyatt Studios™” since May 2023. We have never offered franchises in any other
line of business.

Franchise Rights for Brand Hotels

We grant franchises for, and some of our affiliates operate, Brand Hotels. A “Brand Hotel”
is a hotel that (a) offers multiple rooms for overnight accommodation by transient guests from a
single building or a series of inter-connected buildings on one property; (b) operates under a
separate tradename that the hotel’s owner owns but also affiliates all of the rooms at that building
or series of buildings with “The Unbound Collection by Hyatt®” brand and other Proprietary
Marks; and (c) operates under the Hotel System (defined below). A Brand Hotel does not include
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any hospitality affiliations which are affiliated with “The Unbound Collection by Hyatt®” brand
where providing lodging to transient guests is not their primary function, such as safaris and theme
parks, even if there is a hotel offering rooms for overnight accommodation by transient guests
which is associated with that hospitality affiliation. We expect Brand Hotels to be unique
properties that reflect the nature of their local market. We call the Brand Hotel that you will
operate under the Franchise Agreement your “Hotel” and the tradename that you own under which
the Hotel will operate the “Tradename.” You will operate the Hotel only from the location we
approve before signing the Franchise Agreement.

The “Hotel System” means the concept and system associated with the establishment and
operation of Brand Hotels, as we periodically modify it. The Hotel System now includes: (a) the
trade names, trademarks, and service marks “The Unbound Collection by Hyatt®” and other trade
names, trademarks, service marks, logos, slogans, trade dress, domain names, and other source
and origin designations (including all derivatives) that we or our affiliate periodically develops
and we periodically designate for use with the Hotel System (collectively, the “Proprietary
Marks™); (b) all copyrightable materials that we or our affiliate periodically develops and we
periodically designate for use with the Hotel System, including the contents of our secure extranet,
electronic media, marketing materials (including advertising, marketing, promotional, and public
relations materials and business and marketing plans), the Design and Construction Standards
(defined below), sample architectural plans, drawings, designs, and layouts, such as site, floor,
plumbing, lobby, electrical, and landscape plans and building designs, whether or not registered
with the U.S. Copyright Office (collectively, the “Copyrighted Materials”); (c) all Confidential
Information (defined in Item 14); (d) the standards that we periodically prescribe detailing certain
design criteria to be incorporated into the design and layout of the Hotel, and our minimum
standards for engineering and construction of newly constructed, renovated, or adapted Brand
Hotels, all as we determine them (the “Design and Construction Standards”), as set forth in Exhibit
D; (e) the central reservations system and related services for Brand Hotels, as we may periodically
modify it (“CRS”); (f) the global distribution systems (“GDS”) and the online travel agencies and
other alternative distribution systems (“*ADS”) that we periodically authorize or require for the
Hotel and other similarly situated Brand Hotels, subject to Reasonable Deviations (defined in
Item 8); (g) management, personnel, and operational training programs, materials, and procedures;
(h) standards, specifications, procedures, and rules for operations, marketing, construction,
equipment, furnishings, and quality assurance that we implement and may periodically modify for
Brand Hotels (collectively, “System Standards™) we describe in our confidential owner extranet,
as we periodically amend them, or in other written or electronic communications; (i) marketing,
advertising, and promotional programs; and (j) Mandatory Services and Non-Mandatory Services
(each defined in Item 6).

Before signing the Franchise Agreement, and while you apply for franchise rights, you
must submit the Franchise Application (Exhibit B) through our online application portal and pay
the Application Fee (defined in Item 5). We will refund the Application Fee less a fee to cover
our costs if you withdraw your franchise application before we approve it or if we do not approve
it. During your evaluation process, and before receiving any Confidential Information, you must
sign the Confidentiality Agreement (Exhibit G) (the “Confidentiality Agreement”). Because we
may engage in negotiations with you and other franchisees, you may sign a Franchise Agreement
with us that differs significantly from the agreements that other franchisees sign for Brand Hotels.
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Competition and the Market

The hotel market is well-established and highly competitive. Brand Hotels compete with
other national full service hotel systems and with regional and local hotels that offer comparable
services and lodging products. Brand Hotels will target both corporate business travelers and
leisure travelers. Some competitors of Brand Hotels may be larger, may operate more hotels and
may have greater resources than we do. Other competitive factors include room rates, quality of
accommodations, name recognition, service levels, geographic area, site location, general
economic conditions and your management capabilities.

Our Affiliates Who Supply the Franchise Network or Offer Franchises

The following companies are our affiliates who currently provide products or services to
Brand Hotel franchisees.

. Hyatt Corporation administers the “World of Hyatt” program, under which
members earn points for eligible amounts guests spend at Hyatt Network Hotels
and resorts worldwide. “Hyatt Network Hotels” are Brand Hotels and other hotels,
resorts, lodging facilities and other accommodations and hospitality affiliations that
we, our affiliates, or our or their franchisees or licensees periodically own and/or
operate under the name “Hyatt” or another brand that any of our affiliates own,
regardless of whether those brands utilize the “Hyatt” mark in their names. Other
companies that provide hospitality or hospitality-related services to members,
including other hotel operators, airlines and car rental companies, as well as
branded hotel chains that Hyatt Corporation’s affiliates own, manage or license,
also participate in the World of Hyatt program. Hyatt Corporation also will provide
most of the Mandatory Services and Non-Mandatory Services to Brand Hotel
franchisees. Hyatt Corporation (directly or through affiliates) has owned, operated,
provided services to, and/or managed hotels since 1957 and currently owns,
operates, provides services to, and manages (directly or through affiliates) hotels
and lodging facilities under more than 25 lodging brands. Hyatt Corporation has
never offered franchises in any line of business.

. Rosemont Project Management, L.L.C. (“Rosemont”) is a purchasing company that
provides optional project management services and purchasing services for certain
furniture, fixtures and equipment that Brand Hotels use. Rosemont has never
operated hotels or offered franchises in any line of business.

Hyatt Corporation’s and Rosemont’s principal business addresses are the same as our address. We
call Hyatt Corporation, Rosemont, us, and any of our other affiliates who also are subsidiaries of
Hyatt Hotels Corporation that currently, or may in the future, provide goods or services to you
during the Franchise Agreement’s term, the “Hyatt Group.”

The following companies are our affiliates who currently offer franchises or licenses in the
United States and around the world. The branded hotels that some of these affiliates operate or
franchise might use the same reservations systems and other systems and processes as Brand
Hotels.

The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® 2024-2025 FDD
ACTIVE\1609053275.2



. Hyatt Franchising Canada Corp. (“Hyatt Franchising Canada”) has offered
franchises for full service hotels operating in Canada since November 2007. Hyatt
Franchising Canada has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other
line of business. Hyatt Franchising Canada’s principal business address is the same
as our address.

. Hyatt International (Europe Africa Middle East) LLC (“Hyatt International
EAME”) has offered franchises for full service hotels, select service hotels and/or
extended stay hotels operating in the European Union since June 2014. Hyatt
International EAME has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other
line of business but provides services to certain hotels in the European Union. Hyatt
International EAME’s principal business address is The Circle 09, 8058 Zurich-
Airport, Switzerland.

. Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. (“Hyatt Place”) has offered franchises for select
service hotels operating in the United States under the Hyatt Place® name since
September 2005. Hyatt Place has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any
other line of business. Hyatt Place’s principal business address is the same as our
address.

. Hyatt Place Canada Corporation (“Hyatt Place Canada”) has offered franchises for
select service hotels operating in Canada under the Hyatt Place® name since
August 2006. Hyatt Place Canada has never operated hotels or offered franchises
in any other line of business. Hyatt Place Canada’s principal business address is
the same as our address.

. Hyatt House Franchising, L.L.C. (formerly known as Summerfield Hotel
Company, L.L.C. and before that as Summerfield Hotel Company L.P.) (“Hyatt
House™) has offered franchises for extended stay hotels operating in the United
States since August 1999. Hyatt House has never operated hotels or offered
franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt House’s principal business address
is the same as our address.

. Hyatt House Canada, Inc. (formerly known as Hyatt Summerfield Suites Canada,
Inc.) (“Hyatt House Canada”) has offered franchises for extended stay hotels
operating in Canada since September 2007. Hyatt House Canada has never
operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt House
Canada’s principal business address is the same as our address.

o Hyatt Franchising Latin America, L.L.C. (“Hyatt Franchising Latin America”) has
offered franchises for select service hotels, extended stay hotels, full service hotels
and/or all-inclusive resorts operating in the Caribbean, Mexico, Central America,
and South America since February 2013. Hyatt Franchising Latin America has
never operated hotels or all-inclusive resorts or offered franchises in any other line
of business. Hyatt Franchising Latin America’s principal business address is the
same as our address.
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. Hyatt International — Asia Pacific, Limited (“Hyatt International Asia Pacific”) has
offered franchises for full service hotels and select service hotels in Asia since July
2016. Hyatt International Asia Pacific has never operated hotels or offered
franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt International Asia Pacific’s principal
business address is Suite 1302-07, 13/F, The Gateway, Tower 1, 25 Canton Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Industry-Specific Regulations

You must comply with a number of federal, state and local laws that apply generally to
establishing and operating hotel businesses. The laws involve, among other things, zoning and
construction, public accommodations, accessibility by persons with disabilities, health and safety,
and labor. Many laws vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. You must learn about and comply
with all applicable laws. Examples of these laws include:

Health & Sanitation. Most states have regulations or statutes governing the lodging
business and related services, including food handling and preparation. Many state and local
authorities require lodging businesses to obtain licenses to assure compliance with health and
sanitation codes. Health-related laws may affect the use of linens, towels and glassware, among
other things.

Alcoholic Beverages. Alcoholic beverage service in a Brand Hotel is subject to extensive
regulations and licensing governing virtually all aspects of the beverage service.

Facility Operations. Lodging facilities must comply with innkeepers’ laws that, among
other things, might (i) allow innkeepers under certain circumstances to impose liens against the
possessions of guests who do not pay their bills; (ii) limit the liability of innkeepers regarding
guests’ valuables; (iii) require posting of house rules and room rates in each room or near the
registration area; (iv) require registration of guests and proof of identity at check-in, and retention
of records for a specified period of time; (v) limit the rights of innkeepers to refuse lodging to
certain guests; and (vi) limit innkeepers’ rights to evict guests under certain circumstances.
Applicable federal and state civil rights laws prohibit discrimination in hotels on the basis of race,
creed, color or national origin. Some states prohibit “overbooking” and require innkeepers to find
other accommodations if the guest has paid a deposit. Some states and municipalities also have
enacted laws and regulations governing non-smoking areas and guest rooms. In addition, the
general business laws, rules and regulations which apply to hotels in your jurisdiction will affect
you. This includes any government orders related to emergent conditions, such as natural disasters
and public health emergencies.

Persons with Disabilities. The accessibility laws, which include the Americans with
Disabilities Act (“ADA”) and all other laws, rules, regulations and ordinances governing
accommodations for or relationships with persons with disabilities or similar individuals, as
periodically in effect, require (among other things) that public accommodations, including hotels,
(i) offer facilities without discriminating against persons with disabilities; (ii) offer auxiliary aids
and services to enable a person with a disability to use and enjoy the establishment’s goods or
services if doing so is not unduly burdensome or disruptive to business; and (iii) remove barriers
to mobility or communication to the extent readily achievable. The U.S. Department of Justice
has published “accessibility guidelines” (“ADAAG”) that specify, among other things, a minimum
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number of handicapped-accessible rooms, assistance devices for hearing, speech, and visually
impaired persons, and general design and construction standards that apply to all areas of facilities.
Under the ADA, all new public accommodations and commercial facilities must be “readily
accessible to and useable by individuals with disabilities,” unless it would be structurally
impractical to do so. Alterations of existing facilities also might need to comply with the ADA
and ADAAG. In addition, many states and municipalities have their own laws and regulations
addressing disability discrimination, access requirements, building modifications and alterations
and building code requirements.

Fire Safety. The Hotel and Motel Safety Act of 1990 (the “Safety Act”) encourages public
accommodations to install hard wired single-station smoke detectors. Certain travel directories
include only those facilities that comply with the Safety Act. Other state and local fire and life
safety codes might require maps, lighting systems and other safety measures unique to lodging
facilities.

OSHA Regulations. Like many other businesses, lodging facilities are subject to
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) standards. State occupational safety
laws and rules may also apply.

Telephone Charges. Federal, state and local laws and regulations affect the re-offering of
local, intrastate, and long distance telephone service in hotel guest rooms and at coin box
telephones. Some states regulate or prohibit surcharges on local and intrastate calls.

Hotel Room Occupancy Tax Laws. You may be required to pay local or state room
occupancy taxes in your jurisdiction.

Menu and Labeling Laws. Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern menu
labeling. These laws and regulations may, among other things, require you to post caloric
information on menus and provide additional written nutrition information to consumers upon
request.

In addition to these laws, you must also comply with laws that apply generally to all
businesses. You should investigate these laws.

ltem 2

BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Executive Vice President — Chief Growth Officer: Jim Chu

Mr. Chu has been our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Executive Vice President — Chief
Growth Officer since June 2022. From March 2021 until May 2022, he was our and Hyatt Hotels
Corporation’s Executive Vice President — Global Franchising and Development. From March
2018 until February 2021, he was our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Global Head of
Development and Owner Relations. Each of Mr. Chu’s positions with us and our affiliates has
been in Chicago, Illinois.
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Head of Americas Development — Daniel Hansen

Mr. Hansen has been our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Head of Americas Development
since April 2024. He has also been our Global Head, Hyatt Studios since May 2023. From January
2022 until May 2023, he was the owner and President of Parabellum Advisory, LLC in Austin,
Texas, a company providing consulting services for hotel owners. He served as the President and
CEO of Summit Hotel Properties in Austin Texas from February 2011 until January 2021. He
held the additional roles of its Chairman of the Board from January 2017 until January 2021 and
its Executive Chairman from January 2021 until January 2022.

Executive Vice President, Group President — Americas: Peter Sears

Mr. Sears has been our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Executive Vice President, Group
President — Americas in Chicago, Illinois since September 2014.

Global Head of Franchise & Owner Relations: Paul Daly

Mr. Daly has been our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Global Head of Franchise & Owner
Relations since January 2024. From March 2021 until December 2023, he was our and Hyatt
Hotels Corporation’s Senior Vice President, Franchise Operations & Owner Relations. Before
that, he was the Senior Vice President, Global Select and Franchise Operations & Owner Relations
for Hyatt Place and Hyatt House from August 2019 until March 2021. From August 2018 until
August 2019, he was Global Head of Guest Satisfaction Innovation for Hyatt Hotels Corporation
in Chicago, Illinois.

Iltem 3

LITIGATION

No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.

Item 4

BANKRUPTCY

No bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ltem 5

INITIAL FEES

Application Fee

You will pay us a lump-sum application fee (the “Application Fee”) when you submit the
Franchise Application through our online application portal. The Application Fee is $100,000 or
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$400 per guest room in the Hotel, whichever is greater. If you withdraw your Franchise
Application before we approve it, or if we do not approve your Franchise Application for any
reason, then we will refund your Application Fee less a $7,500 fee to cover our costs for evaluating
your application. After we approve your Franchise Application, the Application Fee is not
refundable, even if we and you do not sign a Franchise Agreement. If you and we agree to add
any guest rooms to the Hotel before the Hotel opens, then you must pay us, when we approve the
additional guest rooms, an additional non-refundable Application Fee of $400 multiplied by the
number of additional guest rooms at the Hotel.

Comfort Letter Fee

You must obtain a comfort letter or similar agreement, the current form of which is attached
as Exhibit K, that we reasonably specify from each lender, each ground lessor (if applicable), the
owner of fee simple title to the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements (if you are not
that owner), and each other entity with an interest (or any power or right, conditional or otherwise,
to acquire an interest) in the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements (each a “Comfort
Letter Party”). Under this comfort letter or similar agreement, the Comfort Letter Party agrees
(among other things) to assume your obligations under the Franchise Agreement (subject to our
rights under the Franchise Agreement) if the Comfort Letter Party or any of its affiliates acquires
title or otherwise assumes possession, or the right to sell or direct the disposition of, the Hotel’s
real property or building and improvements. You must pay our then applicable, non-refundable
comfort letter fee, which currently is $2,500, for each comfort letter that we negotiate relating to
the Hotel.

Consulting Services

At your option, you may ask Rosemont, our affiliate, to assist you with pre-opening
consulting services for the Hotel. Rosemont’s fees for this optional assistance would range from
$0 to $250,000, depending on how much and what kind of assistance you ask Rosemont to provide.

IT Project Management Services and Implementation and Training for Hyatt Proprietary
Systems

We will provide the IT project management services, which are described in Exhibit E of
the Franchise Agreement, relating to the opening of the Hotel (the “IT Project Management
Services”). Our performance is dependent on your timely, accurate, and effective performance of
all responsibilities listed in Exhibit E to the Franchise Agreement. These services include blueprint
review and IT project management and planning and installation, configuration and training
services for Hyatt proprietary systems. You must pay us a non-refundable fee of $69,900 for a
Hotel with up to 250 guest rooms and you must reimburse us or our affiliate for our or its
reasonable expenses in rendering the IT Project Management Services, including any necessary
transportation, lodging and meals (which we anticipate will range from $10,500 to $17,000), plus
applicable taxes. If your Hotel is larger than 250 guest rooms, we may require a larger IT Project
Management Services Fee, which we and you would agree on before signing the Franchise
Agreement. We will invoice the IT Project Management Services Fee (including expenses) on or
after we complete an IT Project Management Service or upon your termination of the Hotel
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development project or the IT Project Management Services, for any reason, in either event
regardless of whether we have approved the Hotel for opening.

Additional Pre-Opening Advisory Services

You may request additional guidance, services or assistance during the pre-opening period
concerning the development, construction, or inspection and approval process that is beyond what
we typically provide to similarly situated Brand Hotels. If we agree to provide this additional
guidance and advice (for example, making more than a reasonable number of visits to the Hotel
during the development and construction period), then you must pay our then current fees for our
services. The costs of these fees will vary depending on the additional guidance or service you
request, but we estimate that you may pay between $0 and $300,000 for additional services or
guidance before the Hotels opens.

Pre-Opening Training Fees and Expenses

In connection with the Hotel opening, we will provide owner/operator orientation and
training to the Hotel management and staff on elements of the Hotel System. We may conduct
training via remote learning, or in person (in one or more visits to the Hotel), or both, as we
determine in our sole discretion. These fees and expenses will vary depending on how many
people attend each particular training program, how much training they need, and where we
conduct training. We currently estimate that the fees you pay to us and our affiliates for orientation
and various initial training programs will range from $13,250 to $24,675. You must pay these
amounts upon receiving our invoice and before the pre-opening team arrives at the Hotel. You
must also reimburse us and our affiliates for our and their personnel’s travel and living expenses
associated with any training programs that we provide on site at the Hotel. We currently estimate
that reimbursement of our and our affiliates” expenses associated with these training programs, not
including the tuition fees described above, will range from $3,350 to $8,000.

Extension Fee

If you are constructing a new Hotel, you must start and complete construction and open the
Hotel, according to the timetables in the Franchise Agreement. If you are converting an existing
hotel to a Brand Hotel, you must start renovation and open the Hotel under the Hotel System
according to the timetables in the Franchise Agreement. We may terminate the Franchise
Agreement if you fail to meet the required timetable. You may request one or more extensions of
time by giving us, at least 3 months before the opening deadline, a written extension request and a
$10,000 “Extension Fee.” We will inform you of the length of the extension if and when we grant
it. We will refund the Extension Fee only if we deny the extension. We may waive this fee under
some circumstances.

Design Services Review

If you are constructing a new Brand Hotel, adapting a non-hotel space for use as a Brand
Hotel, or conducting a significant renovation of an existing hotel relating to conversion to a Brand
Hotel, you will also pay us a Design Services Review Fee. The amount of the fee will vary
depending on the size and location of the project and the scope of our review, but we expect the
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Design Services Review Fees payable under the Franchise Agreement to range from $75,000 to
$160,000.

Revenue Management Services

You may elect to begin receiving certain revenue management services for your Hotel
before the Hotel begins operating under the Proprietary Marks under our Service Agreement for
Revenue Management Services (Exhibit M). Depending on some factors concerning your (or your
approved management company’s) experience, we may in some situations require you to sign our
Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services and receive revenue services from us. If
you sign the Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services, then we will provide
specialized central revenue management services on a daily, weekly, monthly, and annual basis to
assist you in a variety of essential Hotel functions, including resource planning, inventory controls,
market segmentation, and industry and competitor analyses for the Hotel (as more specifically
described in Exhibit M). The current, non-refundable monthly subscription fee due under the
Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services is dependent upon the service tier level
then in effect: for the “Tactical” Tier Level: $1,000 per month; for the “Essential” Tier Level:
$1,000 per month for calendar months preceding the Opening Month (if applicable) and $2,000
per month from and after the Opening Month; and for the “Premium” Tier Level: $1,750 per month
for calendar months preceding the Opening Month (if applicable) and $3,500 per month from and
after the Opening Month. “Opening Month” means the calendar month in which the Hotel first
opens to the public as a Hyatt branded or affiliated hotel, but if that date occurs after the 16" day
of the month, then the “Opening Month” is the immediately following calendar month. We would
provide services under the Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services for up to 90
days before the anticipated or scheduled opening date of the Hotel for the “Essential” service tier
level or for up to 120 days before the anticipated or scheduled opening date of the Hotel for the
“Premium” service tier level. You must pay these amounts within 30 days after you receive each
invoice for services rendered and expenses incurred during the previous month. The total amount
you may pay us for pre-opening revenue management services ranges from $0 to $7,000. We also
reserve the right to charge you for reimbursement of expenses reasonably incurred by us, including
for transportation and related expenses, printing, photocopying, postage, and delivery services.
We may periodically increase these fees at any time upon 30 days’ written notice to you, but we
may not increase these fees by more than 10% per calendar year. These payments are not
refundable.

Field Marketing Program

Up to 6 months before the opening of your Hotel, you may elect to receive from the Hyatt
Group certain centralized resources to guide and support local integrated marketing for hotels that
leverage the expertise of a designated field marketing team for a fee (which may contain a profit
component, not to exceed a competitive amount), pursuant to a Field Marketing Program Opt-In
Agreement (Exhibit L) (the “Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement”). Inclusions and
deliverables vary by service level, and may include management of local digital marketing,
regional marketing campaigns, website management, social media consultation, local promotion
creation and execution, and brand activations. The current non-refundable monthly subscription
fee due under the Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement is dependent on the service tier
level then in effect: for Tier 1: $967 per month; for Tier 2: $1,813 per month; and for Tier 3:
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$2,667 per month. The total amount you may pay us for pre-opening field marketing services
ranges from $0 to $16,002.

Refundability and Range of Initial Fees

Except as we describe above concerning the Application Fee and Extension Fee, none of
these payments are refundable under any circumstances. In addition, other than the Application
Fee, Extension Fee and Comfort Letter Fee, all of the ranges of initial fees described in this Item 5
reflect the current fees for services rendered and depending on when the Hotel is developed or
remodeled, may be higher in subsequent years. During our 2023 fiscal year, Brand Hotel
franchisees signing our Franchise Agreement paid, or made commitments to pay, total initial fees
as described in this Item 5 to us and/or our affiliates ranging from $115,900 to $208,575.

Item 6
OTHER FEES

We group the ongoing fees that you will pay to us and other companies in the Hyatt Group
when operating the Hotel into 3 categories. The first category includes the fees that the Franchise
Agreement specifies. Except as described below, these fees are typically imposed and collected
by and payable to us. The second category includes the fees for those System Services that we
typically classify as Mandatory Services for Brand Hotels. The third category includes the fees
for those System Services that we typically classify as Non-Mandatory Services for Brand Hotels.
Depending on the particular circumstances of the Hotel, including its size, location and market
positioning, we may reclassify some of the Mandatory Services listed below as Non-Mandatory
Services and/or may reclassify some of the Non-Mandatory Services listed below as Mandatory
Services for the Hotel. The fees in the second and third group are typically imposed and collected
by and payable to Hyatt Corporation. At times we may collect amounts on behalf of our affiliates
for services that they provide to franchisees. This Item does not cover the ongoing fees or
payments relating to the Hotel’s operation that you pay directly to third parties.

Except for the Application Fee, all fees are non-refundable. In some cases we might
negotiate some of the fees that some franchisees will pay, such as franchisees agreeing to develop
multiple Brand Hotels or acquiring existing Brand Hotels. Otherwise, except as described below,
all fees are uniform or are calculated on a uniform basis. There currently are no franchisee
advertising cooperatives in the Brand Hotel network.

Fees Under the Franchise Agreement

You will pay these fees to us under the Franchise Agreement.
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OTHER FEES

Revenue generated
from Channel
Bookings®

month or later day
we periodically
specify (“Payment
Day”) based on
Gross Rooms
Revenue during
previous month

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
Royalty Fee 7% of Gross Rooms 10" day of each See Notes 1 and 2

Cooperative

Amount Cooperative

As Cooperative

Payable only if you decide to

The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® 2024-2025 FDD
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advertising determines determines participate in a Cooperative in
contributions your area
World of Hyatt Currently 4.5% of Monthly See Note 3
program eligible revenue or
assessment 2.25% of eligible
revenue when a guest
is enrolled on-
property in World of
Hyatt for that
enrolling stay, but
could increase if
costs increase (See
Note 3)
Comfort letter fee | Currently $2,500, but | As incurred Due for each comfort letter you
could increase if must obtain
Costs increase
Quality Will vary under As incurred In addition to the FIP and BPP
assurance, circumstances, based fees, you must reimburse us for
compliance and on the Focused all costs, actions and additional
guest satisfaction | Improvement Policy training for your personnel. You
programs ¥ (“FIP”) fees, which must also participate in
currently range from compliance (including for data
$5,000 to $20,000 security), best rate guarantee and
per each stage of FIP, guest satisfaction programs,
plus personnel’s and/or requirements to effect
related expenses, and credits or discounts to guests, as
the Brand Protection we determine according to
Program (“BPP™) System Standards (See Note 4)
fees, which are
currently $45,000 per
year. See Note 4
12




Column 1

Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
On-site quality Currently $500 to As incurred You must also pay for any re-
assurance $1,700 per annual inspection needed due to a failed
inspections inspection, but could inspection (currently, also $500
increase if our costs to $1,700 per inspection) and
increase reverse the folio charge for the
inspection company (See Note 4)
Additional $875 per trainer per As incurred Due if you request, or we require,
training and day plus our supplemental or optional training
assistance expenses, but could programs, including replacement
increase if our costs training for new Core
increase Management personnel hired
after the Hotel opens. You also
pay for the incurred travel,
lodging, and other expenses for
your attendees
Training tools Currently $9.01 per Annually Covers the cost of developing
and materials guest room per year, certain training tools and
but could increase if materials relating to Hyatt
our costs increase standards and policies.
Fees for owner Currently $2,000 to As incurred We and our affiliates hold owner

our costs increase

summit)

convention $5,000 per attendee, (typically before conventions when we or they
but could increase if the convention) determine, typically annually or
our costs increase biennially. In addition to the fee
for attendance, you must also pay
for the incurred travel, lodging,
and other expenses for your
attendees
Fees for Currently $3,000 to As incurred We and our affiliates periodically
leadership $6,000 per attendee, (typically before hold leadership summits that we
summit but could increase if the leadership recommend or may require your

Hotel’s general manager and/or
above-property leaders to attend.
Currently, a leadership summit
occurs approximately once every
4 years. In addition to the fee for
attendance, you must pay the
travel, lodging, and other
expenses for your attendees.

Application Fee
for new guest
rooms (added
after Hotel opens)

Greater of the then
current PIP fee
(currently $10,000)
or $400 times
number of new guest
rooms

PIP fee (currently
$10,000) due
when you request
approval,
remainder due
when we approve
plans

Due only if you propose adding
new guest rooms to the Hotel
during Franchise Agreement’s
term
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Column 1

the then-current
amount of
Application Fee

Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
Transfer fee No fee for transfers, Together with Applies to control transfers. We
but you or the transfer will refund the Application Fee
transferee must pay application paid (less $7,500) if we

disapprove transfer

Fee for review of
offering materials

$5,000

When submitting
materials for our
review

Due only if you or your owners
propose offering of ownership
interests in you or an owner
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Property Then current PIP fee | With successor
Improvement — currently $10,000, franchise
Plan (“PIP”) fee but could increase application
for successor
franchise
Royalty fee upon | $5,000 per day plus As incurred Due only if, and while, you fail to
termination our costs and properly de-identify the Hotel
expenses after expiration or termination
Liquidated See Note 5 15 days after Due if Franchise Agreement
damages upon termination terminates before its term expires
termination ©
Audit expenses Cost of audit As incurred Due only if our audit reveals an
understatement of 3% or more or
if you fail to report on time or
willfully underpay amounts
Late fee and $225 late fee plus As incurred Late fee is due on all overdue
interest lesser of 1%2% per amounts. Interest is due on all
month or the highest amounts more than 7 days late or
rate law allows not available for withdrawal by
due date
Costs and Will vary under As incurred Due if we prevail in dispute
attorneys’ fees circumstances
Indemnification Will vary under As incurred You must reimburse us and
circumstances related parties for all claims and
related costs arising from your
application, the Hotel’s
development or operation
(including failure to open on
time), your breach, and your
Hotel’s proportionate share of our
expenses in defending or
controlling the defense of actions
that involve both the Hotel and
any other Hyatt Network Hotel
14




Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
Testing of new Our costs, currently As incurred Due only if you request our
product/supplier $5,000 for testing of approval of supplier or item
new
products/suppliers
Insurance Premiums and our As incurred If you fail to obtain and maintain
costs plus fee insurance, we may (if we choose)
(currently $200 per obtain it on your behalf and
guest room per year) charge you our premiums and
costs, plus a fee

System Services, System Services Costs, and System Services Charges

If you are in full compliance with your obligations under the Franchise Agreement, one or
more members of the Hyatt Group will provide you those System Services we periodically specify.
You must participate in all Mandatory Services and related programs, and may (at your option)
participate in any or all Non-Mandatory Services and related programs, in the manner that we
periodically specify. “System Services” means those services that the Hyatt Group generally and
periodically makes available on a central, regional, or other shared or group basis (whether in
whole or in part) to those Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that the Hyatt Group
reasonably determines will be provided those services. We categorize System Services as either
Mandatory Services or Non-Mandatory Services. “Mandatory Services” means those mandatory
System Services that one or more members of the Hyatt Group provides to the Hotel and certain
other Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels, and that the Hyatt Group reasonably
determines must be acquired only from the Hyatt Group. “Non-Mandatory Services” means those
non-mandatory System Services that one or more members of the Hyatt Group provides to the
Hotel and certain other Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that the Hyatt Group
reasonably determines will be offered to the Hotel and certain other Brand Hotels and other Hyatt
Network Hotels on an optional basis.

We may periodically add to, delete from, and otherwise modify System Services, the scope
of and manner of providing System Services, upon written notice to you. “System Services Costs”
means, for the System Services in which the Hotel participates (or is required to participate), all
costs that the Hyatt Group actually incurs or properly accrues during the period of determination
in providing those System Services, including out-of-pocket expenses, costs for employees,
occupancy costs, capital costs, administrative expenses, carrying costs and other costs. Any
allocation of shared costs that the Hyatt Group makes in good faith and with the intention of fairly
allocating those costs to System Services is binding on us and you. The Hyatt Group may vary
these allocations depending on, among other things, the specific brand, size or market positioning
of the Hotel. System Services Costs include the actual costs that the Hyatt Group incurs and are
not subject to any mark-up, premium or profit on any Mandatory Services, but may include a profit
or mark-up component on Non-Mandatory Services.

“System Services Charges” means the amounts that the Hyatt Group charges the Hotel,
and you will pay, for the Hotel’s equitably allocable share of the System Services Costs attributable
to the System Services in which the Hotel participates (or is obligated to participate), as the Hyatt
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Group periodically determines them. The Hyatt Group determines System Services Charges on
the same basis as it determines those amounts for other Brand Hotels and Hyatt Network Hotels
that we periodically and reasonably determine are similarly situated with the Hotel (subject to
Reasonable Deviations (as defined in Item 8) and that participate in those System Services in the
same manner (collectively, “Participating Hotels”). The Hyatt Group may in its reasonable
discretion periodically change its method of allocation of the System Services Costs among
Participating Hotels, and the categories of Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels that
are classified as Participating Hotels, but will at all times determine the method of allocation and
categories of Participating Hotels on a reasonable, equitable and non-discriminatory basis.

Current System Services Charges for Mandatory Services

The following reflects the current System Services Charges for the current Mandatory
Services. These amounts are estimates, and may change over time and/or as our and the Hyatt
Group’s costs of providing Mandatory Services changes.

OTHER FEES
Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
Commercial 3.5% of Gross Rooms Payment Day, See Note 6
Services Fee © Revenue based on Gross

Rooms Revenue
during previous

month
Digital Acquisition Currently 1.35% of Gross | Payment Day See Note 7
Fee ™ Rooms Revenue through
the Digital Channels, but
could increase if costs or
scope of services increase
Global distribution Currently averages about Payment Day At our option, you must
services and other $8.50 per reservation, but subscribe to certain GDS
reservation services could increase if costs and/or ADS through us.
@® increase See Note 8
Costs for mandatory | Your allocable share of Payment Day Covers contracts with
contracts © Hyatt Group’s costs, vendors or service
currently $1,500 to providers (like certain
$25,000 per month but credit card acceptance
could increase if costs agreements, music license
increase agreements and

telecommunications
agreements) that cover the
Hotel and all or certain
subsets of Brand Hotels
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Column 1

Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
Other corporate Your share of Hyatt Payment Day See Note 10

services (19 Group’s costs, currently
$500 to $15,000 per
month, but could increase

if costs increase

Current System Services Charges for Non-Mandatory Services

The following reflects the current System Services Charges for the current Non-Mandatory
Services. Currently you may choose to use, or not use, any of these Non-Mandatory Services at
your Hotel.

OTHER FEES
Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
Field Marketing Currently $967 to As incurred See Note 11
Program @9 $2,667 per month,
depending on the
services provided, but
could increase if costs
increase
Subscription fee Tactical Tier: Currently | Within 30 days
and expenses for | $1,000/month after receiving
Revenue invoice
Management Essential Tier:
Services Currently $1,000/month
before Opening Month
and $2,000/month from
and after Opening
Month
Premium Tier:
Currently $1,750/month
before Opening Month
and $3,500/month after
Opening Month
Purchasing Will vary depending on | As incurred You might choose to buy items
services items purchased through our affiliate
Optional Actual costs, which will | As incurred The Hyatt Group corporate office
corporate vary depending on may provide temporary
services assistance needed employees for your Hotel at your
request
17
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Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4

Type of Fee Amount Due Date Remarks
Other related Will vary depending on | As incurred Your Hotel will routinely engage
party transactions | assistance provided and in transactions with Brand Hotels
other circumstances and other Hyatt Network Hotels,

some of which our affiliate may
own or operate. For example,
your Hotel may pay for using
another hotel’s staff (during high
demand periods) or for another
hotel redeeming quality assurance
certificates that your Hotel
previously issued to resolve a
guest service problem at the Hotel

Optional Will vary depending on | As incurred Covers some point-of-sale,
technology service(s) you acquire accounting, procurement, guest
services service and other IT-related
services that you may choose to
acquire
Regional sales Currently none. If As incurred In the future, the Hyatt Group
commission implemented, will vary may offer sales services to Brand
under the program Hotels and other Hyatt Network
terms Hotels on a local or regional

basis. If the Hyatt Group offers
these sales services, it may charge
a fee to Brand Hotels and other
Hyatt Network Hotels that
participate in or accept
reservations from the program.
The Hyatt Group may charge the
fee on a commission, flat fee, or
shared basis.

In addition to any sales, use and other taxes that applicable law requires or permits us to
collect from you for providing goods or services under the Franchise Agreement, you must pay us
all federal, state, local or foreign (a) sales, use, excise, privilege, occupation or any other
transactional taxes, and (b) other taxes or similar exactions, no matter how designated, that are
imposed on us or that we are required to withhold relating to the receipt or accrual of amounts you
pay us under the Franchise Agreement, excluding only taxes imposed on us for the privilege of
conducting business and calculated based on our net income, capital, net worth, gross receipts, or
some other basis or combination of those factors, but not excluding any gross receipts taxes
imposed on us or our affiliates for your payments intended to reimburse us or our affiliates for
expenditures incurred for your benefit and on your behalf. You must make these additional
required payments in an amount necessary to provide us with after-tax receipts (taking into account
any additional required payments) equal to the same amounts that we would have received if the
additional tax liability or withholding had not been imposed or required.
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Explanatory Notes to All Charts

1. Gross Rooms Revenue and Channel Bookings. “Gross Rooms Revenue” means
“Total Rooms Revenue” or its equivalent, as determined in accordance with the Uniform System
of Accounts for the Lodging Industry, Eleventh Edition, as published by the Educational Institute
of the American Hotel and Motel Association, 2014, or a later edition that we approve, plus any
revenue from resort fees, destination fees, or similar mandatory charges. If you receive any
proceeds from any business interruption insurance applicable to the rental of rooms at the Hotel,
then there will be added to Gross Rooms Revenue an amount equal to the imputed gross revenues
that the insurer used to calculate those proceeds. Inclusion of resort fees, destination fees, or
similar fees in “Gross Rooms Revenue” does not constitute our approval of or authorization to
charge those fees.

The Royalty Fee is payable only on the subset of Gross Rooms Revenue that is generated
from Channel Bookings. “Channel Bookings” means all bookings at the Hotel except for those
made through third party travel agencies (as we determine them) such as booking.com, expedia,
and similar companies. “Channel Bookings” also includes travel agency bookings if they are made
under an incentive program administered by the Hyatt Group, such as the Hyatt Group’s “Privé”
incentive program.

2. Electronic Payments. You must make all payments for Royalty Fees, System
Services Charges and other amounts due to us or any member of the Hyatt Group under the
Franchise Agreement or relating to the Hotel by electronic funds transfer (“EFT”) in compliance
with System Standards. We periodically may change the procedure for payments. You must make
funds available in your account to cover payments when due. You may not change your bank,
financial institution, or account used in the operation of the Hotel without first telling us.

3. World of Hyatt Program. Brand Hotels must participate in, and pay all charges
related to, the Hyatt Group’s frequent guest loyalty program (the “Loyalty Program”), called the
“World of Hyatt” program. The Hyatt Group assesses each Participating Hotel and certain other
hotels an amount in the Hyatt Group’s discretion to operate the Loyalty Program, which amount
may change periodically. The assessment for each participating Brand Hotel (including the Hotel)
is currently 4.5% of all eligible revenue generated at that hotel from members of the program
(excluding applicable taxes) who provide their World of Hyatt member number when booking or
2.25% of that eligible revenue when a guest is enrolled on-property in World of Hyatt for that
enrolling stay.

Under separate contractual arrangements, the following companies will participate in
alliances with the World of Hyatt program in 2024: (i) the master licensee for Hyatt Residence
Club and Hyatt Vacation Club, our shared ownership brands; (ii) HyCard, Inc., our affiliate (in
relation with JPMorgan Chase Bank, the issuing company of the World of Hyatt credit cards); (iii)
American Airlines; and (iv) Headspace, Inc. The Hyatt Group may allocate assessments for these
programs at different rates than those applied to Brand Hotels, given the difference in the products
and services being offered to Loyalty Program members. Owners of Participating Hotels bear no
cost from including these programs in the Loyalty Program. The Hyatt Group also may agree to
other similar joint marketing or co-branding arrangements in the future.
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Currently, the Hyatt Group deposits all funds that it collects for the Loyalty Program
(including sales of points and other related fees) into segregated accounts and invests a portion of
the funds in various investment securities (primarily fixed income) that independent investment
managers manage. These funds are designated to fund the Loyalty Program obligations, including
all marketing and administrative costs, and current and future award redemptions. The Hyatt
Group may  periodically change the method of funding the Loyalty
Program, the assessment methodology and other program attributes. An independent accounting
firm audits the Loyalty Program on an annual basis and we will make copies of the audit reports
available upon request. We may periodically change the assessment methodology and other
program attributes in the future.

The Hyatt Group also has contractual arrangements with participating airlines under which
Participating Hotel guests may choose to receive airline miles, in lieu of Loyalty Program points,
as a result of their stay. The Participating Hotel must pay the actual cost of those miles that the
airline charges to the Hyatt Group. Guests choosing airline miles for a stay at a Participating Hotel
are not entitled to Loyalty Program points for that stay.

4, Quality Assurance. The Hotel must participate in quality assurance, compliance
and guest satisfaction programs that we periodically develop and modify (collectively, the “Quality
Assurance Program”). You must pay your allocable share of all fees and other costs associated
with the Quality Assurance Program. Our representatives may inspect or audit the Hotel at any
time, with or without notice to you, to determine whether you and the Hotel are complying with
the Hotel System, System Standards, and the terms of the Franchise Agreement, and you will give
them free lodging (subject to availability) during the inspection period. If we determine that the
Hotel is not complying with the Hotel System, System Standards, or any other Franchise
Agreement provisions, then you will pay or bear the cost of the Hotel’s allocable share of all fees
and other costs associated with the Quality Assurance Program to correct the non-
compliance. Thisincludes (a) reimbursing our costs related to your non-compliance, such as travel
and living expenses, guest satisfaction payments or expenses, and other costs for administering
any necessary actions, follow-up inspections, audits or re-evaluation visits until you have fully
corrected the non-compliance, (b) paying for meetings and additional brand standards training
programs that we specify and require your personnel to attend relating to your non-compliance,
and (c) paying program fees which we and/or our affiliates may use to promote guest satisfaction
initiatives for Hyatt Network Hotels. These amounts will vary depending on the extent of your
non-compliance and may increase if our costs increase. Currently, we impose the following fees
for each 6-month FIP stage if the Hotel is placed in or remains in FIP protocols as a result of QA
scores below requirements: (i) FIP Stage 1 — $5,000 administrative fee; (ii) Stage 2 — $15,000
administrative fee; and (iii) Stage 3 — $20,000 administrative fee. In addition, if the Hotel does
not achieve passing scores necessary to exit the FIP protocols by the end of Stage 3, the Hotel is
placed in our BPP program, which requires the Hotel to pay an administrative fee of $45,000 per
year. We may, as we deem appropriate, reduce or refund FIP fees based on improved performance
and/or your accelerated compliance with hotel renovation requirements. Under the FIP and BPP
policies currently in place, Brand Hotels are eligible for up to a 100% reduction of the applicable
FIP or BPP fee, based on improvement in performance.

5. Liguidated Damages. The amount of liquidated damages you must pay us if the
Franchise Agreement terminates varies depending on when the Franchise Agreement terminates.
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Upon termination of the Franchise Agreement before the term expires for any reason (subject to
Article X of the Franchise Agreement), you must pay us, within 15 days after the date of such
termination, liquidated damages in a lump sum equal to (a) the lesser of 60 or the number of months
then remaining in the Franchise Agreement term had it not been terminated, multiplied by (b) the
sum of (i) the Average Monthly Revenue times 3.5% for lost future System Services Charges, plus
(if) the Average Monthly Revenue generated from Channel Bookings times 7% for lost future
Royalty Fees. “Average Monthly Revenue” means (i) if, as of the effective date of termination, at
least 60 months have elapsed since the Hotel’s opening date, the average monthly Gross Rooms
Revenue of the Hotel during the 12 full calendar months preceding the month of termination; or
(i) if, as of the effective date of termination, the Hotel’s opening date has not yet occurred, the
average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue per available guest room for all Brand Hotels in the United
States (including those that we and our affiliates own, manage and franchise) during the 12 full
calendar months preceding the month of termination, multiplied by the number of guest rooms
approved for the Hotel; or (iii) if, as of the effective date of termination, the Hotel’s opening date
has occurred but less than 60 months have elapsed since the Hotel’s opening date, either (a) the
amount determined under part (ii) above or (b) the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue of the
Hotel during the period from the Hotel’s opening date until the effective date of termination,
whichever of (a) or (b) is greater.

However, if “Average Monthly Revenues” as determined pursuant to any part of (i)
through (iii) above was materially and negatively impacted during the preceding 12 full calendar
month period by a disruption in Hotel operations resulting from force majeure, casualty,
suspension of operations (whether or not we consented to it), renovation of the Hotel, or any other
similar circumstances, then we will determine “Average Monthly Revenue” by referencing the
most recent 12 full calendar month period before termination during which the Hotel performance
was not impacted.

If we or you terminate the Franchise Agreement because of a Consequential Termination,
then the liquidated damages are 150% of the amount calculated above. A *“Consequential
Termination” occurs if (1) the Franchise Agreement’s termination involves a transfer of the Hotel
or its assets, or a direct or indirect Controlling Ownership Interest in you, to a Competitor (defined
below); or (2) there are 3 or more franchise agreements for Hyatt-Related Full Service Brand
(defined below) hotels with you or your affiliates (including the Franchise Agreement) that we (or
our affiliate) terminate because of your (or your affiliate’s) default or you (or your affiliates)
terminate in breach of the applicable agreement. A “Hyatt-Related Full Service Brand” means any
brand under which or in affiliation with which full service Hyatt Network Hotel operates. A
“Competitor” is any entity that owns, franchises and/or manages, or is an affiliate of any entity
that owns, franchises and/or manages, a full service (i.e., typically offers to hotel guests 3 meals
per day) hotel brand, trade name or service mark for a system of at least 4 hotels with an average
daily room rate for all or substantially all of the hotels in the U.S. during the then most recent full
calendar year that is at least 60% of the average daily room rate for Hyatt Brand Hotels operating
in the U.S.

If a governmental agency or other authority condemns or takes by eminent domain or
expropriation all or a substantial portion of the Hotel, and we and you do not agree to terms for
relocating the Hotel, then either we or you may terminate the Franchise Agreement. If you and
your owners sign our then current form of termination agreement and a general release, in a form
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satisfactory to us (together, a “Termination Agreement”), then you need not pay us liquidated
damages when the Franchise Agreement terminates. The Termination Agreement will provide
that if you or your affiliate begins construction on or operation of a new full service hotel at any
location within the Area of Protection during the 24-month period following the termination, other
than a Hyatt Network Hotel or a hotel that was already under contract to be developed at that
particular location within the Area of Protection on the date that the Termination Agreement is
signed, then you must pay us liquidated damages of $6,500 multiplied by the number of guest
rooms at that new full service hotel. If you and your owners do not sign a Termination Agreement,
then you must pay us liquidated damages when the Franchise Agreement terminates.

If the Hotel is damaged by fire, flood, accident, hurricane or other casualty, you must notify
us immediately. If the cost to repair the damage is less than or equal to the greater of (a) 60% of
the market value of the Hotel immediately prior to the casualty, or (b) the amount of insurance
proceeds made available to you in connection with the casualty (“Damage Threshold”), then you
must repair the damage promptly according to the System Standards and the Franchise
Agreement’s other terms and conditions. If the damage or repair requires you to close all or any
portion of the Hotel, then you must commence reconstruction as soon as practicable (but in any
event within 4 months) after closing the Hotel and reopen for continuous business operations as a
Brand Hotel as soon as practicable (but in any event within 24 months) after closing the Hotel, but
not without complying with the Franchise Agreement’s other terms and conditions. The Franchise
Agreement’s term will be extended for the period of time during which the Hotel is closed, and
you need not make any payments of Royalty Fees or System Services Charges while the Hotel is
closed unless you receive insurance proceeds compensating you for lost Gross Rooms Revenue
during such period, in which case you must pay Royalty Fees and System Services Charges on the
amount of proceeds received allocable to such loss.

If the cost to repair the damage from the casualty exceeds the Damage Threshold, you may
either: (a) repair the damage promptly according to the System Standards and the Franchise
Agreement’s other terms and conditions; or (b) elect to terminate the Franchise Agreement if you
and your owners sign a Termination Agreement and pay a termination fee equal to the lesser of (i)
the liquidated damages and (ii) the insurance proceeds you receive as a result of the casualty minus
amounts required to be paid to your lenders minus unreturned capital investment of your owners
(the “Net Recovery”).

You must provide us any documentation that we may reasonably request to calculate the
Damage Threshold, the insurance proceeds you receive for any casualty, and the Net Recovery
amount (if applicable). Any Termination Agreement that you and we sign will provide that if you,
any of your affiliates, or any other entity (including any buyer of the Hotel) begins construction
on or operation of a full service hotel at the Hotel’s site other than a Brand Hotel or another Hyatt
Network Hotel at any time during the 24-month period following the effective date of termination
of the Franchise Agreement, then you or your owners must pay us liquidated damages equal to the
difference between (i) the amount of liquidated damages that you would have otherwise owed us
under the Franchise Agreement at the time of termination, minus (ii) the amount of liquidated
damages you actually paid us at the time of termination.
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6. Commercial Services Fee. The “Commercial Services Fee” currently covers the
costs for the following commercial services that the Hyatt Group makes available to the Hotel and
other Participating Hotels (the “Commercial Services”):

@ brand-wide marketing, advertising, public relations, and guest satisfaction
program management and research for the Hotel,

(b) Global Property and Guest Services which provide, among other things,
centralized reservation services (including the services and charges for the base reservation
fee which applies regardless of channel, and certain additional reservation fees based on
channels) and care professionals supporting the business by enhancing the guest
experience;

(© revenue management technology, including the Hyatt Group’s proprietary
revenue management software, and advisory and support services, such as pricing strategy
across channels and on-going training, support, and tools for pricing and inventory
applications;

(d) group sales support, including lead generation from Hyatt Group’s global
and regional sales offices, account management, and account development, and transient
and luxury sales promotion services (including Consortia);

(e) sales and catering system services, including account management, booking
pipeline management, and analysis through our designated sales software systems;

()] property management system services, including Opera PMS, web-in/web-
out and hosting, and interface file, maintenance, and support;

(9) the Hyatt Group’s digital product technology and infrastructure including
Hyatt.com and the mobile app; and

(h) other technology services, including e-learning, e-mail, HyattConnect,
SharePoint, identify access management, ServiceNow, in-room technology, and network
access.

The Hyatt Group may periodically change the benefits and services currently included as
Commercial Services and the charges and fees for those benefits and services. The Hyatt Group
may adopt other methodologies for fees and charges related to chain-wide programs to
Participating Hotels, including segregation by brand, geographic location, or other criteria that the
Hyatt Group deems appropriate in its discretion. The Hyatt Group may periodically allocate the
Commercial Services Fee as a fixed charge, percentage charge, direct billback, or any other
combination of multiple allocation methodologies. The Hyatt Group may spend in any year more
or less than the total Commercial Services Fee contributions in that year, but will use all
Commercial Services Fees collected for Commercial Services.

7. Digital Acquisition Fee. We currently charge the Hotel and other Participating
Hotels the “Digital Acquisition Fee” to help drive bookings through the Hyatt Group’s online
direct booking channels (the “Digital Channels”). The Digital Channels currently are the Hotel
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System Website and any Hyatt-branded website or mobile app (such as the World of Hyatt app).
You must pay the Digital Acquisition Fee on the subset of Gross Rooms Revenue resulting from
reservations that are generated through the Digital Channels, whether directly or via a link from
another platform, such as a search engine advertisement, social media page, or any Franchisee
Organization Website. We may, in our sole judgment and subject to change, exclude certain types
of bookings that originate through Digital Channels for purposes of calculating the Digital
Acquisition Fee and certain portions of Gross Rooms Revenue that is generated through the Digital
Channels, such as the Upsell Revenue (defined below). Digital Channels do not include
reservations placed through external sources, such as online travel agencies (e.g., priceline.com
and expedia.com) or through Hyatt-managed channels that are not digital in nature, such as
reservations placed via telephone calls to our global contact center.

8. GDS and Other Reservations Services. In addition to the global contact centers,
the costs of which the Hyatt Group allocates to each Participating Hotel as part of the Commercial
Services Fee, GDSs accept reservations for Participating Hotels and confirm the reservations with
the Hyatt Group through the central reservations center. The Hyatt Group incurs a reservations
fee for each reservation that these supplemental reservations systems accept, which currently
averages approximately $8.50 per reservation, and the Hyatt Group passes on the charge to the
hotel receiving the reservation at cost without imposing a markup or receiving a profit.

The Commercial Services Fee and these other reservation services fees include some of the
current charges from providers of products or services for the Hotel, including the then current
CRS operator (if applicable), the then current GDS and ADS operators (if applicable), and other
suppliers to the Hotel, which may include us and/or our affiliates (collectively, “Providers”), that
we currently collect from franchisees and pay (on their behalf) to the Providers. If any Provider
assesses a single or group fee or other charge that covers all or a group of Brand Hotels or other
Hyatt Network Hotels to which that Provider provides products or services, then our calculation
of that fee or other charge among the Hotel and other Participating Hotels is final. The Providers
may periodically increase the fees and other charges they impose. At our option, you must begin
paying these fees and other charges directly to the applicable Provider(s).

9. Mandatory Contracts. The Hyatt Group periodically enters into relationships with
vendors or providers of services that may require mandatory participation by all or certain subsets
of Participating Hotels, such as certain contracts provided through Avendra, LLC, credit card
acceptance agreements, music license agreements and certain telecommunications agreements.
While the Hyatt Group does not receive any fees, rebates or commissions under these mandatory
contracts, certain of the mandatory contracts may provide for promotional or other allowances that
the Hyatt Group then allocates among Participating Hotels, as the Hyatt Group determines or the
applicable vendor or supplier requires, or that the Hyatt Group uses for activities benefiting all or
substantially all Participating Hotels.

10. Other Corporate Services. The Hyatt Group provides a number of other corporate
services and programs for the benefit of Participating Hotels for which those hotels reimburse the
Hyatt Group on a cost recovery basis, including taxes, if applicable. These services and programs
include group sales promotional programs and events that 2 or more Participating Hotels sponsor,
property evaluations, profit improvement services, quality assurance materials, security services,
certain training programs and other various services. As part of these other corporate services, the
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Hyatt Group currently provides “upsell” services for Brand Hotels and other Participating Hotels,
offering room upgrades to guests having reservations at the Hotel before they arrive. If the guest
purchases the room upgrade, you must pay the Hyatt Group a commission on the additional
revenue. That commission currently is 5% of the difference between the Gross Rooms Revenue
at the upgraded rate and the Gross Rooms Revenue at the rate the guest originally booked,
excluding taxes (the “Upsell Revenue”). The Upsell Revenue currently does not include any
additional revenue resulting from the upgrade, such as early arrival fees and additional revenue
derived from upgrades to the F&B Operations or Spa Operations.

11. Field Marketing Program. The Hyatt Group currently offers to Participating Hotels
centralized resources to guide and support local integrated marketing for hotels that leverage the
expertise of a designated field marketing team for a fee (which may contain a profit component,
not to exceed a competitive amount), pursuant to a Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement.
Inclusions and deliverables vary by service level, and may include management of local digital
marketing, regional marketing campaigns, website management, social media consultation, local
promotion creation and execution, and brand activations.

ltem 7

ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5
Type of expenditure Amount Method When due To whom
of payment is to be
Payment made

Application Fee (1) $100,000 Lump sum Upon signing Us

Franchise

Application
Comfort letter fee(s) | $0 to $5,000 Lump sum When your Us

lender(s) sign a
comfort letter

with us
Market study $25,000 to As agreed As incurred Supplier
$30,000
Design services fee $75,000 to As agreed As incurred Us
$160,000
Extension of opening | $0 to $10,000 | As agreed When you Us
deadline request extension
of Hotel opening
deadline
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Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5
Type of expenditure Amount Method When due To whom
of payment is to be
Payment made
IT Project $80,400 to As agreed Before the Hotel | Us
Management $86,900 opens
Services fee and
expense
reimbursement
Signage $65,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers
$250,000
Telecommunications | $1,465,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers and
systems, security $3,200,000 Hyatt Corporation
system and
Technology system
equipment and fees
)
Architecture and $1,320,000 to As agreed As incurred Architects,
design $4,400,000 engineers,
designers and
other
professionals
Construction, $33,000,000to | As agreed As incurred General
improvements, $125,000,000 contractor,
remodeling, suppliers and us
decorating costs and or our affiliate
other sitework
Furniture, fixtures, $5,775,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers
other fixed assets and | $12,375,000
equipment (3)
Operating supplies & | $2,145,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers
equipment (4) $4,125,000
Fire and life safety $15,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers
consultation $25,000
General and $420,000 to As agreed As incurred Third parties
administrative $650,000
buildout costs (5)
Revenue $0 to $17,500 | As agreed Monthly, if you Us
management fees (6) participate in the
revenue
management
program
Field marketing $0 to $24,003 | As agreed Monthly, if you Us
program fees (6) participate in the
field marketing
program
Pre-opening $75,000 to As agreed Before opening Us and third
marketing and sales $550,000 parties
expenses (7)
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costs) (12)

(excluding real estate

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5
Type of expenditure Amount Method When due To whom
of payment is to be
Payment made
Liquor license (8) $30,000 to As agreed As incurred Government
$400,000 agency or
previous license
holder
Training expenses $16,600 to As agreed As incurred Us
(fees and $32,675
reimbursements
payable to us)
Training expenses $29,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers
(your and your $35,000
personnel’s costs to
attend)
Additional optional $0 to $300,000 | As agreed As incurred Us
training
Additional marketing | $0 to $400,000 | As agreed As incurred Suppliers
and design to create
brand identity (9)
Miscellaneous pre- $105,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers,
opening costs (10) $525,000 employees, us and
Hyatt Corporation
Additional funds - 3 $650,000 to As agreed As incurred Suppliers,
months (11) $1,000,000 employees, us and
Hyatt Corporation
TOTAL $45,391,000 to
ESTIMATED $153,701,078
INITIAL
INVESTMENT

Explanatory Notes

1. Application Fee. The Application Fee listed above is for a Brand Hotel with 150

to 250 guest rooms. We describe the Application Fee and the conditions for its refund in Item 5.

2. Telecommunications systems, security system and Technology System equipment.

We or our affiliate will review the Hotel and/or its plans and specifications to develop a proposal
relating to the equipment required for the telecommunications systems, security system and
Technology System for your Hotel.
acquisition/installation and the annual support and service contracts for the first year that the Hyatt
Group provides as part of Mandatory Services.
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We include in this estimate the projected costs of




3. Furniture, fixtures, other fixed assets, and equipment. Costs for fixtures,
equipment, furnishings, furniture, room equipment and appliances, and other items (collectively,
“FF&E”) depend mostly on the Hotel’s size and configuration. This item covers costs for all
FF&E for the Hotel except the costs for telecommunications systems, security system and
Technology System equipment and related fees that we describe separately in Note 2 above and
the OS&E that we describe in Note 4 below.

4. Operating Supplies and Equipment. Costs for initial operating supplies and
equipment, including initial food and beverage inventory, bed linens, personal care amenities,
cleaning supplies, and other consumables and similar items we periodically specify for the Hotel
(collectively, “OS&E”) depend mostly on the Hotel’s size and location. This item does not include
the FF&E for the Hotel that we describe in Note 3 above or the costs for telecommunications
systems, security system, and Technology System equipment and related fees that we describe in
Note 2 above.

5. General and administrative. This item includes costs for permit fees, security
deposits, utility deposits and startup requirements, impact fees (one-time charges that the
government levies to offset service costs relating to the new development), tap fees (charges for
connecting to existing water or sewer lines), and various business licenses. Landlords sometimes
pay some of the tap or impact fees, and the amount depends on municipal requirements and the
final Hotel configuration. This item also includes costs for insurance, legal and accounting
expenses.

6. Revenue management fees and field marketing program fees. These items include
revenue management program fees and field marketing program fees, respectively, during the pre-
opening period and the first 3 months of operation. We describe these fees in Item 5.

7. Pre-opening marketing and sales expenses. This item includes costs for marketing
and sales programs that you undertake before the Hotel opens, including payments of the
applicable System Services Charges during the pre-opening period and the costs to establish and
operate a sales office during the pre-opening period. It does not include field marketing or revenue
management program fees that you pay to us if you participate in those programs.

8. Liquor license. Liquor license costs vary widely depending on the jurisdiction. In
most jurisdictions, the cost will be on the low end of the range, but could be on the high end (or
even exceed the high end) in those jurisdictions that consider a liquor license to be an asset. You
may be able to apply for a full spirits liquor license and pay standard costs for this license that
would be on the lower end of the estimate. However, if your property is located in a “quota” city
or state, you might need to locate and purchase a full spirits liquor license on the open market,
which could mean your anticipated costs are on the mid-to-high range of this cost estimate. If you
purchase a liquor license on the open market, you may be able to re-sell your liquor license in
those jurisdictions to another licensee if you sell your Hotel. The liquor license that you apply for
or purchase must include beer, wine and full spirits, as allowable under applicable law in the
Hotel’s jurisdiction. If you engage a third party to be the F&B Operator (defined in Item 8),
depending on the jurisdiction, you might not need a liquor license.

9. Additional marketing and design to create brand identity. If you are opening a new
Brand Hotel, you will incur additional marketing and design costs to promote and create a new
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brand identity and tradename for your Brand Hotel. This item estimates your additional costs for
marketing, design, public relations, and social media.

10. Miscellaneous pre-opening costs. This item includes costs for office and other
supplies, wages for Hotel management and employees before opening and other miscellaneous
pre-paid opening expenses, as well as estimated amounts you may pay to us or our affiliates for
optional training or consulting services.

11.  Additional funds — 3 months. This item estimates your initial start-up expenses
(other than the items identified separately in the table). These expenses include payroll costs for
the Hotel’s personnel but not any management fees or similar draw. These figures are estimates,
and we cannot guarantee that you will not have additional expenses starting the business. Your
costs depend on how closely you follow our methods and procedures; your management skill,
experience, and business acumen; local economic conditions; the local market for the Hotel’s
services; the prevailing wage rate; competition; and the sales level reached during the initial period.

12.  Total estimated initial investment (excluding real estate costs). The estimated
amounts presented in the table above are to construct a new, full-size Brand Hotel with 150 to 250
guest rooms, according to the Design and Construction Standards and the Hotel System. We relied
on our affiliates’ experience in developing and operating hotels since 1957 to compile the estimate
for additional funds and other figures. You should review these figures carefully with a business
advisor before deciding to acquire the franchise. Except as described in Item 10, we do not offer
financing directly or indirectly for any part of the initial investment. The availability and terms of
financing depend on many factors, including the availability of financing generally, your
creditworthiness and collateral, and lending policies of financial institutions from which you
request a loan. The estimate does not include any finance charge, interest, or debt service
obligations. Except for a portion of the Application Fee that we will refund if we do not approve
the application, no amounts in the chart are refundable.

Brand Hotels will typically be in primary markets in urban, densely-populated locations.
They will typically occupy property of 1 to 3 acres, but the amount of land the Hotel requires will
vary greatly depending upon local building codes, setback requirements, parking requirements and
similar factors. Leasing or purchase costs vary widely and depend on geographic location, size,
visibility, local rental rates, other businesses in the area, other local economic conditions, the site’s
market potential, the type of ownership or leasehold interest and other factors. Because of these
factors, this table does not estimate the costs for the Hotel’s rent or security deposit or the purchase
price for the building or land on which the Hotel is located (if you decide to buy, rather than lease,
the land and/or premises).

If you own an existing hotel that you plan to convert from another brand to a Brand Hotel,
you might already have incurred many of the costs listed in this Item, but you still will incur
significant costs to upgrade and renovate the Hotel to meet our current standards for Brand Hotels.
These costs vary widely and depend primarily on the Hotel’s existing condition and FF&E. Before
we and you sign the Franchise Agreement, we will prepare a PIP on your Hotel and provide details
about our conversion and upgrade requirements for the Hotel.
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Item 8

RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

You must operate the Hotel according to our System Standards, which may regulate,
among other things, the types, models, and brands of products and services your Hotel uses;
required and authorized products and services that the Hotel must offer to customers and quality
standards for those products and services (including F&B Operations and Spa Operations, as
defined below); and designated and approved suppliers of these products and services, which may
include or be limited to us and/or our affiliates that we may designate. “F&B Operations” means
all food and beverage operations for Hotel guests and patrons consisting of the following (in each
case, to the extent applicable): (a) restaurant, dining, bar, lounge, and retail food and beverage
services; (b) banquet, meeting, event, catering (including outside catering), and room services; (c)
a multi-functional service area that serves coffee and breakfast, lunch and dinner menu items, and
alcoholic beverages; (d) grab-and-go food and beverage items available for purchase in a Hotel
market; (€) a communal area serving as a combination restaurant, bar, coffee shop and workplace;
(f) a standalone restaurant and/or rooftop bar; and (g) all other food, beverage and related services
at the Hotel. “Spa Operations” means all spa and related operations and services for Hotel guests
and patrons, consisting of all therapy, massage and other treatments, salon services and other spa-
related services, if applicable for the Hotel. Not all Brand Hotels have Spa Operations.

If you are constructing a new Brand Hotel or converting an existing hotel or other building
to a Brand Hotel, Hyatt Corporation will advise you on the System Standards to be met, and the
systems to be installed at the Hotel, so the Hotel can be opened and operated as a Brand Hotel.
You and Hyatt Corporation will determine the types and levels of services and assistance you will
receive and the fees you will pay for the services. Hyatt Corporation is the only approved supplier
for these services if you are constructing a new Hotel.

We also provide IT Project Management Services and other technology-related services as
well as PMS hosting services.

You must use the Opera PMS at the Hotel. You must sign the Hosting Services Agreement
and engage us to host the PMS remotely. We will provide services necessary to install access to
the PMS at the Hotel under the Franchise Agreement. You must also sign an agreement with our
designated supplier to provide connectivity services and training for the PMS. If your Hotel is in
Hawaii or Puerto Rico, under certain circumstances (with our approval), we may permit you to
self-host the PMS at the Hotel.

System Services

Mandatory Services and Non-Mandatory Services comprise the System Services. If you
are in full compliance with your obligations under the Franchise Agreement, we or one or more
members of the Hyatt Group will provide you those System Services that we periodically specify.
You must participate in all Mandatory Services and related programs, and may (at your option)
participate in any or all Non-Mandatory Services and related programs, in the manner that we
periodically specify. You must acquire all Mandatory Services (as we periodically modify them)
only from a member of the Hyatt Group. We may periodically add to, delete from, and otherwise
modify these System Services, and the scope of and manner of providing System Services, upon
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notice to you. Also, due to the differences in products, services, markets and hospitality
experiences among Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels, we may, where we deem
appropriate in our judgment: (a) classify certain System Services as Mandatory Services for the
Hotel which we classify as Non-Mandatory Services or do not offer to other Brand Hotels and/or
other Hyatt Network Hotels; (b) not provide to the Hotel certain System Services that we provide
to other Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; and (c) limit the scope of those System
Services provided to franchised Brand Hotels, such as by limiting the access that franchised Brand
Hotels have to certain customer and other proprietary information for Hyatt Network Hotels other
than the Hotel. We describe the current System Services and the current charges for those System
Services in Item 6.

Avendra, LLC (“Avendra”) is a products and services sourcing company that offers volume
contracts to its customer hotels on a variety of FF&E and other items used in hotel operations,
including food and beverage equipment and supplies (such as branded and commodity programs),
operating equipment and supplies (such as linens, pillows, terry, and light bulbs), and other
products and services (such as printing and stationery, logoed items, chemicals, and pest
elimination), at competitive prices that Avendra negotiates. You determine whether, and the extent
to which, your Hotel will use Avendra’s services. However, if you choose not to use Avendra,
you might find it impracticable to purchase certain products for the Hotel (such as bathroom
amenities made specifically for Hyatt Network Hotels) elsewhere.

You may, and if we require (depending on your or your approved management company’s
experience) you must, acquire revenue management services from us. You also may, but are not
required to, use Rosemont’s purchasing and project management services and acquire our
pre-opening advisory assistance for your Hotel. If you are constructing a new Brand Hotel, you
may decide to engage us (or our affiliate) to provide technical services and assistance relating to
the Hotel’s development. We or another member of the Hyatt Group, Avendra and Rosemont
negotiate purchase arrangements with suppliers, including price terms, for some required Hotel
items. When we do so, we seek to promote the overall interests of the network of Brand Hotels
and other Hyatt Network Hotels and our interests as the franchisor. We do not provide material
benefits (like renewal or granting additional franchises) to individual franchisees for purchasing
particular products or services or for using particular suppliers.

You must participate in, connect with, and use the authorized CRS, GDS and ADS as we
periodically designate for offering, booking, modifying, and communicating guest room
reservations for the Hotel and bear all related costs and expenses. You may only use the GDS and
ADS that we periodically authorize. You must honor and give first priority on available rooms to
all confirmed reservations that the CRS, GDS or ADS refer to the Hotel. The CRS and approved
GDS and ADS are the only reservation systems or services that the Hotel may use for reservations.
You will establish the Hotel’s room rates, if those rates and your pricing policies comply with
System Standards (to the maximum extent the law allows). You must comply with our “best price
guarantee” and related policies, as we periodically modify them. You may not charge any guest a
rate higher than the rate that the reservations center specifies to the guest when the guest makes
the reservation.

Except as described here and in Item 6, in providing these and other products and services
to you, the Hyatt Group companies have the right to charge prices that exceed their costs and
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include a profit margin. Except as described above or in Item 5 or 6, there currently are no other
goods or services for the Hotel that you must buy or lease from us or one of our affiliates or for
which we or one of our affiliates is an approved supplier or the only approved supplier.

Approved Suppliers, Hotel System and System Standards

Promptly after preparing the plans for your Hotel’s construction or remodeling, you must
prepare and deliver to us for our approval a plan for conducting and administering the F&B
Operations at the Hotel (the “F&B Operations Plan”). The F&B Operations Plan will contain the
identity of any proposed restaurant operator or other operator of some or all F&B Operations at
the Hotel (other than you or your approved management company) (each an “F&B Operator”) and
the restaurant concept(s) that you plan to incorporate as part of or adjacent to the Hotel. You must
make the modifications to the F&B Operations Plan that we reasonably specify and ensure that the
Hotel and its F&B Operations operate according to the approved F&B Operations Plan. You may
not make any material changes to the F&B Operations Plan (including any changes to the proposed
restaurant concept(s) and/or F&B Operator(s)) without our prior written approval. Before the
Hotel begins operating in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks, you must require each F&B
Operator to sign the documents we reasonably specify to protect our (and our affiliates’)
intellectual property and other rights. At our option, you must submit to us for our prior approval
any proposed lease or other agreement between you (or your affiliate or management company)
and the F&B Operator under which the F&B Operator will conduct F&B Operations, in which
case you may not sign (or permit your affiliate or management company to sign) any lease or other
agreement that we have not approved.

If the Hotel has Spa Operations, you may subcontract the management of the Spa
Operations to an operator (other than the approved management company) (the “Spa Operator”)
only if (a) we (in our sole judgment) approve of the Spa Operator, the spa concept and the terms
of the lease or other arrangement between you and the Spa Operator; (b) the Spa Operator complies
with all applicable System Standards; and (c) the spa does not use the Proprietary Marks in any
manner (unless we authorize that use in writing).

If you or your management company do not have in-house technology services support,
you must contract with a third party technology consultant that meets our qualifications for
“break/fix” support. You must also use our designated cyber end point protection and web filtering
tools and enter into agreements with suppliers of such services, as applicable.

You currently must use our designated third party provider of travel agent commission
program services. This provider calculates travel agent commissions, remits them to travel agents
and collects them from Participating Hotels. You also must use our designated provider of quality
assurance and inspection services. Except as described in this Item or in Items 5 or 6, there
currently are no goods, services, supplies, fixtures, equipment, inventory, computer hardware and
software, real estate, or comparable items related to establishing or operating the Hotel that you
must buy from us, our affiliates, or designated or approved suppliers. None of our officers
currently owns an interest in any supplier to Brand Hotel franchisees.

However, you must buy or lease most other products and services for your Hotel according
to our System Standards. We issue and modify standards and specifications based on our, our
affiliates’ and our franchisees’ experience in operating Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network

32

The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® 2024-2025 FDD
ACTIVE\1609053275.2



Hotels. Our standards and specifications may impose minimum requirements for delivery,
performance, reputation, prices, quality, design, and appearance, among other factors. You must
ensure that the Hotel strictly complies with all applicable laws and maintains adequate insurance
policy coverage in the amounts that we periodically specify. Our System Standards or other
communications will identify our standards and specifications and/or names of approved suppliers.

If you wish to obtain any FF&E, supplies, or other goods and services from a source that
we have not previously approved as meeting our System Standards (for those items that require
supplier approval), you must send us a written request with any information and samples we
consider necessary to determine whether the product, service and source meet our then current
criteria. If you comply with our processes and procedures, we will respond to your request within
a reasonable time period (typically 30 days) after receiving all information we request. We may
charge you our costs to review your request and evaluate the product, service and/or source. We
may condition our approval on standards and requirements relating to quality, quantity, warranties,
prices, volume capability, frequency of delivery, distribution methods and locations, standards of
service (including prompt attention to complaints), consistency, reliability, financial capability,
labor and customer relations, the willingness and ability to comply with our vendor compliance
guide and other criteria. We may modify our System Standards in this area as we deem best. We
may, at our option, revoke our approval of certain goods, services or sources if they fail to continue
to meet our System Standards. We may designate a particular source for, or model or brand of,
FF&E, supplies or other goods or services that we (in our sole judgment) determine to be critical
to the Hotel System.

If the Hyatt Group receives any payments from vendors or service providers whose costs
are included as part of System Services Costs, the Hyatt Group currently will offset them against
System Services Costs. We and our affiliates may receive rebates, commissions, payments,
benefits and other material consideration from suppliers on account of their actual or prospective
dealings with you and other franchisees and owners of Brand Hotels, but neither we nor our
affiliates will receive rebates from suppliers based solely on the volume of your purchases from
those suppliers unless we either forward those rebates to you, use them to cover System Services
Costs, or otherwise use those rebates for the benefit of the Hotel System or the Brand Hotel
network. During the 2023 fiscal year, Hyatt Corporation received $2,718 in rebates from suppliers
of food and beverage products and office supplies based on purchases that franchised Brand Hotels
made from those suppliers, but Hyatt Corporation used this entire amount to offset part of the
System Services Costs. In addition, Brand Hotel network suppliers attending franchisee
conventions, conferences, or other meetings of Brand Hotel owners make contributions to us or
other members of the Hyatt Group (which do not derive from franchisee purchases) that we use to
defray your and other franchisees’ and owners’ costs of attending these functions. Except for these
payments, neither we nor our affiliates currently receive, or have negotiated to receive, similar
payments or other material consideration from suppliers based on our franchisees’ purchases or
leases, although our affiliates currently receive rebates from suppliers based on goods and services
they buy for Brand Hotels that they operate.

You also must participate in and comply with the terms of all of our mandatory marketing,
reservation service, rate and room inventory management, advertising, cooperative advertising,
guest frequency and loyalty, social responsibility, discount or promotional, customer award,
customer loyalty, Internet, computer, training and operating programs, including a PMS that
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interfaces with the CRS or any other central reservation system that we periodically adopt. We
may periodically establish and/or coordinate these programs with third parties we designate. These
third parties might (but need not) be our affiliates. You must sign and comply with any license,
participation and other agreements we periodically specify relating to these programs.

You may not make any material changes to the Hotel’s construction, including any changes
to any structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or
common areas, or any architectural features, without our prior written consent and complying with
our conditions and procedures. We may periodically require you to upgrade or renovate the Hotel,
including by altering the Hotel’s appearance and/or replacing a material portion of improvements
and/or FF&E, to comply with then current building décor, appearance, trade dress standards and
other aspects of the Hotel System that we have established and then require for new similarly
situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations (defined below)). This upgrading or
renovation might require you to invest additional capital in the Hotel and/or incur higher operating
costs. You must implement the upgrading and renovation within the time period we request.
However, all of these upgrades and renovations will apply to similarly situated Brand Hotels
(subject to Reasonable Deviations). In order to assist you in having funds available to make any
necessary capital expenditures at the Hotel and comply with your upgrade and renovation
obligations (but without limiting those obligations), you must deposit into a separate account that
you control 5% of the Hotel’s total operating revenue each month. You will use these funds only
to make approved capital expenditures and comply with your upgrade and renovation obligations,
although your obligations may require you to spend more than the amount in the account.

“Reasonable Deviations” means that, if the market area or circumstances of a Brand Hotel
warrant, then, in our Reasonable Business Judgment (defined below), we may apply an aspect of
the Hotel System, System Standard, requirement, fee or other term or condition to the Hotel in a
manner which differs from the manner in which that aspect of the Hotel System, requirement, fee
or other term or condition applies to one or more other similarly situated Brand Hotels.
“Reasonable Business Judgment” means that our action or inaction has a business basis that is
intended to benefit the Brand Hotel network or the profitability of the network, including us and
our affiliates, regardless of whether some individual hotels may be unfavorably affected; or to
increase the value of the Proprietary Marks; or to increase or enhance overall hotel guest or
franchisee or owner satisfaction; or to minimize possible brand inconsistencies or customer
confusion.

Collectively, the purchases and leases you must make from us, from designated or
approved suppliers, or according to our System Standards represent approximately 75% of your
total purchases and leases to establish, and approximately 75% of your total purchases and leases
to operate, the Hotel. During our 2023 fiscal year, we did not derive any revenue from selling or
leasing products or services directly to Brand Hotel franchisees, but our affiliates collected about
$4,055,532 in fees and other revenue from providing various products and services to Brand Hotel
franchisees, including revenue for chain services, IT-related services and other ancillary services.
In addition, Brand Hotel franchisees received $3,451,361 more in loyalty program reimbursements
than they paid in loyalty program fees during 2023. We derived these figures from our affiliates’
internal financial records.
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Item 9

FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements.
It will help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements
and in other items of this disclosure document.

o Section Disclosure
Obligation in agreement document item

Site selection and 1.1, 2.5 and 2.6 of Franchise 7and 11
acquisition/lease Agreement
Pre-opening 21,2.2,25,2.7,33,43,44and 5.1 5,7,8and 11
purchases/leases and Articles 2 and 9 and Exhibit B of

Franchise Agreement
Site development and 2.1 to 2.4 and Exhibit B of Franchise 5,7,8and 11
other pre-opening Agreement; 1 to 4 of Service
requirements Agreement for Revenue Management

Services
Initial and ongoing 3.1,3.4, 4.2 and 12.4 and Exhibit Bof | 5,6,7 and 11
training Franchise Agreement
Opening 2.5 of Franchise Agreement 5and 11
Fees 2.2,25,3.1,33,34,4.1,42,4.4,428, 5,6,7,8and 11

5.3,75,83,12.4,12.8,13.2, 14 4,
16.1, 16.2 and 16.5 and Avrticles 3, 6, 9
and 10 and Exhibit B of Franchise
Agreement; Franchise Application; 7 of
Confidentiality Agreement; 5 of
Service Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 6 and 8 of
Hosting Services Agreement; 4 and
Exhibit A of Field Marketing Program
Opt-In Agreement

Compliance with
standards and
policies/operations
manual

211t023,26,3.2,33,51,53,54,74
and 11.2 and Article 4 of Franchise
Agreement; Management Company
Rider

6, 8, 11, 13, 14 and
15
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service requirements

of Hosting Services Agreement

o Section Disclosure
Obligation in agreement document item
h.  Trademarksand 3.2,5.3and 16.1 and Article 11 of 11, 13 and 14
proprietary information Franchise Agreement; Confidentiality
Agreement; Management Company
Rider; 10 of Service Agreement for
Revenue Management Services ;11 of
Hosting Services Agreement; 6 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
. Restrictions on 4.1,4.3,4.4,4.5and 4.6 of Franchise 8,11 and 16
products/services offered | Agreement
J- Warranty and customer 4.3 and 4.5 of Franchise Agreement; 7 8,12 and 16

K. Territorial development
and sales quotas

Not applicable

Not applicable

Agreement

. Ongoing product/service | 32,3.3,4.1,4.3, 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6 of 5,6,7,8and 11
purchases Franchise Agreement; 2 through 5 of
Service Agreement for Revenue
Management Services
m. Maintenance_, appearance | 3.2, 4.3,4.4,4.6,4.7, 4.8 and 10.2 of 8,11 and 16
and remodeling Franchise Agreement
requirements
n. Insurance Article 9 of Franchise Agreement; 8 of | 6and 7
Service Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 8 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
0. Advertising 4.1, 4.3, 4.5 and Article 5 of Franchise | 6, 8 and 11
Agreement
p. Indemnification 2.5 and 8.3 of Franchise Agreement; 7 6
of Confidentiality Agreement; 7 of
Service Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 8 of Hosting
Services Agreement; 9 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
q. Owner’s participation/ 3.1, 3.2, 4.2 and 4.6 of Franchise 5,7,11 and 15
management/staffing Agreement; Management Company
Rider; 2 of Service Agreement for
Revenue Management Services
r. Records and reports 4.3 and 4.7 and Article 7 of Franchise | 6
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o Section Disclosure
Obligation in agreement document item
S. Inspections and audits 4.3,4.8, 7.4 and 7.5 of Franchise 6
Agreement
t. Transfer 12.2 to 12.9 of Franchise Agreement 6 and 17
and 8(e) of Confidentiality Agreement;
13 of Hosting Services Agreement; 13
of Field Marketing Program Opt-In
Agreement
u. Renewal Article 13 of Franchise Agreement 6 and 17
V. Pos_t-te_rmination 12.4 and Avrticles 10, 14 and 16 of 6, 13, 14 and 17
obligations Franchise Agreement; 7 and 10 of
Service Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 10d of Hosting
Services Agreement; 1 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
w.  Non-competition 4.2,4.10 and 4.11 of Franchise 15 and 17
covenants Agreement
X. Dispute resolution Article 14 of Franchise Agreement; 8 of | 6 and 17
Confidentiality Agreement; 12 of
Service Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 11 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
y. Honoring guest room 3.3 and 4.5 of Franchise Agreement 8
rates
Z. Guarantor monetary 12.1 of Franchise Agreement and 15
threshold Guaranty
aa.  Right of first offer Exhibit C of Franchise Agreement 17

Item 10

FINANCING

We do not have a fixed financial assistance program for our franchisees and typically do
not offer financial assistance to franchisees. However, in some cases we periodically may offer
financial assistance to franchisees developing new Brand Hotels or converting existing hotels from
other brands to the Hotel System. We have no formal criteria to determine which franchisees will
receive financial assistance or the amount or timing of the assistance. The terms of any financial
assistance, including amount, interest rate, and repayment terms, will vary widely and depend on
our agreement with the franchisee and its particular circumstances. Our decision to offer financial
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assistance depends on what we think is best for us and the Brand Hotel franchise network. We
have no obligation to offer financial assistance to any franchisee.

Except as described above, neither we nor our affiliates offer direct or indirect financing.
Neither we nor our affiliates guarantee your note, lease or obligation.

Item 11

FRANCHISOR’S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING,
COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, Hyatt Franchising, L.L.C. is not required to provide you with
any assistance.

Before you begin operating the Hotel, we or another member of the Hyatt Group will:

1. Approve asite for the Hotel that meets our requirements. We do not provide
any site selection assistance or specify an area within which you may look for a site. We
do not own hotel premises and lease them to franchisees. In determining whether to
approve a site, we consider, among other things, demographic characteristics, traffic
patterns, parking, visibility, allowed signage, the predominant character of the
neighborhood, competition from other lodging facilities in the area, the nature of other
businesses near the site, and other commercial characteristics (including the purchase price
or rental obligations and other lease terms) and the proposed site’s size, appearance, and
other physical characteristics. You may not develop a Brand Hotel at a site that we do not
approve. We and you will not sign a Franchise Agreement until you have located and we
have approved the Hotel’s site. If you are converting an existing hotel from another brand
to the Hotel System, we will inspect the hotel and prepare a PIP to provide details on our
upgrade requirements. Each Comfort Letter Party must sign a comfort letter or similar
agreement that we reasonably specify. (Sections 2.1 and 2.7 and Exhibit B of Franchise
Agreement)

2. Communicate our then current specifications and requirements for
designing and developing a Brand Hotel, including the Design and Construction Standards.
We will provide a briefing virtually, at our headquarters, or at another location we
designate, to acquaint your managing owner or senior operations officer with our building
process and support structure. If you are constructing a new Hotel at the site, you must
design and construct the Hotel according to our Design and Construction Standards and
Hotel System, and we and/or Hyatt Corporation will provide technical and design
assistance related to the Hotel's development. If you are converting an existing hotel from
another brand to the Hotel System, you must renovate the Hotel according to the PIP, which
may reference some or all of our Design and Construction Standards and the Hotel System.
The PIP is attached to the Franchise Agreement when we and you sign it. You may not
make any material changes to plans set forth in the PIP (including any changes to any
structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or
common areas, or any architectural features), without our prior written consent, which we
will not unreasonably withhold. We and our affiliates may operate, and authorize others
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to operate, Brand Hotels within or outside the United States providing additional, fewer
and/or different amenities and services to guests than the Hotel provides or that otherwise
operate in a manner that is substantially different from the manner in which the Hotel
operates. We may establish and periodically modify the Hotel System and System
Standards for certain Brand Hotels in a manner that is different from the Hotel System and
System Standards that apply to some or all Brand Hotels within or outside the United
States. (Sections 2.1, 2.2 and 2.8 and Exhibit B of Franchise Agreement)

3. As described in Item 8, identify the brands, types, makes and/or models of
FF&E and other items (including both products and services) that meet our System
Standards and, if we require, designated and approved suppliers of these items. We or our
designated affiliate will directly provide and deliver, and in certain cases install, some
items. We will provide you with the names of approved suppliers for some items. Our
System Standards or other communications provide our standards and specifications for
some items. (Sections 3.3, 4.3 and 4.4 of Franchise Agreement)

4. Approve your preliminary area program for a new Hotel (or renovation
plans for conversion of an existing facility) including working drawings and specifications,
if they comply with our Design and Construction Standards, the Hotel System and System
Standards. You may not change the approved plans, including by changing any structural
or life safety equipment or systems, the number or type of guest rooms or common areas,
or any architectural features, without our prior approval. (Section 2.1 and Exhibit B of
Franchise Agreement)

5. Approve an F&B Operations Plan and F&B Operator(s) that meet our
requirements. (Section 2.3 of Franchise Agreement)

6. Approve you establishing a temporary or permanent sales office at the
Hotel’s site to solicit and accept reservations during the pre-opening period for stays after
the Hotel’s opening date, if it meets our requirements. Promptly after we or our designee
installs the Technology System at the Hotel, you must, at our option, staff the pre-opening
sales office with the Hotel’s director of sales and begin operating the pre-opening sales
office. (Section 2.4 of Franchise Agreement)

7. Provide the applicable System Services for the Hotel during its pre-opening
period. (Section 4.1 of Franchise Agreement)

8. Approve a pre-opening marketing program that you prepare according to
our requirements. At least 120 days before the Hotel’s opening, you must prepare and
submit to us for our approval a written pre-opening marketing program that satisfies our
requirements and contemplates spending at least the minimum amount we specify. You
must change the program as we specify and implement the approved program. We
anticipate your spending additional amounts on pre-opening marketing as well. (Section
5.1 of Franchise Agreement)

9. Provide data installation services relating to the initial set-up of the CRS,
GDS and ADS at the Hotel, IT project management implementation services and other
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technology-related services described in Item 5. (Section 2.2 of the Franchise Agreement)
We describe the Technology System later in this Item.

10. Provide you access to the CRS and listings in advertising publications that
we periodically specify during the period before the Hotel’s opening date that we
reasonably specify. (Section 3.3 of Franchise Agreement)

11.  Train your Hotel’s senior manager-level employees whom we periodically
designate, which may include (as applicable), the general manager, rooms director, director
of sales, engineering director, director of food and beverage, director of catering, executive
chef, and assistant general manager (collectively, the “Core Management”), and other
Hotel personnel we specify in the operation of a Brand Hotel to help ensure compliance
with System Standards. We will place our trainer(s) at the Hotel for its opening.
(Section 3.1 of Franchise Agreement)

12. Provide you access to the System Standards. You must comply with the
System Standards, as we periodically modify them, except for any employment-related or
other policies and procedures which are clearly indicated in the System Standards as being
for your optional use. We may communicate the System Standards to you using various
means that we may periodically establish, including electronic media and/or written
materials, and you must continuously monitor and access any updates to the System
Standards or other aspects of the Hotel System. The System Standards and any passwords
or other digital identifications necessary to access the System Standards are confidential.

Any materials, guidance or assistance that we provide on employment-related
policies or procedures, whether in the System Standards or otherwise, are solely for your
(or your management company’s) optional use. Those materials, guidance and assistance
do not form part of the mandatory System Standards. You (or your approved management
company) will determine to what extent, if any, these materials, guidance or assistance
should apply to the Hotel’s employees. We do not dictate or control labor or employment
matters for franchisees and their employees. You (or your approved management
company) are solely responsible for determining the terms and conditions of employment
for all Hotel employees (including Core Management), for all decisions concerning the
hiring, firing and discipline of Hotel employees, and for all other aspects of the Hotel’s
labor relations and employment practices. (Sections 3.3 and 4.3 of Franchise Agreement)

13.  Authorize your Hotel to open in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks if
you satisfy our pre-opening conditions as set forth in the System Standards or otherwise in
writing. We will use commercially reasonable efforts in our review and approval of plans
and in our approval process to open the Hotel, including by making a reasonable number
of visits to the Site (to the extent practical under the circumstances) and providing
reasonable guidance and advice relating to the Hotel’s development or conversion. We act
only in an advisory capacity and are not responsible for the adequacy or coordination of
any plans and specifications, the integrity of any structures, compliance with applicable
laws (including accessibility laws) or any insurance requirements, or obtaining any permits.
We will have no liability to you for the Hotel’s construction or renovation. You must give
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us certificates from your contractors concerning the Hotel’s compliance. (Sections 2.5 and
2.6 of Franchise Agreement)

14. Provide revenue management services for the Hotel if you choose to acquire
them or we determine that you must acquire them. (Sections 2 and 3 of Service Agreement
for Revenue Management Services)

15. Provide field marketing program services for the Hotel if you choose to
acquire them. (Section 2 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement)

During your operation of the Hotel, we or another member of the Hyatt Group will:

1. Continue to provide the System Services for the Hotel, as we periodically
modify them. (Section 4.1 of Franchise Agreement)

2. Advise you periodically regarding the Hotel’s operation, for example
concerning System Standards and advertising and marketing materials and programs. If
you request, and we agree to provide, additional or special guidance, assistance, or training,
or if you sign the Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services, you must pay our
then applicable charges and travel and living expenses. Any specific training, guidance or
assistance that we provide does not create an obligation (whether by course of dealing or
otherwise) to continue providing that specific training, guidance or assistance, all of which
we may periodically modify. (Section 3.4 of Franchise Agreement and Sections 2 to 4 of
Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services)

3. Let you use our Proprietary Marks. (Sections11.1, 11.5 and 11.6 of
Franchise Agreement)

4, Let you use our Confidential Information and Copyrighted Materials.
(Sections 11.1, 11.6 and 11.7 of Franchise Agreement)

5. Provide you access to the System Standards as we may modify them
periodically. You must restrict (and ensure your management company restricts) access to
the System Standards according to our policies, as we periodically modify them. If there
is a dispute over their contents, our master copy of the System Standards controls. Because
complete and detailed uniformity under many varying conditions might not be possible or
practical, we may, as we deem best, vary the Hotel System and System Standards for any
Brand Hotel based upon the peculiarities of any condition or factors that we consider
important to that hotel’s successful operation. We need not grant you a similar variation
or accommodation. The table of contents for the System Standards in effect as of the
issuance date of this disclosure document is Exhibit F and reflects that the System
Standards comprise 3,741 pages. (Sections 3.2 and 4.3 of Franchise Agreement)

6. Provide you access to the CRS and listings in advertising publications that
we periodically specify during the Franchise Agreement’s term. (Section 3.3 of Franchise
Agreement)
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7. Conduct periodic inspections of the Hotel and otherwise maintain the
Quality Assurance Program for the Brand Hotel franchise network. (Section 4.8 of
Franchise Agreement)

8. Provide hosting and subscription services for the Hotel’s PMS when you
sign the Hosting Services Agreement (Section 1 of Hosting Services Agreement).

0. Continue to provide revenue management services if we choose to offer and
either you chose to acquire them or we determine that you must acquire them. (Sections 2
and 3 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services)

10.  Continue to provide field marketing program services for the Hotel if we
choose to offer and you choose to acquire them (Section 2 of Field Marketing Program
Opt-In Agreement)

Advertising and Marketing

Except for the System Services, which we describe in Item 6, there are no advertising funds
or local or regional advertising cooperatives to which franchisees or other Brand Hotel operators
must contribute. However, promoting Brand Hotels as a single chain in the United States is an
important part of the Hotel System, so you must participate in and use, in the manner we specify,
all advertising, marketing and promotional activities, materials and programs that we periodically
require for the Hotel. (Section 5.2 of Franchise Agreement) The Hyatt Group prepares
advertising, marketing and promotional programs as part of System Services. (Section 4.1 of
Franchise Agreement) These programs may cover any media (including print, radio, television
and electronic) and their scope may be local, regional, national or international or focus on a subset
of hotels (like resort hotels or convention hotels). The Hyatt Group’s corporate personnel and
advertising agencies develop these programs. We will not use funds that franchisees pay for
System Services principally to solicit new franchise sales. We will not prepare any periodic
accounting of how we and our affiliates spend these funds. The Hyatt Group need not spend any
amount on advertising, marketing or promotional programs in the area where the Hotel is located.
There currently are no franchisee advertising councils that advise us on advertising and marketing
policies. However, we may form, change, and dissolve these councils.

We may identify a region in which 2 or more Brand Hotels are located (including, if
applicable, those that we or our affiliates own or operate) to establish a local or regional advertising
cooperative (a “Cooperative”). We may form, change, dissolve and merge Cooperatives. The
Cooperative’s purpose will be to collect funds from its members and to plan, discuss, organize,
develop, utilize, produce, disseminate, and implement marketing, advertising and promotional
programs and materials on a collective basis (and to cover related expenses) for participating Brand
Hotels. We will not require you to participate in a Cooperative. However, if you choose to
participate in the Cooperative, you must do so according to the Cooperative’s rules, including by
paying your Hotel’s allocable share for any advertising, marketing, promotional and other
programs that the Cooperative conducts. The Cooperative is in charge of its own administration
and determines contributions. Cooperative members typically contribute to programs at the same
rate. We anticipate that Cooperatives will operate from written governing documents and prepare
financial statements that member franchisees may review. All restrictions relating to any
advertising, marketing or promotional materials and programs that you use or conduct also apply
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to any materials and programs that the Cooperative uses or conducts. (Section 5.5 of Franchise
Agreement)

You must ensure that all advertising, marketing, and promotional materials, all public
relations plans and programs, and all uses of the Proprietary Marks are conducted in a dignified
manner and comply with the System Standards, including the use of our standard templates where
applicable, and which may, at our option, require our prior approval of materials that we have not
previously approved. You must discontinue using any materials (including previously-approved
materials) and stop engaging in any plans and programs (including previously-approved plans and
programs) within the timeframe we specify after you receive written notice from us. You may not
use Guest Information (defined in Item 14) in conducting marketing, advertising and promotional
programs for the Hotel, except for programs conducted by or through us or with our supervision
in each instance. (Section 5.3 of Franchise Agreement)

Except for the Hotel System Website, approved ADS, and as otherwise provided below,
you may not develop, maintain or authorize any other website, other online presence or other
electronic medium that describes or in any other way promotes the Hotel or displays any of the
Proprietary Marks.

The “Hotel System Website” is a website that we or one or more members of the Hyatt
Group develops, maintains and/or authorizes for all or a certain group of Brand Hotels that we
periodically specify (and, at our option, other Hyatt Network Hotels). We currently provide each
participating Brand Hotel a separate webpage on the Hotel System Website. You must comply
with all System Standards relating to the Hotel System Website, including by providing us (or our
designee) all information and other materials concerning the Hotel that we periodically request
and promptly notifying us whenever any information concerning the Hotel on the Hotel’s webpage
is no longer accurate. By providing Hotel-related information and materials, you are representing
to us that they are accurate and not misleading and do not infringe any third party’s intellectual
property or other rights. We have the final decision about all information or materials appearing
on the Hotel System Website. As between us and you, we own all intellectual property rights and
other rights in and to the Hotel System Website, including all data that visitors supply or the Hotel
System Website obtains. We may discontinue the Hotel System Website and/or any of its content
(including separate webpages for participating Brand Hotels) at any time.

You may develop, maintain or authorize a website or other electronic medium featuring
the Hotel to consumers (the “Hotel-Specific Website”) only with our approval and subject to the
conditions described here. The Hotel-Specific Website may not use the word “hyatt,” “unbound”
or any similar word, or any of the Proprietary Marks, as part of its domain name or URL. The
Hotel-Specific Website may not accept reservations for the Hotel (other than through an approved
link to a Hotel System Website) or otherwise sell any products or services associated with the
Hotel or any of the Proprietary Marks. You are solely responsible for obtaining all intellectual
property rights to use any information and materials on the Hotel-Specific Website. However, as
between us and you, we own all intellectual property rights and other rights in and to all Guest
Information that visitors supply or the Hotel-Specific Website obtains.

You also may, with our approval (which we will not unreasonably withhold) and subject
to compliance with System Standards, authorize any Travel Services Website or Franchisee
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Organization Website to list and promote the Hotel together with other hotels. A “Travel Services
Website” is a website that a third party (which is not your affiliate) operates that promotes and
sells travel-related products and services for a number of hotel brands, including other Hyatt
Network Hotels. A “Franchisee Organization Website” is a website that mentions the Hotel and
other hotels in which you and your affiliates have an interest as part of your and their portfolio of
properties and that has a primary purpose of promoting the entire portfolio (rather than only
promoting the Hotel). (Section 5.4 of Franchise Agreement)

Technology System

You must use the computer hardware, software, and related equipment (the “Technology
System”) that we or our affiliate periodically designate to operate the Hotel. The Hotel will use
the Technology System to administer the CRS and the property management system (the “PMS”);
automate front desk registration/cashiering, telephone switchboard, housekeeping and accounting
functions; record and track sales and labor data; run the point-of-sale (“POS”), key lock system,
in-room entertainment, sound and related systems; and perform a variety of other management and
reporting functions. To meet our current brand standards, you must install the following systems:
Property Management, Point of Sale, Revenue Management, Sales Key Lock, PBX/Phones, Call
Accounting, In-Room Entertainment, High Speed Internet Service, Guest Computing, Hotel Music
Services, Security, and Scent. The Technology System will generate and store revenue, cash,
payment, labor and other operational data relating to the Hotel and its operations. We will provide
project management implementation and related services for the Technology System. Based on
our current requirements for a Brand Hotel, we estimate that it will cost approximately $1,465,000
to $3,200,000 for you to acquire and install the Technology System at the Hotel.

You currently must acquire the PMS, POS system, and certain other components of the
Technology System only from our designated vendors. You must acquire 24/7 support,
maintenance, and warranty coverage from us or our designated PMS and POS vendor. Our
designated PMS and POS vendor currently charges $6.65 per room per month but may increase
this amount upon notice to you. Our designated PMS and POS vendor will also provide upgrades
and updates to its licensed software if we approve them. You also must acquire maintenance from
our designated PBX/phones vendor, our designated key lock vendor, and our designated sound
system vendor, who currently charges $18.95 per month to provide quarterly updates to the playlist
that the Brand Hotel network uses. We or another member of the Hyatt Group will provide other
maintenance, support, upgrades and updates for parts of the Technology System and certain other
technology services as part of the Mandatory Services for the Hotel, all of which are included in
the Commercial Services Fee. No other party has an obligation to provide ongoing maintenance,
repairs, upgrades or updates to the Technology System. The cost of other optional maintenance,
updating, upgrading and support contracts varies widely depending on the market and the level of
support you need. If you or your management company do not have in-house technology services
support, you must contract with a third party technology consultant that meets our qualifications
for “break/fix” support. You must also use our designated cyber end point protection and web
filtering tools and enter into agreements with suppliers of such services, if applicable.

We may periodically require changes, upgrades, or updates to the Technology System. No
contract limits the frequency or cost of changes, upgrades or updates. We or our affiliates may
charge you reasonable fees for software or other technology that we license to the Hotel and for
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other Technology System maintenance and support services that we or they periodically provide
to the Hotel, such as revenue management software, PMS enhancements, Hyatt’s Collaboration
Network including HyattConnect, SharePoint Knowledge Network, E-Mail, User Identity Access
Management, Learning Management Systems and Wide Area Network and Remote Access
support. We will have independent, unlimited access to the information that the Technology
System generates and tracks. (Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 7.4 of Franchise Agreement)

Hotel Opening

If you are developing a new Brand Hotel, including by adapting an existing building to a
new use as a hotel, we estimate that you will open the Hotel approximately 24 to 36 months after
paying the Application Fee. If you are converting an existing hotel from another brand to a Brand
Hotel, we estimate that you will open the Hotel in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks
approximately 3 to 24 months after paying the Application Fee. The interval depends on the time
it takes for you to finalize acquisition of the Hotel’s premises (if applicable) and sign the Franchise
Agreement, the suitability of the site, weather, the location and condition of the premises
(including the premises’ former use) and the construction schedule for the Hotel. You must open
and begin operating the Hotel within 24 months after signing the Franchise Agreement for new
Brand Hotels and 6 months after signing the Franchise Agreement for converted hotels (unless we
agree to a longer period before we and you sign the Franchise Agreement). You also must meet
various interim deadlines for the Hotel’s development. If you do not meet these requirements,
then you must pay the $10,000 extension fee to us and request an extension, which we may grant
or deny at our option. If we approve the extension, we will set a new opening deadline, the
extension fee is non-refundable, and we may (at our option) require you to modify any
previously-approved detailed plans or the PIP (as applicable), to comply with the then current
design, equipment and other aspects of the Hotel System. If you do not open the Hotel by the
required completion date, we may terminate the Franchise Agreement.

You may not open or begin operating the Hotel in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks
until we have notified you in writing that: (1) you have properly developed and equipped the Hotel
in compliance with the Franchise Agreement and all applicable laws; (2) Hotel personnel have
completed all pre-opening training to our satisfaction; (3) you have paid all amounts then due to
us and our affiliates; (4) you have obtained all required certificates of occupancy, licenses and
permits to operate the Hotel; (5) you have given us evidence of insurance coverage and payment
of premiums we request; (6) you have given us certifications concerning the Hotel’s construction;
and (7) we have conducted a pre-opening inspection and approved the Hotel for opening in
affiliation with the Proprietary Marks. You must open and begin operating the Hotel in affiliation
with the Proprietary Marks within 10 days after receiving our authorization, which we will not
unreasonably withhold or delay. We may terminate the Franchise Agreement if you do not meet
these deadlines. Our determination that you have met all of our pre-opening requirements is not a
representation or warranty, express or implied, that the Hotel complies with any laws or is safe for
occupancy, nor will such determination act as a waiver of your non-compliance, or our right to
demand full compliance, with our pre-opening requirements or any other provision of the
Franchise Agreement. You must indemnify us for costs and expenses we incur because of your
failure to open on time, including amounts we pay to customers whose reservations are canceled.
(Sections 2.1 to 2.6 and Exhibit B of Franchise Agreement)
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You must and must cause your lessees and your affiliates and their respective lessees to:
(a) develop, maintain and operate all Non-Hotel Components within the Mixed-Use Site (as
defined in Item 16) in accordance with quality, design and operational standards consistent with
the quality, design and operational standards applicable to the Hotel, (b) refrain from advertising,
marketing or promoting the Non-Hotel Components as being associated with or part of the Hotel,
the “The Unbound Collection by Hyatt®” brand or any other Proprietary Marks, except in
connection with the Hotel, advertisement and promotion approved pursuant to Section 5 of the
Franchise Agreement; and (c) operate the Non-Hotel Components in a way that, in our reasonable
judgment, does not damage or reflect adversely on the goodwill associated with any Proprietary
Mark.

Training

Our current required initial training program has 7 parts: the Owner Briefing, the
Owner/Operator Orientation, the General Manager University, the operations training program,
the sales/catering/revenue training program, the training programs for other Hotel personnel, and
the Pre-Opening Brand Training. Except for any optional courses that we choose to provide, all
initial training is mandatory. Our Franchise People & Learning Department administers and
directs all of our initial training in coordination with our corporate operations team. Julie Suh,
Associate Vice President, People & Learning, leads the Franchise People & Learning Department.
Julie joined us and our affiliates in 2022. She has over 20 years of experience in the
hotel/hospitality industry. We also have a staff of training professionals who conduct various
training programs. These staff members typically have at least 15 years of experience in hotel
and/or learning and development roles and at least 5 years of experience with us or our affiliates.
The System Standards, videos, charts, pamphlets, and other training aids serve as the instructional
materials for the training programs. You must pay us the fees and expenses described in Item 5
and Item 6 and you are responsible for all travel and living expenses (including travel, lodging,
food and beverage, and miscellaneous charges) for your personnel.

Owner Briefing

Your managing owner or senior operations officer must attend a briefing, either virtually
or at our corporate headquarters in Chicago, Illinois, within 6 months (for new construction hotels)
or 3 months (for conversion hotels) after signing the Franchise Agreement. Our SVP Global
Franchise Operations & Owner Relations supervises this briefing, which we hold whenever
necessary. There are no instructional materials or tasks that your managing owner or senior
operations officer must complete to our satisfaction. As of the date of this disclosure document,
this 2-day briefing takes place in a classroom or virtual setting covers the following topics:
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TRAINING PROGRAM
Owner Briefing

Hours of Hours of On the
Subject Classroom Job Training Location
Training
/An overview of our building 8 0 Chicago, Illinois, a Hyatt
process and support structure hotel location we designate,
or virtually
Total Hours — Owners Briefing 8 0

Owner/Operator Orientation

Your managing owner and senior operations officer must attend and complete to our
satisfaction the owner/operator orientation program (“Orientation”) within 6 months after signing
the Franchise Agreement for existing Brand Hotels or within 6 months after the Hotel’s opening
date for new Brand Hotels. We conduct Orientation virtually, or in person at a Hyatt hotel location
we designate or at our company headquarters in Chicago, Illinois approximately once per quarter.
As of the date of this disclosure document, this 2-day briefing takes place in a classroom or virtual
setting and covers the following topics:
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TRAINING PROGRAM
Owner/Operator Orientation

Hours of Hours of On the
Subject Classroom Job Training Location
Training
Introduction to Hyatt brands, 8 0 Chicago, Illinois, Hyatt hotel
support functions, strategy, tools, location we designate, or
and culture \virtually
FF&E, design, F&B, brand 8 0 Chicago, Illinois, Hyatt hotel
standards and purchasing location we designate, or
\virtually
Total Hours — Owners 16 0
Orientation

General Manager University

The Hotel’s proposed general manager must attend General Manager University, which
provides an overview of Hyatt’s brand requirements and the tools made available by us in support
of these requirements. General Manager University consists of self-paced eLearning, virtual and
in-person training, and a learning assessment. The self-paced eLearning and virtual components
of General Manager University must be completed at least 3 months before the Hotel’s anticipated
opening date or within 3 months of hire for general managers hired at an already opened Hyatt
hotel location. The required in-person training component is a 3-day workshop at our corporate
headquarters in Chicago, Illinois or at a Hyatt hotel location we specify, and gives the general
manager an opportunity to meet our affiliates’ personnel who will be providing training. The in-
person training component must be completed at least 3 months after the Hotel’s opening date or
within 3 months after the hiring date of each general manager for any general managers who are
hired to work at Brand Hotels that are already open and in operation as of the date that the general
manager is hired. The final learning assessment must be completed approximately 3 months after
the general manager has completed the 3-day in-person training. Our SVP Global Franchise
Operations & Owner Relations supervises this orientation, for which we maintain an ongoing
schedule adjusting to the volume of general manager hires. General managers must consistently
participate in all aspects of General Manager University in order to successfully complete it.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this training includes the following topics:

[REMAINING PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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TRAINING PROGRAM
General Manager University

Hours of Hours of On-the-
Subject Classroom Job Training Location

Training

Hyatt culture and portfolio of 20 0 Self-paced eLearning and

brands, brand expectations, \virtually

standards, key metrics and tools

Hyatt’s Loyalty Program (World 15-25 0 \Virtually, or at a Chicago,

of Hyatt) Illinois Hyatt hotel or office

\we designate
Total Hours — General 35-45 0
Managers University

Operations Training and Sales/Events/Revenue Management Training

Your Hotel’s Core Management team and other personnel we specify (as described in the
chart below) must complete various initial mandatory brand standard training courses to our
satisfaction before the Hotel’s opening. We conduct some of this training at our company
headquarters in Chicago, Illinois. Additionally, components of the training may take place at a
Hyatt hotel we designate. We conduct this training according to an annual schedule, with some
programs held quarterly or semi-annually and others held as often as necessary. In some instances,
as needed to meet your Hotel’s opening date, we may send our trainers to your Hotel to conduct
training programs that we typically hold at our headquarters. We recommend that managers and
directors who are new to their role attend the live classroom New Hire Training and complete
online training within 6 months of being hired. There are some periodic requirements that your
operational, sales/events/revenue managers must complete to our satisfaction, including eLearning
knowledge checks and assessments, and full attendance and participation in virtually-facilitated
programs.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this training includes the following topics:

[REMAINING PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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TRAINING PROGRAM

Training

Operations
Hours of Hours of On-the-
Subject Classroom Job Training Location
Training

New Hire Training - for hotel 8-16 0 Your Hotel

senior leadership positions

including but not limited to:

General Managers, Director of

Operations, Food and Beverage

Directors, Rooms Directors and/or

other senior operational leaders —

Topics include: the fundamentals

of Hyatt hotel operations, brand

standards, HySat, In-Stay

Engagement, Colleague

\Advantage, and Guest Experience

Resource Library

Hyatt’s Loyalty Program (World 4 0 Your Hotel

of Hyatt)

Operations: Hyatt’s 0 24-60 (based on Your Hotel

brand/operations training defines position help)

service and skill standards

required for hourly and

management

Reservations Managers: Central 16 0 Your Hotel, a Hyatt hotel we

reservations system training designate, Chicago, Illinois or
Virtually

Revenue Management Systems 3 0 Self-paced eLearning &

Training Facilitator-led Virtual
Classroom

System Users: Property 16-40 16 Your Hotel, a Hyatt hotel we

management system (various by designate, Chicago, Illinois or

position) Virtually

Total Hours — Operations 47-79 40-76
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TRAINING PROGRAM
Sales/Events/Revenue Management

Sales/Events/Revenue
Management Training

Hours of Hours of On-the-
Subject Classroom Job Training Location
Training
Sales Leader: Hyatt Sales 30 (completed 0 Virtually-facilitated program
Onboarding within 90 days of
hire)
Sales Leader: Sales Management 13 0 Self-paced eLearning &
Self-Paced Learning Path Facilitator-Led Virtual
Classroom
Sales Leader: World of Hyatt How 2 0 Self-paced eLearning
it Works
Hyatt Sales Skills Curriculum 10 0 Self-paced eLearning &
Facilitator-Led Virtual
Classroom
Sales Leader: Revenue 5 0 Virtually-facilitated program
Management Software Training
for Hotel General Managers &
Directors of Sales
Revenue Management Orientation 2 0 Virtually-facilitated program
Revenue Systems Training for all 50 0 Self-paced eLearning &
day-to-day users Facilitator-Led Virtual
Revenue Management Software 15 0 Self-paced eLearning
Certification (All Brand Hotels are
required to have 2 certified users)
Events: Systems Training 23 0 Self-paced eLearning &
Facilitator-Led Virtual
Total Hours — 136.5 0

Training for Other Personnel

We also offer other brand standard training programs for various Hotel personnel that a
representative from your Hotel will facilitate as often as needed. Some of these programs include
instructional materials or tasks that personnel must complete to our satisfaction, as indicated

below.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this training includes the following topics:
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Hyatt) — program completion
requires 80% correct on eLearning
knowledge test

position)

Hours of Hours of On-the
Subject Classroom Job Training Location

Training

New Hotel Orientation 4 0 Your Hotel

Department Training — Train the 0 6-12 Your Hotel

Trainer

Guest Experiences Training - 8-16 4-8 Your Hotel

including but not limited to

Creating Connections / In Stay

Engagement, GEM, Colleague

/Advantage Pre-arrival Dashboard,

Brand Experience Guide, BOB /

HyGEO, Guest Experience

Resource Library

Guest Loyalty Training (World of | 1-6 (varies by 1-4 Your Hotel

Related position systems training

4-8 (varies by

4-12 (varies by

Your Hotel — onsite and virtual

— including but not limited to position) position)
Opera, Reserve, Colleague

Advantage, Simphony

Total Hours — Other Personnel 17-34 15-36

Training for Other Personnel — Required

We also require other brand standard training programs for various Hotel personnel that a

representative from your Hotel will facilitate as often as needed.

Instructional materials are

provided, and tasks which must be completed to our satisfaction are indicated below. These
requirements are routinely updated and subject to change.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this required training includes the following

topics:
Hours of Hours of On-the-
Subject Clas§rgom Job Training L ocation

Training

\World of Hyatt Host 1-6 (varies by 0-4 Self-paced eLearning
position)

\World of Hyatt How it Works 1 0 Self-paced eLearning
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\World of Hyatt Training 6 1-2 Your Hotel

Hyatt’s Human Trafficking 1-3 0 Self-paced eLearning
Training — this program requires
annual retraining for all employees

Global Privacy Program — this 1-3 0 Your Hotel — Hotel manager to
program requires annual retraining facilitate the training

for all employees

Total Hours — Other Personnel 10-19 1-6

Pre-Opening Brand Training

For the final part of our required initial training program, we send a pre-opening team of 2
to 3 trainers (at our option) to assist with training the Hotel staff on brand standards and related
issues concerning the Hotel’s opening. You must pay us a fee and our trainers’ travel and living
expenses. The trainers arrive at or before the opening and typically stay for a minimum of 7 nights
(not including virtual training), although we may (at our option) conduct this training on more than
1 visit. There are no instructional materials or tasks that you must complete to our satisfaction.
As of the date of this disclosure document, there is no predetermined agenda for this on-the-job
training. The trainers will generally train Hotel managers and staff with aspects of day-to-day
operations, including:

o Guest services

Housekeeping and laundry efficiencies

Food and beverage

Front desk

Culinary (if applicable)

Hyatt systems, tools, and initiatives with hotel leaders

Additional, Supplemental, and Optional Training Programs During Franchise Term

If any member of the Hotel’s Core Management team or other individuals whom we
required to attend training ceases to hold that position, you (or the approved management company
or any F&B Operator) must have their replacement attend and successfully complete the applicable
mandatory brand standard training programs that we reasonably specify, some of which we
describe above, within 90 days (or a longer period we periodically designate) after assuming their
position. We may charge fees for this training, and you must pay all travel and living expenses.
If we determine that any Hotel personnel have failed to satisfactorily complete any training
program, you (or the approved management company or F&B Operator) must immediately hire a
substitute and promptly arrange for that person to complete training to our satisfaction.

We may, at the times and places we deem best, require the Hotel’s Core Management and
other personnel to participate in regional and national conventions, meetings and other brand
standard training programs that we periodically specify. For example, we may require additional
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training when major concept and repositioning changes occur in a food and beverage outlet at the
Hotel. These individuals must attend any supplemental training within the time period we
reasonably specify after you receive notice from us. We also may periodically hold an owner
convention for all or a certain group of Hyatt Hotels and/or all or certain other Hyatt Network
Hotels at a location we periodically designate. You must pay our fees for these programs and
conventions. You must pay all of your personnel’s travel, living and other expenses (including
local transportation expenses) and compensation relating to these training programs and
conventions. (Sections 3.1 and 3.4 and Exhibit B of Franchise Agreement)

In addition to our mandatory initial training programs, we also offer various optional brand
standard training courses for Hotel personnel during the Franchise Agreement’s term. We
typically update the menu of optional courses annually to address then current hotel and business
needs. These optional offerings include discounted enrollment for eCornell’s self-paced,
facilitated courses and certificate programs specifically curated for hospitality professionals. We
also make available other virtually-facilitated commercial services offerings and over 1,600 free,
multi-lingual self-paced courses via our learning platform. In addition, we periodically offer
optional instructor-led or virtual programs for a fee. You may, at your option, send Hotel personnel
to some or all of these programs if you pay our then current fees. We typically conduct optional
training programs either at our headquarters in Chicago, Illinois, at your Hotel, or at another
operating Hyatt hotel. We offer optional brand standard training programs on an ongoing basis.
100% of our new franchisees attended at least one optional brand standard training program in
2023.

Iltem 12

TERRITORY

You must operate the Hotel only from a specific site that we first approve. Your rights
under the Franchise Agreement are limited to operating the Hotel at the approved site. If all or a
substantial portion of the Hotel is condemned or suffers a casualty requiring you to close all or a
portion of the Hotel, you may relocate the Hotel to a location we approve.

Unless the Hotel is already operating in affiliation with The Unbound Collection by Hyatt®
brand, we and you will agree on the boundaries of your “Area of Protection” before signing the
Franchise Agreement. We typically define the Area of Protection’s boundaries using geographic
references (such as streets or rivers) or as a circle with the Hotel at its center. The Area of
Protection’s size will vary depending on the Hotel’s size and location. It could be as small as a
few blocks in densely-populated urban areas and up to about a 1- or 2-mile radius from the Hotel’s
entrance in less populated areas. We also will assign an “AOP Term” and list the AOP Term in
the Franchise Agreement before we and you sign it. The AOP Term is the time period during
which your rights in the Area of Protection will apply. The AOP Term begins on the effective
date of the Franchise Agreement and typically ends from 1 to 5 years after the Hotel’s opening
date.

Subject to the one exception below, neither we nor any of our affiliates will open and
operate during the AOP Term, nor authorize any other party to open and operate during the AOP
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Term, any other Brand Hotels the physical premises of which are located within the Area of
Protection. One exception to this restriction is that, during the AOP Term, if we or any affiliate
acquires ownership of or the right to operate, manage, franchise or license (regardless of the form
of transaction) another group of at least 4 hotels, one or more of which hotels are located or are
under contract or construction to be located, in the Area of Protection, then we and our affiliates
will have the unrestricted right to convert, or cause to be converted, the acquired hotel(s) within
the Area of Protection to operate in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks and the Hotel System.
We then may operate, or authorize any other party to operate, those hotel(s) as Brand Hotels, even
if one or more of the other acquired hotels, whether operating within or outside the Area of
Protection, are not converted to Brand Hotels.

If the Hotel is already operating in affiliation with The Unbound Collection by Hyatt®
brand when you sign the Franchise Agreement, you may not receive any Area of Protection or
AOP Term when signing the Franchise Agreement. We will make the determination of whether
to provide any Area of Protection based on the time during which the Hotel has operated in
affiliation with The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® brand and the market conditions under which
the Hotel operates.

Your rights in the Area of Protection apply only during the AOP Term. Following the
AOP Term, you will have no territorial rights or protection, whether within or outside the Area of
Protection, and we and our affiliates may open and operate, and authorize any other parties to open
and operate, other Brand Hotels the physical premises of which are located within the Area of
Protection, including under franchise applications submitted and/or franchise agreements and
other agreements signed during the AOP Term. Because we and others may establish and operate
one or more Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels within the Area of Protection after the
AOP Term expires, and during the AOP Term under the exception above, you will not receive an
exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets we own, or
from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

Except for the limited exclusivity provided above, your rights under the Franchise
Agreement are nonexclusive in all respects, the Hotel has no territorial protection whatsoever, and
we and our affiliates have the right without restriction to engage in all activities we and they desire
(including concerning all types of lodging facilities) at any time and place, whether or not using
the Proprietary Marks or any aspect of the Hotel System, and whether or not those activities
compete with your Hotel. We and our affiliates may use or benefit from, among other things,
common computer systems, administrative systems, reservation systems, purchasing systems, and
personnel and may provide some or all of the System Services to other Hyatt Network Hotels and
other hotels, lodging facilities and other businesses, even if they compete with the Hotel. You will
have no right to pursue any claims, demands, or damages as a result of these activities, whether
under breach of contract, unfair competition, implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing,
divided loyalty, or other theories.

You have no options, rights of first refusal or similar rights to acquire additional franchises.
Continuation of your territorial rights does not depend on your achieving a certain sales volume,
market penetration or other contingency. We may not alter your Area of Protection or territorial
rights during the AOP Term.
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There are no restrictions on where you or other Brand Hotel operators (including us and
our affiliates) may solicit customers or accept orders. We and our affiliates may use other channels
of distribution, such as the Internet, catalog sales, telemarketing, or other direct marketing, to make
sales in the Area of Protection in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks and other trademarks
without compensating you. You may use other channels of distribution, such as the Internet,
catalog sales, telemarketing, or other direct marketing, to advertise and market the Hotel outside
of the Area of Protection with our approval. Except for the CRS, you may not use the Internet or
any other method to accept reservations for the Hotel.

As described in Item 1, Hyatt Corporation and certain of its affiliates operate and/or grant
franchises for various types of hotel, resort, spa, timeshare and other lodging facilities, other
accommodations and hospitality affiliations that operate under the Hyatt® name and other trade
names. (We disclose the principal business addresses for Hyatt Corporation and some of these
affiliates, and these other trade names, in Item 1.) We share offices and/or training locations with
Hyatt Corporation and some of its other affiliates. These facilities may solicit and serve customers
located near your Hotel’s location. You should expect to find, now and in the future, facilities
identified with the Hyatt® name and/or these other trade names, and other brands that we and our
affiliates operate, franchise, or develop in the future, in your Area of Protection. These facilities
will sell goods and services similar to those that you will sell. If conflicts arise between our
franchisees and the franchisees and operators of these other facilities, we will analyze them and
take the actions (if any) that we deem appropriate. We also may (but need not) develop internal
policies for dealing with conflicts.

Item 13

TRADEMARKS

Hyatt Corporation registered the following principal Proprietary Marks on the Principal
Register of the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the “PTQO”):

Mark Registration No. Registration Date
Hyatt 945,384 October 17, 1972
World of Hyatt 5,201,881 May 9, 2017

The Unbound Collection by Hyatt 5,324,637 October 31, 2017
The Unbound Collection by Hyatt logo 5,312,290 October 17, 2017

Hyatt Corporation has made all required renewal and affidavit filings for these
registrations.

Hyatt Corporation granted us the rights to use and sublicense the Proprietary Marks under
a Trademark License Agreement dated November 1, 1993, as amended (the “Trademark License
Agreement”). That agreement has a perpetual term, subject to termination by Hyatt Corporation
for cause. Hyatt Corporation may terminate the agreement if it no longer owns a majority interest
in us, if we fail to make a required payment and do not cure the failure within 7 days after notice,
if we fail to maintain or require our sublicensees to maintain Hyatt Corporation’s prescribed
standards of quality and service and do not cure the failure within 30 days after notice, if we fail
to comply with any other provision of the agreement and do not cure the failure within 30 days
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after notice, or if we have an insolvency event and do not cure the failure within 60 days after
notice. If Hyatt Corporation terminates the Trademark License Agreement because we failed to
maintain or failed to require our sublicensees to maintain Hyatt Corporation’s standards of quality
and service, Hyatt Corporation may enter into a license with our authorized franchisees, but only
if the franchisee not in default of its franchise agreement. No other agreements significantly limit
our rights to use or license the Proprietary Marks in a manner material to the franchise.

There are no currently effective material determinations of the PTO, the Trademark Trial
and Appeal Board, any state trademark administrator or any court, and no pending infringement,
opposition or cancellation proceedings or other material federal or state court litigation, involving
the Proprietary Marks. We do not know of any superior prior rights or infringing uses that could
materially affect your use of the Proprietary Marks in any state.

You must follow our rules when using the Proprietary Marks. You (and any F&B
Operators at the Hotel) may not use the Proprietary Marks with any Hotel restaurant operations
without our prior written consent, which we will not unreasonably withhold, and complying with
all related System Standards. If we discover your unauthorized use of the Proprietary Marks, we
may require you to destroy (with no reimbursement from us) all offending items reflecting that
unauthorized use. You must notify us immediately of any apparent infringement or challenge to
your use of any Proprietary Mark, or of any person’s claim of any rights in any Proprietary Mark,
and not communicate with any person other than us, our affiliates, and our and their attorneys, and
your attorneys, regarding any infringement, challenge, or claim. We and our affiliates may take
the action we and they deem appropriate (including no action) and control exclusively any
litigation, PTO proceeding, or other proceeding arising from any infringement, challenge, or claim
or otherwise concerning any Proprietary Mark. You must sign any documents and take any other
reasonable actions that, in the opinion of our and our affiliates’ attorneys, are necessary or
advisable to protect and maintain our and our affiliates’ interests in any litigation or PTO or other
proceeding or otherwise to protect and maintain our and our affiliates’ interests in the Proprietary
Marks. We will reimburse your reasonable out-of-pocket costs for taking any requested action.

If it becomes advisable at any time for us and/or you to modify, discontinue using, and/or
replace any Proprietary Mark and/or to use one or more additional, substitute, or replacement trade
or service marks, you must comply with our directions within a reasonable time after receiving
notice. Neither we nor our affiliates will reimburse you for any costs or expenses you incur relating
to these directions, including your expenses of changing the Hotel’s signs, any loss of revenue due
to any modified or discontinued Proprietary Mark, or your expenses of promoting a modified or
substitute trademark or service mark. Our rights in this paragraph apply to any of the Proprietary
Marks (and any portion of any Proprietary Mark) that we authorize you to use.

We will reimburse you for all damages and expenses that you incur in any trademark
infringement proceeding disputing your authorized use of any Proprietary Mark if you have timely
notified us of, and comply with our directions in responding to, the proceeding. We will defend
you in the proceeding and, at our option, we and/or our affiliate(s) may defend and control the
defense of any proceeding arising from your use of any Proprietary Mark.

Even though the Hotel will feature an affiliation with The Unbound Collection by Hyatt®
name and other Proprietary Marks in the manner that we periodically specify, the Hotel will feature
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the Tradename identified in an exhibit to the Franchise Agreement as the Hotel’s primary trade
name in the manner that we periodically specify. Under the Franchise Agreement you are
representing to us that you own or have all valid rights to use the Tradename in the manner that
the Franchise Agreement contemplates and any other names, including restaurant and spa names,
that you provide to us or our affiliates (collectively, the “Outlet Names”). Throughout the term of
the Franchise Agreement, you must not use, or allow or authorize any third party to use, the
Tradename for any hotel, resort, time share, lodging facility or other accommodations, other than
the Hotel or another Brand Hotel. The Tradename and Outlet Names are not Proprietary Marks
and we make no representation concerning the validity of or your right to use the Tradename or
Outlet Names. You grant us and our affiliates the right to use the Tradename and Outlet Names
in marketing the Hotel and otherwise performing our obligations under the Franchise Agreement.

ltem 14

PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

No patents or pending patent applications are material to the franchise. We and our
affiliates claim copyright protection for the Copyrighted Materials. We have not registered these
Copyrighted Materials with the United States Copyright Office but need not do so at this time in
order to protect them. You must follow our rules when using the Copyrighted Materials. You
may use the Copyrighted Materials only as we specify to operate the Hotel under the Franchise
Agreement.

You must notify us immediately of any apparent infringement or challenge to your use of
any Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information, or of any person’s claim of any rights in
any Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information, and not communicate with any person
other than us, our affiliates, and our and their attorneys, and your attorneys, regarding any
infringement, challenge, or claim. We and our affiliates may take the action we and they deem
appropriate (including no action) and control exclusively any litigation or administrative
proceeding arising from any infringement, challenge, or claim or otherwise concerning any
Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information. You must sign any documents and take any
other reasonable actions that, in the opinion of our and our affiliates’ attorneys, are necessary or
advisable to protect and maintain our and our affiliates’ interests in any litigation or other
proceeding or otherwise to protect and maintain our and our affiliates’ interests in the Copyrighted
Materials and Confidential Information. We will reimburse your reasonable out-of-pocket costs
for taking any requested action.

We need not participate in your defense nor indemnify you for damages and expenses you
incur if you are a party to any administrative or judicial proceeding involving any Copyrighted
Materials or if the proceeding is resolved unfavorably to you. If it becomes advisable at any time
in our sole judgment for you to modify or discontinue using any of the Copyrighted Materials
and/or for you to use one or more additional or substitute copyrighted or copyrightable items, you
must immediately comply with our directions.

There are no effective material determinations of, or pending material proceedings before,
the PTO, the United States Copyright Office, or any court involving the Copyrighted Materials.
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We do not know of any infringement of the Copyrighted Materials that could materially affect
you. No agreement significantly limits our right to use or license the Copyrighted Materials.

You will sign the Confidentiality Agreement while we and you are evaluating whether to
start a franchise relationship. You must keep confidential all information concerning development
plans for particular sites or markets and information concerning our plans, strategies, operations,
processes, and System Standards, including any information in the PIP that we conduct or prepare
for your hotel. These obligations continue even if we and you do not sign a Franchise Agreement.
You must take reasonable measures to ensure that your employees, agents and advisors comply
with these restrictions and are responsible if they fail to do so. You also must promise us that our
and your discussions and, if applicable, your signing a Franchise Agreement do not violate any
laws, breach any agreements or require any consents.

We and our affiliates possess (and will continue to develop and acquire) Confidential
Information, some of which constitutes trade secrets under applicable law, relating to developing
and operating Brand Hotels. “Confidential Information” includes: (1) site selection criteria;
(2) the substance, design, and construction of Brand Hotels and the Design and Construction
Standards; (3) training and operations materials and modules; (4) methods, formats, specifications,
standards, systems, procedures, sales and marketing techniques, knowledge, and experience used
in developing and operating Brand Hotels; (5) marketing, advertising and promotional programs
for Brand Hotels; (6) Guest Information (defined below) and any information and data relating to
guests and customers of other Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (7) knowledge of
specifications for and suppliers of FF&E and other products and supplies that are uniquely
identified with Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (8) any part of the Technology
System and other computer software or other technology that is proprietary to us, our affiliates or
the Hotel System, including digital passwords and identifications and any source code of, and data,
reports, and other printed materials generated by, the software or other technology; (9) knowledge
of the operating results and financial performance of Brand Hotels other than the Hotel,
(10) graphic designs and related intellectual property; and (11) any negotiated provisions of the
Franchise Agreement and any other agreements we sign with you.

Confidential Information is proprietary and includes our and our affiliate’s trade secrets.
You (a) must not use(or allow your affiliates to use) Confidential Information in any other business
or capacity; (b) must keep confidential each item that is a part of Confidential Information, both
during and after the Franchise Agreement’s term (afterward for as long as the item is not generally
known in the hotel industry); (c) must not make unauthorized copies of any Confidential
Information disclosed via electronic medium or in written or other tangible form; and (d) must
adopt and implement reasonable procedures that we periodically specify to prevent unauthorized
use or disclosure of Confidential Information.

Confidential Information does not include information, knowledge, or know-how that you
can demonstrate lawfully came to your attention before we or our affiliate provided it to you or
your affiliate directly or indirectly; that, at the time we or our affiliate disclosed it to you, already
had lawfully become generally known in the hotel industry through publication or communication
by others (without violating an obligation to us or our affiliate); or that, after we or our affiliate
disclose it to you, lawfully becomes generally known in the hotel industry through publication or
communication by others (without violating an obligation to us or our affiliate). However, if we
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include any matter in Confidential Information, anyone who claims that it is not Confidential
Information must prove that one of these exclusions is satisfied.

All Guest Information, including Guest Information provided to or contained on the Hotel-
Specific Website, is our property and part of Confidential Information. “Guest Information”
means information and data relating to or derived from the Hotel’s guests and other customers
during the Franchise Agreement’s term, whether obtained from the guest or customer or from any
other source, including names, preferences, and other information about the guests’ or customers’
experiences and/or purchases, and including information stored in or provided to the CRS or the
Hotel’s property management system. We have the right periodically during the Franchise
Agreement’s term, without notice to you, to access the Hotel’s property management system and
other computer systems to retrieve Guest Information. We and our affiliates may use, and allow
others to use, the Guest Information in any manner that we deem appropriate (subject to applicable
law).

You may use the Guest Information, and certain other information and data relating to
guests and customers of other Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels that we periodically
specify, during the Franchise Agreement’s term only to market to and provide services to the
Hotel’s guests and potential guests in compliance with the System Standards and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations. You must ensure that your affiliates may not access, and neither you
nor any of your affiliates may use, any of that Guest Information or that other information or data
in any other business or capacity. However, following the Franchise Agreement’s expiration or
termination, you may use, and allow your affiliates and others to use, any Guest Information that
was generated at the Hotel (and that we or our affiliate did not supply to the Hotel) during the
guest’s stay at the Hotel and stored in the Hotel’s property management system database in any
manner that you deem appropriate (subject to applicable law) at your own risk, if you comply, and
ensure that any recipients of that Guest Information from you comply, with our then current
policies and procedures regarding the collection, storage, use, processing and transfer of personal
and/or financial data. If there is an actual or suspected breach of security or unauthorized access
of Guest Information or other information from the Hotel’s property management system or other
computer system database, you must notify us promptly and we may require you to use a third
party supplier we designate, at your sole cost and expense, to review and if necessary, remediate
that breach or unauthorized access. You must not take any action that could jeopardize our or our
affiliate’s ability to comply with, or make certifications under, any law, regulation, contract,
program or policy related to Guest Information (including privacy laws, privacy notices and PCI
certifications) and applicable to us or our affiliate.

You must promptly disclose to us all inventions, innovations and discoveries relating to a
Brand Hotel and based or relying upon any element of the Hotel System, including any advertising,
marketing, promotional or public relations plans, programs or materials that you or your
contractors develop for the Hotel (collectively, “Innovations”), whether or not protectable
intellectual property and whether created by or for you, your affiliates or contractors, or your or
their employees. Innovations are our or our affiliate’s sole and exclusive property, part of the
Hotel System, and works made-for-hire for us or our affiliate. You may not use any Innovation in
operating the Hotel or otherwise without our prior written consent. If any Innovation does not
qualify as a “work made-for-hire” for us or our affiliate, you assign ownership of that Innovation,
and all related intellectual property rights and other rights to that Innovation, to us and must take
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whatever action (including signing assignment or other documents) we request to evidence our
ownership or to help us obtain intellectual property rights in the Innovation.

Iltem 15

OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL
OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS

Hotel Management

Either a management company we approve, or you (if we approve you to manage the
Hotel), must at all times retain and exercise direct management control over all aspects of the
Hotel’s business and be the employer of the Hotel’s Core Management and other personnel, unless
an F&B Operator whom we approve employs the individual(s) serving as director of food and
beverage, director of catering, and/or executive chef for the Hotel. You may not enter into any
lease, management agreement, or other similar arrangement with any management company for
the management or other oversight of all or a part of the Hotel’s operation (a “Management
Arrangement”) without our prior written approval of the management company, and you may not
yourself manage the Hotel without our approval of you as the Hotel’s operator. We will not
unreasonably withhold our approval if the management company or you (as applicable) meets our
minimum qualifications and ensures that its or your personnel attend and satisfactorily complete
required brand standard training programs. If we approve a management company, as a condition
of that approval, the management company must sign the documents we require to protect our
intellectual property rights and reflect its agreement to perform its management responsibilities
and operate the Hotel in compliance with the Franchise Agreement. Our current form of
Management Company Rider is attached as Exhibit F to the Franchise Agreement.

We may refuse to approve a management company that is a Brand Owner. “Brand Owner”
means any entity that (a) is either a franchisor or owner of a Competing Brand (defined below),
(b) manages or otherwise operates hotels exclusively for the franchisor or owner of a Competing
Brand, or (c) is an affiliate of any entity described in (a) or (b) above. A “Competing Brand” is a
hotel concept that has at least 5 hotels operating under that concept’s trade name anywhere in the
world and that, in our reasonable opinion, competes with Brand Hotels. If the management
company or you (if we approve you to manage the Hotel) at any time becomes a Brand Owner,
fails to meet our minimum qualifications (as we may periodically modify them) or fails to comply
with the Franchise Agreement, the Management Company Rider, or any conditions of operator
approval that we previously imposed, then we may revoke our approval of that management
company or you as the Hotel’s manager. You then must promptly terminate the Management
Arrangement (if applicable) and either assume direct control of the Hotel’s management and
operation, if we approve you to manage the Hotel, or engage another management company we
approve.

You must ensure that all F&B Operations and all Spa Operations (if the Hotel has Spa
Operations) operate in full compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and all
applicable System Standards. You must provide, or cause the management company to provide,
all brand standard training programs to the F&B Operator and Spa Operator (if the Hotel has Spa
Operations) that we periodically specify. If the F&B Operator or Spa Operator at any time fails to
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operate in full compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and all applicable System
Standards, or fails to comply with any agreement with us, then, without limiting our other rights
and remedies under the Franchise Agreement and applicable law, we may revoke our approval of
the F&B Operator or Spa Operator (as applicable). You then must promptly terminate your
arrangement with the F&B Operator or Spa Operator and either assume (if we approve you to
manage the Hotel) or have your approved management company assume direct control of the
Hotel’s F&B Operations or Spa Operations (as applicable) or engage another approved F&B
Operator or Spa Operator we approve.

At our option, before the Hotel’s general manager is engaged, you must submit to us the
proposed candidate’s identity and qualifications. If the general manager fails to ensure that the
Hotel satisfies our quality assurance requirements and other brand standards, then we may require
you (or your approved management company) to hire a new general manager for the Hotel. You
or the management company (as applicable) is solely responsible for hiring the Core Management
and other Hotel personnel and determining the terms and conditions of their employment. You (or
your approved management company or F&B Operator) must hire and properly train all Core
Management personnel and have a Core Management team in place at the Hotel at all times. Also,
all members of the Hotel’s Core Management must spend all of their working time at the Hotel
fulfilling their management and operational responsibilities and may not concurrently maintain a
position at another lodging facility or in any other capacity related to the lodging industry.

A Core Management team who has satisfactorily completed our initial training program
must devote all of its business time to supervising the Hotel’s day-to-day operations. Your Hotel’s
general manager and other Core Management personnel need not have an equity interest in the
Hotel or in you.

Guaranty and Guarantor Monetary Threshold

We expect that only business entities, and not individuals, will sign our Franchise
Agreement. You must cause one or more of the direct and indirect owners (whether they are
individuals or business entities) of a Controlling Ownership Interest (defined below) in you which
we specify to sign the form of Guaranty and Assumption of Franchisee’s Obligations attached to
the Franchise Agreement (the “Guaranty”). Under the Guaranty, these owners must personally
guaranty all of your obligations under the Franchise Agreement and be personally bound by, and
personally liable for the breach of, every provision of the Franchise Agreement, both monetary
and non-monetary, including the confidentiality and arbitration obligations.

In addition, each owner that signs the Guaranty must agree, and you must ensure, that at
least one guarantor will satisfy the Guarantor Monetary Threshold at all times during the Franchise
Agreement’s term. The “Guarantor Monetary Threshold” means the minimum amount of total
assets less total liabilities (excluding Hotel assets and liabilities relating solely to the Hotel), each
as calculated according to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and the minimum amount
of liquid assets (consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities), that at least one
guarantor (whether an individual or an entity) must maintain at all times during the Franchise
Agreement’s term. We will determine the amount of the Guarantor Monetary Threshold as of the
Franchise Agreement’s effective date based on information we deem relevant, including the
Hotel’s size, the market in which the Hotel will operate, and our assessment of our risk or exposure
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in the transaction. We will list the initial Guarantor Monetary Threshold in Exhibit B to the
Franchise Agreement before we and you sign it. The Guarantor Monetary Threshold will increase
automatically each year of the Franchise Agreement’s term, without notice from us, effective on
the first day of the calendar month during which the Franchise Agreement’s effective date falls,
by an amount equal to the CPI Increase. The “CPI Increase” means the amount to be adjusted
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Consumer Price Index for All Urban
Consumers for All Items, which the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
publishes (the “Base Index”) as of the first day of the calendar month during which the increase is
to take effect, and the denominator of which is the Base Index in effect on the Franchise
Agreement’s effective date or used for the most recent increase (whichever is later). If the Base
Index is no longer published, we may designate another reasonably comparable index for
calculating changes in the cost of living or purchasing power for consumers. Your guarantors
must provide us on an annual basis financial statements or other documents that we reasonably
specify, which you or the guarantor certify in the manner we specify, demonstrating that at least
one guarantor satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold. You and your guarantors must
reasonably cooperate with all auditing and reporting requirements relating to the Guarantor
Monetary Threshold.

A “Controlling Ownership Interest” in you or one of your owners (if that owner is a legal
entity) means, whether directly or indirectly, either: (a) the record or beneficial ownership of, or
right to control, 50% or more of the investment capital, equity, rights to receive profits or losses,
or other rights to participate in your or the entity’s results; or (b) the effective control of the power
to direct or cause the direction of your or that entity’s management and policies, including a general
partnership interest (if the entity is a partnership) and a manager or managing member interest (if
the entity is a limited liability company), or the power to appoint or remove any party having these
powers. In addition, in the case of (a)or (b), the determination of whether a “Controlling
Ownership Interest” exists is made both immediately before and immediately after a proposed
transfer.

Iltem 16

RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

Under the Franchise Agreement, you must offer all products and provide all services that
we periodically authorize for your Hotel (including F&B Operations and Spa Operations, if
applicable) in compliance with all applicable laws and according to our quality standards. We
may change these products and services at any time, and there is no limit on this right. You may
not sell any products or perform any services at the Hotel that we have not authorized. You also
must obtain our approval of your relationship with any F&B Operator, including the restaurant
concept and the lease terms. The Franchise Agreement contains no restrictions on the customers
to whom you may provide goods and services.

If the Hotel is or will be part of a site (whether newly constructed or adapted) that is owned
or developed by you, your owner, or your affiliate (“Mixed-Use Site”), which may include, in
addition to the Hotel, any residential, retail, restaurant, commercial or public space that is located
on the same single, contiguous site as the Hotel but which operates separate from the Hotel (*Non-
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Hotel Components™), no part or portion of the Mixed-Use Site may be used to operate: (i) a
pawnshop, check-cashing business, gentlemen’s club, pornography retailer, or other sexually-
oriented business, or (ii) a package liquor store, marijuana dispensary, or gambling business,
without our prior written consent, which consent may be granted or withheld in our sole judgment,
or (iii) a bar, lounge, club or similar establishment situated within 300 feet of any part of the Hotel’s
interior footprint, whose revenues are derived more than 50% from the sale of alcoholic beverages,
without our prior written consent, which consent will not be withheld unless we reasonably
determine that the establishment might have a material negative impact on guests of the Hotel.

You will establish the Hotel’s room rates if those rates and your pricing policies comply
with System Standards (to the maximum extent the law allows). You must comply with our “best
price guarantee” and related policies, as we periodically modify them. You may not charge any
guest a rate higher than the rate that the reservations center specifies to the guest at the time the
guest makes the reservation. You may not change the number of guest rooms in the Hotel without
our consent.

Item 17
RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION
THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP

This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements.
You should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this disclosure document.

Section in franchise or

Provision

other agreement

Summary

a.

Length of the
franchise term

1.2 and 10.2 of Franchise
Agreement; 2 of
Confidentiality
Agreement; 1 of Service
Agreement for Revenue
Management Services;10
of Hosting Services
Agreement; 1 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

Franchise Agreement’s term expires 20 years
after Hotel’s opening date. If you acquire an
existing Brand Hotel from a franchisee, the
term will be the remaining term on the
selling franchisee’s agreement. Term
extends for period during which Hotel is
closed for casualty. Confidentiality
Agreement’s obligations continue for 5 years
or indefinitely for trade secrets. Service
Agreement for Revenue Management
Services’ terms expire upon the Franchise
Agreement’s termination or expiration.
Hosting Services Agreement expires when
our affiliate’s PMS license terminates or
Hotel no longer operates under a Hyatt
brand. Field Marketing Program Opt-In
Agreement terminates if the Franchise
Agreement expires or is terminated and
Hotel no longer operates under a Hyatt
brand.
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Provision

Section in franchise or
other agreement

Summary

b. Renewal or
extension of the
term

13.1 of Franchise
Agreement

If you have substantially complied with
Franchise Agreement during term, are then
fully complying, meet our then current
standards for new franchisees, have received
passing quality assurance scores during
previous 3 years, and have rights to maintain
possession of Hotel for at least 10 years, you
may acquire successor franchise for 10 years
on then current terms (which may be
materially different).

¢. Requirements for
franchisee to renew
or extend

13.1, 13.2 and 13.3 of
Franchise Agreement

Under Franchise Agreement, you must
renovate, remodel or expand Hotel and
FF&E; give us notice; sign then current form
of agreement (which may be materially
different) and ancillary documents; pay PIP
fee; and sign general releases (if state law
allows). “Renewal” means signing our then
current franchise agreement for the 10-year
successor franchise term, which could
contain materially different terms (including
fees).

d. Termination by
franchisee

1 of Service Agreement
for Revenue Management
Services; 10b of Hosting
Services Agreement; 1.a
and 1.c of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

You may not terminate the Franchise
Agreement or Confidentiality Agreement
except as the law allows. You may
terminate the Service Agreement for
Revenue Management Services with or
without cause by providing 90 days’ written
notice to us, unless we require you to sign
the agreement in connection with signing the
Franchise Agreement, in which case you
may not terminate without cause during the
first 2 years or other period we specify. You
may terminate the Hosting Services
Agreement upon our material breach if not
cured within 30 days’ following receipt of
notice, and may terminate the Hosting
Services Agreement without cause on 6
months’ notice. You may terminate the
Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
upon our material breach if not cured within
10 days following receipt of notice, and may
terminate the Field Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement without cause on 90 days’
notice but, if we required you to sign a Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement as a
condition to entering into a Franchise
Agreement with you, you may not terminate
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Provision

Section in franchise or
other agreement

Summary

the Field Marketing Program Opt-In
Agreement during the first 2 years of the
Field Marketing Program Opt-In
Agreement’s term.

e. Termination by
franchisor without
cause

1 of Service Agreement
for Revenue Management
Services; 10a of Hosting
Services Agreement; 1.a
of Field Marketing
Program Opt-In
Agreement

We may not terminate the Franchise
Agreement without cause. We may
terminate the Service Agreement for
Revenue Management Services by providing
90 days’ written notice to you. We may
terminate the Hosting Services Agreement
for any reason upon 30 days’ written notice
to you. We may terminate the Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement for
any reason upon 90 days’ written notice to
you.

f.  Termination by
franchisor with
cause

15.1 and 15.2 of Franchise
Agreement; 1 of Service
Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 6¢
of Hosting Services
Agreement; 1.c of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

We may terminate the Franchise Agreement
only if you, your guarantors, or your owners
commit any one of several violations. We
may terminate Service Agreement for
Revenue Management Services if you breach
your obligations under that Agreement. We
may terminate the Hosting Services
Agreement upon your material breach if not
cured within 30 days’ following receipt of
notice. We may terminate the Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement upon
your material breach if not cured within 10
days following receipt of notice.

g. *“Cause” defined —
curable defaults

15.1 and 15.3 of Franchise
Agreement; 1c and 10a of
Hosting Services
Agreement

Under Franchise Agreement you have 24
hours to shut down if we determine there is
serious threat or danger to public health or
safety; 10 days to cure failures to send us
real estate documents or evidence of
insurance and failures to pay amounts owed
to us or our affiliates; 30 days to cure
failures to pay taxes, develop Hotel
according to deadlines, pay Providers, and
comply with related agreements (unless
related agreement has shorter cure period)
and other defaults not listed in (h) below;
and 60 days to cure failure to ensure that at
least one guarantor satisfies the Guarantor
Monetary Threshold. Upon your default
(and after any applicable cure period), we
also may suspend your rights to use
CRS/GDS/ADS and advertising materials,
remove Hotel from advertising publications

66

The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® 2024-2025 FDD

ACTIVE\1609053275.2




Provision

Section in franchise or
other agreement

Summary

and programs and/or the Hotel System
Website, suspend or terminate fee
reductions, and/or refuse to provide support.
Under Hosting Services Agreement, if any
payment is 45 days late, or if you misuse the
PMS or related services or upon government
authority request, we may suspend services.

h. “Cause” defined - 15.2 of Franchise Bankruptcy-related events, failing to

non-curable defaults | Agreement discharge judgments exceeding $100,000,
you stop operating Hotel or identifying Hotel
with Proprietary Marks or lose possession,
you or affiliate contests ownership of or tries
to register our intellectual property,
unauthorized transfer, conviction of felony,
committing action or other offense likely to
reflect adversely on us or the Proprietary
Marks, knowingly maintaining false books
or submitting false reports, unauthorized use
or disclosure of Confidential Information,
violation of law (including trade restriction
laws), and repeated defaults.

i Franchisee’s 16 of Franchise Return confidential materials, de-identify
obligations on Agreement; 7 and 10 of Hotel, stop uses of Hotel System with F&B
termination/non-ren | gervice Agreement for Operations and Spa Operations, change
ewal Revenue Management telephone listing, stop references to

Services; 10d of Hosting association with us, stop using the Hotel

Services Agreement; 1 of website and the domain name, cancel

Field Marketing Program assumed name registrations, allow

Opt-In Agreement inspections, pay amounts owed, allow us to
contact customers, pay liquidated damages
and stop using services.

J. Assignment of 12.10 of Franchise We may transfer and change ownership or
contract by Agreement; 13 of Hosting | form without restriction. We have no further
franchisor Services Agreement; 12 obligations after transfer.

of Field Marketing
Program Opt-In
Agreement

k. “Transfer” by 12.2 of Franchise Includes transfer of any interest in Franchise

franchisee — defined | Agreement Agreement, the Hotel or substantially all of

its assets, Or you or your owners.

Franchisor approval
of transfer by
franchisee

12.2 to 12.5 of Franchise
Agreement; 12 of Hosting
Services Agreement; 13
of Field Marketing

No transfers of Franchise Agreement, the
Hosting Services Agreement, the Field
Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement, the
Hotel or its assets, or Controlling Ownership
Interests without our approval. However,
you may mortgage hotel to lender and your
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Provision

Section in franchise or
other agreement

Summary

Program Opt-In
Agreement

owners may transfer ownership interests for
estate planning purposes. Your owners may
transfer non-Controlling Ownership Interests
without our approval if transferee and its
owners (other than a small interest public
owner) are not Brand Owners or sanctioned
persons, you remain in compliance with
laws, the transfer does not through one or a
series of transactions transfer or create a
Controlling Ownership Interest, and you
notify us within 30 days after transfer.

m. Conditions for
franchisor approval
of transfer

12.4 and 12.7 of Franchise
Agreement; 8(e) of
Confidentiality
Agreement; 14 of Service
Agreement for Revenue
Management Services

Under Franchise Agreement, transferee and
owners qualify, you pay transfer fee and
other amounts owed and have complied with
Franchise Agreement, transferee’s personnel
complete training, at our option, either
transferee and owners sign then current
franchise agreement and related documents
(which may be materially different), or the
agreements and related documents that we
specify under which they assume all of your
rights and obligations under the Franchise
Agreement, you and your guarantors sign
termination and release (if state law allows),
transferee agrees to renovate, remodel or
expand Hotel and FF&E, we determine
capital structure, debt service and overall
financial status after transfer will not
adversely affect Hotel’s operation, you
remain liable, and you stop associating with
us. Neither you nor your Controlling Owner
may conduct a public offering. We may
review and comment on offering materials
for private offerings. Confidentiality
Agreement is not transferable. Service
Agreement for Revenue Management
Services is transferable only with
simultaneous transfer of Franchise
Agreement.

first refusal to
acquire franchisee’s
business

n. Franchisor’s right of

1.5 and Exhibit C of
Franchise Agreement

We only have right of first offer on transfers
of the Hotel or a Controlling Ownership
Interest in you if we and you sign ExhibitC.
We will require Exhibit C only for certain
markets that we determine are strategic to us
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Provision

Section in franchise or
other agreement

Summary

0. Franchisor’s option
to purchase
franchisee’s
business

Not applicable

Not applicable.

p. Death or disability
of franchisee

12.7 of Franchise
Agreement

Upon death or incompetence of owner of a
Controlling Ownership Interest in you or
your controlling owner, representative must
transfer to approved transferee within 6
months.

g. Non-competition
covenants during the
term of the franchise

4.2,4.10 and 4.11 of
Franchise Agreement

No covenant not to compete, but neither you
nor Hotel management company may be a
Brand Owner.

r.  Non-competition
covenants after the
franchise is
terminated or
expires

Not applicable

Not applicable.

s. Modification of the
agreement

18.5 of Franchise
Agreement; 12 of Service
Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 15
of Hosting Services
Agreement; 15 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

Only writing signed by duly-authorized
officers may modify agreement, but we may
change Hotel System, System Standards, and
System Services.

t. Integration/merger
clause

18.5 of Franchise
Agreement; 8(f) of
Confidentiality
Agreement; 12 of Service
Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 15
of Hosting Services
Agreement; 14 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

Only terms of Franchise Agreement,
Confidentiality Agreement and Service
Agreement for Revenue Management
Services are binding (subject to state law).
Any representations or promises made
outside of the disclosure document and those
agreements may not be enforceable.

u. Dispute resolution
by arbitration or
mediation

14.1 of Franchise
Agreement; 12 of Service
Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 15
of Hosting Services
Agreement; 11 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

We and you must arbitrate all disputes at a
location the arbitrator chooses within 10
miles of our then current principal business
address (currently Chicago, Illinois).
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Section in franchise or

Provision other agreement Summary
v.  Choice of forum 14.3 of Franchise Subject to arbitration obligation and state
Agreement; 12 of Service | law, litigation generally must be in our home
Agreement for Revenue state (currently Illinois).

Management Services; 15
of Hosting Services
Agreement; 11 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

w. Choice of law 14.2 of Franchise Except for Federal Arbitration Act and other
Agreement; 8C of federal law, and subject to state law, Illinois
Confidentiality law applies.

Agreement; 12 of Service
Agreement for Revenue
Management Services; 15
of Hosting Services
Agreement; 11 of Field
Marketing Program Opt-
In Agreement

Item 18

PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchise.

Iltem 19

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

The FTC’s Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or
potential financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a
reasonable basis for the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document.
Financial performance information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only
if: (1) a franchisor provides the actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or
(2) a franchisor supplements the information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing
information about possible performance at a particular location under particular circumstances.

Characteristics of Covered Hotels

As of December 31, 2023, there were 17 Brand Hotels operating in North America, which
we define as the U.S. and Canada. 14 of these Brand Hotels (the “Covered Hotels™) operated
during all of 2023 while the other 3 opened or became affiliated with the “Unbound” name during
2023. No Brand Hotels were excluded from the group of Covered Hotels because they closed
during 2023. All of the financial performance representations (“FPRs”) in this Item 19 relate to

70
The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® 2024-2025 FDD
ACTIVE\1609053275.2



the results during the period from January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023 for the 14 Covered
Hotels or a defined subset of the Covered Hotels. When we use the term “Gross Rooms Revenue”
in this Item 19, it has the definition listed in Item 6.

The Covered Hotels are similar in size and services offered to the Brand Hotels that we
expect franchisees will develop. The Covered Hotels operate in a mix of urban and suburban sites.
The Covered Hotels had operated under an affiliation with the “The Unbound Collection by Hyatt”
brand for an average of 7.4 years as of December 31, 2023. Some of the Covered Hotels converted
from another system or were independent hotels and therefore had an existing marketing and
customer base before becoming affiliated with the “The Unbound Collection by Hyatt” brand. The
average number of rooms at the Covered Hotels is 208, with 339 as the highest room count and
119 as the lowest room count. The Covered Hotels operate throughout the United States and
Canada and are generally not concentrated in specific regions or markets. During 2023, 84.6% of
the reservations at the Covered Hotels were for 1 to 4 nights, 14.1% were for 5 to 11 nights, 1.2%
were for 12 to 29 nights, and 0.1% were for 30 or more nights.

We classify the Covered Hotels as Franchised Covered Hotels and Owned/Managed
Covered Hotels. “Franchised Covered Hotels” are the 8 Covered Hotels that franchisees own and
operate. Some of these Franchised Covered Hotels might be joint ventures in which our affiliate
owns less than 50% of the ownership interest. “Owned/Managed Covered Hotels” are the 6
Covered Hotels in which our affiliate owns at least a 50% interest or that our affiliate manages for
a third party. The results of operations for Owned/Managed Covered Hotels that we manage for
third parties are not materially different from the results of operations of other similarly situated
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels.

First FPR: Hyatt Statistics for Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate and RevPAR

“Occupancy Rate” is the total number of room nights sold for a hotel during 2023 divided
by the total number of available room nights for that hotel during 2023. To calculate the average
Occupancy Rate for all Covered Hotels (or a subgroup of Covered Hotels), we divided the total
number of room nights sold for all Covered Hotels (or that subgroup) by the total number of
available room nights for those hotels.

“Average Daily Rate” is the Gross Rooms Revenue for a hotel during 2023 divided by the
total number of room nights sold for that hotel during 2023. To calculate the Average Daily Rate
for all Covered Hotels (or a subgroup of Covered Hotels), we divided the aggregate Gross Rooms
Revenue for the Covered Hotels (or that subgroup) by the total number of room nights sold for
those hotels.

“RevPAR,” or revenue per available room, is the Gross Rooms Revenue for a hotel during
2023 divided by the total number of available room nights for that hotel during 2023. To calculate
the RevPAR for all Covered Hotels (or a subgroup of Covered Hotels), we divided the aggregate
Gross Rooms Revenue for the Covered Hotels (or that subgroup) by the total number of available
room nights for those hotels.
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Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate and RevPAR for 2023

Average Average
Occupancy | Average Daily RevPAR

# Rate Rate
Franchised Covered Hotels 8 62.8% $254.55 $159.81
a‘(’)vtgff’ Managed Covered 6 65.9% $350.25 $230.69
All Covered Hotels 14 64.1% $295.34 $189.19

The table below reflects the highest, lowest and median Average Occupancy Rate, Average
Daily Rate and Average RevPAR of the Covered Hotels, and the number and percentage of
Covered Hotels whose results exceeded the averages in the table above.

Statistics for Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate and RevPAR for 2023

Occupancy Rate Average Daily Rate RevPAR
#/% #/% #/%
High / Exceeding High / Exceeding High / Exceeding
Low Median | Average Low Median Average Low Median | Average
Franchised | 75 5o4 ) $303.87/ $208.01/
! 0 0, ' 0, : 0,
Covered 36.5% 65.6% 6/75% $197.42 $237.31 3/37.5% $72.12 $165.79 4/ 50%
Hotels
Owned /
Managed 76.1%/ 0 0 $698.13 / 0 $391.56 / 0
Covered 56.1% 66.7% 3/50% $218.93 $294.56 2/33.3% $153.49 $212.42 | 2/33.3%
Hotels
All
76.1% / 0 0 $698.13 / 0 $391.56 / 0
ﬁg\t/;ged 36.50% 65.6% 9/64.3% $197.42 $275.50 4] 28.6% $72.12 $184.70 7/50%

Second FPR: Market Share/Smith Travel Indices

Smith Travel Research, Inc. (“Smith Travel”) is an independent research company that
compiles and analyzes data in the lodging and travel industries. Most major hotels, including
Brand Hotels, report information to Smith Travel that it uses in its analysis and reporting. First,
Smith Travel determines a hotel’s market area using Metropolitan Statistical Areas (“MSAS”), a
group of MSAs or a group of counties. Then Smith Travel and the reporting hotel determine the
competitive set for each reporting hotel based on a number of competitive characteristics,
including room count, services and amenities offered, and pricing. Smith Travel then attempts to
ensure some variation among the brands included in the competitive set. Smith Travel excludes
from the competitive set some hotels that do not report information, and in some cases excludes
hotels (some of which are Brand Hotels) that do report information. While Smith Travel does not
fully explain the reasons for its decision to exclude reporting hotels, typically Smith Travel will
exclude hotels that are open less than one full year, hotels that do not have at least 3 other hotels
in the competitive set in the market area, market areas where a single brand exceeds 40% of the
competitive set, and market areas where a single hotel company’s hotels comprise more than 60%
of the competitive set.
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Among the data that Smith Travel reports are indices that represent a particular hotel’s
performance relative to its competitive set. These indices reflect Smith Travel’s calculation of the
“fair share” of the particular metric that each hotel captures relative to the competitive set. An
index of 100 means a hotel is capturing a fair share compared to the competitive set. An index
greater than 100 represents more than a fair share of the competitive set’s performance, and an
index below 100 reflects less than a fair share of the competitive set’s performance. In calculating
its indices, Smith Travel uses a portfolio weighting system to adjust the particular hotel’s number
of available rooms to the competitive set’s number of available rooms.

Smith Travel compiled the information on the Covered Hotels that we use for this second
FPR. “Occupancy Rate Index,” “Rate Index” and “RevPAR Index” for a hotel mean, respectively,
the hotel’s Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate or RevPAR (as applicable) divided by the
Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate or RevPAR (as applicable) for all hotels in the competitive
set, multiplied by 100. Smith Travel calculated the average Occupancy Rate Index, average Rate
Index and average RevPAR Index for all Covered Hotels during 2023 using the same methodology
that we used for calculating average Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate, and average RevPAR
that we described above.

Smith Travel Occupancy Rate Index, Travel Rate Index, and RevPAR Index for 2023

Average Average Average
Occupancy Travel Rate RevPAR
# Rate Index Index Index
Franchised Covered Hotels 8 95.8 95.2 91.4
Owned/Managed Covered 6 924 110.4 99.4
Hotels
All Covered Hotels 14 04.2 102.3 95.2

The table below reflects the highest, lowest and median Smith Travel Occupancy Rate
Index, Travel Rate Index and RevPAR Index of the Covered Hotels, and the number and
percentage of Covered Hotels whose results exceeded the averages in the table above.

Statistics for Smith Travel Occupancy Rate Index, Travel Rate Index and RevPAR Index

for 2023
Occupancy Rate Index Travel Rate Index RevPAR Index
#/% #/% #/%
High / Exceeding High / Exceeding High / Exceeding
Low | Median | Average Low | Median | Average Low Median | Average
Franchised 106.4 / 0 114.8/ 0 12221 0
Covered Hotels 821 97.2 6/75% 816 98.7 4/ 50% 79.1 91.5 4/ 50%
Owned/Managed | 112.5/ 0 111.3/ 0 1215/ 0
Covered Hotels 828 106.6 4166.7% 915 107.0 1/16.7% 876 105.5 4/66.7%
All 112.5/ 0 114.8/ 0 122.2/ 0
Covered Hotels 821 100.6 10/71.4% 816 104.4 9/64.3% 79.1 98.6 8/57.1%

Smith Travel developed the methodologies, collected the information and calculated the
indices referenced in these financial performance representations. We did not do so. We
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developed the explanations of how Smith Travel collects information and calculates indices based
on publicly-available information and our conversations with Smith Travel’s representatives, but
we cannot confirm whether Smith Travel’s information or methodology is accurate. We are
relying on Smith Travel in reporting this information.

Third FPR: World of Hyatt Program Contribution

World of Hyatt is the frequent guest loyalty program that Hyatt Corporation maintains. It
covers all Hyatt Network Hotels.

This third FPR covers the average revenue that Covered Hotels (or a subset of Covered
Hotels) received from World of Hyatt members during 2023 and the average percentage and
number of room nights that World of Hyatt members occupied at Covered Hotels (or a subset of
Covered Hotels) during 2023.

World of Hyatt Revenue, Occupancy Percentage and Occupied Room Nights for 2023

Average % Average #
Average % WOH- WOH-

Revenue from Occupied Occupied

# WOH Room Nights | Room Nights
Franchised Covered Hotels 8 52.4% 48.6% 23,791
Owned/Managed Covered 6 37 7% 515% 24,968
Hotels

All Covered Hotels 14 43.3% 49.9% 24,295

averages in the table above.

The table below reflects the highest, lowest and median revenue from World of Hyatt
members and percentage and number of room nights that World of Hyatt members occupied at
Covered Hotels, and the number and percentage of Covered Hotels whose results exceeded the

Statistics for World of Hyatt Revenue, Occupancy Percentage and Occupied Room Nights

for 2023
% WOH-Occupied Room # WOH-Occupied Room Nights
% Revenue from WOH Nights
#1% #1% #1%

High/ Exceeding High / Exceeding High / Exceeding

Low Median | Average Low | Median | Average Low Median | Average

Franchised 61.8%/ 0 0 55.3% / 0 0 36,916 / 0
Covered Hotels 30.7% 51.3% 4/ 50% 36.8% 49.8% 6/75% 13.943 21,415 | 3/37.5%

Owned/Managed | 45.3% / 0 0 61.4%/ 0 0 37,786 / 0
Covered Hotels 30.4% 36.5% 2/33.3% 41.8% 52.7% 3/50% 17,028 21,015 | 2/33.3%

All 61.8% / 0 0 61.4% / 0 0 37,786/ 0
Covered Hotels 30.4% 44.4% 8/57.1% 36.8% 49.8% 7/50% 13,943 21,015 | 5/357%
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Additional Information: Reservation Channel Mix

Brand Hotels receive reservations from a number of different sources or “reservation
channels.” The table below describes average split of Gross Rooms Revenue for Covered Hotels
(or a subset of Covered Hotels) during 2023 from Direct Channels and Indirect Channels, as we
define these terms below.

Direct Channel Indirect Channel
# Contribution Contribution
Franchised Covered Hotels 8 66.0% 34.0%
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels 6 71.0% 29.0%
All Covered Hotels 14 68.5% 31.5%

The “Direct Channels” consist of:

e the electronic rooming list, which are reservations originating from the Hyatt Group’s
proprietary group rooming list software tool,;

e GPGS, which are reservations made through the global property and guest services centers
that the Hyatt Group operates. These centers field voice calls routed from Hyatt Network
Hotels and from the Hyatt Group’s toll-free reservations phone number; and

e Hyatt.com, which are reservations originating from the reservation tools on the Hotel
System Website and any Hyatt-branded website or mobile app (such as the World of Hyatt

app).
The “Indirect Channels” consist of:

e GDS, which are reservations originating from the global distribution system that travel
agencies use, including business that our affiliate’s group sales/national accounts teams
negotiate; and

¢ Indirect Internet, which are reservations originating from third-party online travel agencies
(as we determine them) with whom the Hyatt Group has a distribution agreement.

Comments to All Financial Performance Representations

Prospective franchisees and sellers of franchises should be advised that no certified public
accountant has audited any of the figures in these financial performance representations nor
expressed their opinion concerning their contents or form. We will provide written substantiation
for all of these financial performance representations upon your reasonable request. Except for
the Smith Travel figures, we derived these figures based on our and our affiliates’ internal
unaudited financial information, and no third party has independently investigated the figures.

The figures contained in these financial performance representations do not reflect the costs
of sales, operating expenses, or other costs or expenses that must be deducted from the revenue
figures to obtain net income or profit. You should conduct an independent investigation of the

75
The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® 2024-2025 FDD
ACTIVE\1609053275.2




costs and expenses you will incur in operating a Brand Hotel. Franchisees or former franchisees,
listed in this disclosure document, may be one source of this information.

Your results will depend on many factors, including the size, age and condition of your
Hotel; the services and amenities your Hotel offers; the quality of the service at the Hotel; the
market for lodging in your Hotel’s area, including whether the Hotel is near an airport, vacation
destination, central business district or other features that attract travelers; general economic
conditions; relationships with other businesses near the Hotel; competition; seasonality and
weather; pricing; and your sales and marketing effectiveness. These and other factors will
significantly impact the results that a Brand Hotel can expect to achieve.

Some hotels have sold or earned this amount. Your individual results may differ.
There is no assurance that you’ll sell or earn as much.

Other than the preceding financial performance representations, we do not make any
financial performance representations. We also do not authorize our employees or representatives
to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an existing
outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any
other financial performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it
to the franchisor’s management by contacting Jim Chu, our Chief Growth Officer, at 150 North
Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606, (312) 750-1234, the Federal Trade Commission, and the
appropriate state regulatory agencies.

Item 20

OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

All numbers appearing in the tables below are as of December 31 in each year. In Item 20
we include both The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels that our affiliates own and operate,
and The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels that our affiliates manage for third-party owners
under management agreements, as “company-owned” The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels.
We count The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels in which our affiliates have at least a 50%
equity interest in the hotel’s ownership entity as “company-owned” hotels that our affiliates own
and operate for purposes of the tables (regardless of the type of agreement governing the hotel’s
operation). Our affiliates owned and operated 2 The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels as of
December 31, 2021, 0 The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels as of December 31, 2022, and
0 The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels as of December 31, 2023. Our affiliates manage the
remaining “company-owned” The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® Hotels for third-party owners.
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Table No. 1

Systemwide Outlet Summary

For years 2021 to 2023
Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5
Outlet Type Year Outlets at the Outlets at the Net Change
Start of the Year | End of the Year
Franchised 2021 4 4 0
2022 4 6 +2
2023 6 8 +2
Company-Owned 2021 7 7 0
2022 7 7 0
2023 7 8 +1
Total Outlets 2021 11 11 0
2022 11 13 +2
2023 13 16 +3
Table No. 2
Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor)
For years 2021 to 2023
Column 1 Column 2 Column 3

State Year Number of Transfers

Tennessee 2021 0

2022 0

2023 1

Total 2021 0

2022 0

2023 1
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Table No. 3

Status of Franchised Outlets
For years 2021 to 2023

Col. 1

State

Col. 2

Year

Col. 3

Outlets
at Start
of Year

Col. 4

Outlets
Opened

Col.5

Terminations

Col. 6

Non-Renewals

Col. 7

Reacquired

by
Franchisor

Col. 8

Ceased
Operations
Other
Reasons

Col.9

Outlets

at End
of the
Year

California

2021

0

2

2022

2023

Louisiana

2021

2022

2023

Missouri

2021

2022

2023

New York

2021

2022

2023

Oklahoma

2021

2022

2023

Philadelphia

2021

2022

2023

Tennessee

2021

2022

2023

Totals

2021

2022

2023
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Table No. 4

Status of Company-Owned Outlets

For years 2021 to 2023

Col. 1

State

Col. 2

Year

Col. 3

Outlets at
Start of
the Year

Col. 4

Outlets
Opened

Col. 5

Outlets
Reacquired
From
Franchisee

Col. 6

Outlets
Closed

Col. 7

Outlets Sold
to Franchisee

Col. 8

Outlets at
End of the
Year

Arizona

2021

0

2022

2023

California

2021

2022

2023

Florida

2021

2022

2023

Ilinois

2021

2022

2023

Missouri

2021

2022

2023

New York

2021

2022

2023

Pennsylvania

2021

2022

2023
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Col. 1 Col. 2| Col. 3 Col. 4 Col. 5 Col. 6 Col. 7 Col. 8
State Year Outlets at| Outlets Outlets Outlets | Outlets Sold | Outlets at
Start of | Opened | Reacquired Closed |[to Franchisee|End of the
the Year From Year
Franchisee
Texas 2021 1 0 0 0 0 1
2022 1 0 0 0 0 1
2023 1 0 0 0 0 1
Totals 2021 7 0 0 0 0 7
2022 7 0 0 0 0 7
2023 7 2 0 0 1 8
Table No. 5
Projected Openings As Of December 31, 2023
Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4
State Franchise Agreements Projected New Projected New
Signed But Outlet Not | Franchised Outlet In  |Company-Owned Outlet
Opened The Next Fiscal Year | In the Next Fiscal Year
California 1 0
Pennsylvania 1 0
Total 2 0

Exhibit H is a list of Brand Hotel franchisees as of December 31, 2023 and the addresses
and telephone numbers of each of their outlets. Exhibit I reflects the franchisees that had an outlet
terminated, canceled, transferred, or not renewed or otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased
to do business under our Franchise Agreement during our most recent fiscal year. No franchisee
has failed to communicate with us within 10 weeks before this disclosure document’s issuance

date.

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when

you leave the franchise system.

As of the issuance date of this disclosure document, no franchisees have signed
confidentiality clauses that restrict them from discussing with you their experiences as a franchisee
in our franchise system during our last 3 fiscal years, and there are no trademark-specific

franchisee organizations associated with the Brand Hotel franchise system.
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Item 21

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached to this Disclosure Document as Exhibit A are the audited consolidated financial
statements of our parent company, Hyatt Hotels Corporation, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022
and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Hyatt Hotels Corporation absolutely and unconditionally guarantees the performance of
our obligations to franchisees under the Franchise Agreement. The Guarantee of Performance also

is included in Exhibit A.

Item 22

CONTRACTS

The following agreements are attached as exhibits to this disclosure document:

Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit G
Exhibit J
Exhibit K
Exhibit L
Exhibit M
Exhibit N

Franchise Application

Franchise Agreement

Confidentiality Agreement

Hosting Services Agreement

Comfort Letter

Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement

Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services

State-Specific Riders to agreements, including form of release used
upon renewal or transfer

Item 23

RECEIPTS

Our and your copies of the Franchise Disclosure Document Receipt are the last 2 pages of

this disclosure document.
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EXHIBIT A

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Hyatt Hotels Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hyatt Hotels Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the
"financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the cumrent-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments, The communication of critical andit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on
the accounts or disclosures to which it relates,

Deferred Revenue Related to the Loyalty Program — Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company operates the loyalty program for the benefit of the Hyatt portfolio of properties during the period of their participation in the loyalty program.
The Company's estimate of the value of the deferred revenue liability related to the loyalty program ("the liability") is $1,130 million as of December 31,2023
and is actuarially determined based on the anticipated timing and value of future point redemptions, including an estimate of the breakage for points that will
not be redeemed. Changes in the estimates used in the determination of the liability could result in a material change to the liability.

Given the subjectivity of the Company's breakage assumption, performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of this estimate involved a higher
degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our actuarial specialists in performing audit procedures over the
Hability.
How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the liability included the following, among others:

«  Wetested the effectiveness of the Company's controls related to the liability, including those over the estimation of the breakage assumption.

¢ We tested the underlying data that served as the basis for the actuarial estimate, including points earned and redemptions, to test that the inputs to the
actuarial estimate were reasonable.

»  With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we developed independent estimates of the liability and compared our estimates to management's
estimate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 23, 2024

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2003.
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HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021
(In millions of dallars, except per share amounts)

REVENUES:
Owned and leased hotels
Management, franchise, license, and other tees
Contra revenue
Net managenient, franchise, license, and ather fees
Distribution and destination management
Other revenues

Revenues for the reimbursement of costs ineurred on behal £ of managed and Franchised propertics

‘Jotal rovenues

DIRECT AND SELLING, GENERAL, AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES:

Owned and leased holels =

Distribution and destination management

Depreciation and amortization

Other direct costs

Sclling, general, 4ud administeative

Cosls incuered on behall of managed and franchised propertics

Direct and selling, general, and adminisiralive expenses

Net pains losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts
Equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures
Interest expense
Gains on sales of veal estate and other
Asset impairments
Other income (Joss), net
INCOMT. BEFORT INCOMT: TAXTS
BENEFIT (PROVISION) FOR INCOME TAXES
NET TNCOMT: (1.088)
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRTBUTABLE TO TTYATT TIOTELS CORPORATION
EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER SHARE—Basic
Net income (loss)
Net income {loss) attriburable to [lyatt 1{otels Corporation
EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER SHARE—Diluted
Net income (foss)
Net income (loss) attributable to [Tyatt Tlotels (fm'boi‘dﬁnn

Sce accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements,

2023 2022 2021
8 1339 § 1235 8 838
985 808 418
4" (3n (35)

938 777 383

1,032 986 s

300 273 109

3,058 2,620 1,583

6,667 5.891 3,028

1,022 916 725

848 775 12

397 426 310

336 280 127

615 464 366

3,144 2,632 1,639

6,362 5,493 3,279

55 (75) 43

0 5 28

(145) (150) (163)

18 263 414

(30) (3% ®)

108 (40) (19

310 363 44

(90) 92 (266)

220 155 222)

$ 20 3 455 8§ (222)
s 210 % 417 S (2.13)
S 210§ 417 8 (2.13)
] 205§ 409 8 (2.13)
S 205 § 409 S .13)
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HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021

(In millions of dollars)

2023 2022 2021
Net income (Joss) : § 220 S 455 (222)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

Foreign currency translation adj ustments, net of tax of $(3), $—, and S1 for the years ended December 31, 2023,

December 31, 2022, and Decermnber 31, 2021, respeetively 46 4 61y

Available-for-sale debt securities unrealized fair value adjustments, net of tax of $(4), S4, and $— tor the years ended

Deeember 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, xespeclively 15 10) 2)

Derivative instrument adjustments, nel of tax of (1), $(1), and $— for the ycars cnded December 31, 2023, December

3L, 2022, and December 31, 2071, respectively ; g [ § 7

Pension liabilities adjustments, net of tax of $—, 5(1), and S—for the yeurs ended December 31, 2023, December 31,

2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively — 4 k}
Other comprehensive income (loss) 67 3 (33)
COMPREIIENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 287 458 (275)
COMPRLITENSIVE INCOME (1.0S8S) ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONC ONTROLLING INTLRESTS —_ — —
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1.08S) AU'TRIBUTABLE '1'O HYAT'L' HOTELS CORPORATTON $ 287 S 458 (275)

See accompanying Notes (o consolidaled [inancial statements.
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HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022
(In millions of dollars, except share and per share ameunts)

2023 2022
'ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

" Cash and cash equivalents 8 88§ 991
Restricied cash 34 39
Short-term investmeats 15 158
Reecivables, net of allowences of $50 and $63 at December 31, 2023 and Decernber 31, 2022, respectively RR3 R34
Inventorics ) 9
Prepaids and other assels 193 180
Prepaid income taxes 51 19
Assets held for sale 62 —_

‘Total current asyels 2,130 2.250
Tiquity method investments 211 178
Property and equipment, net 2,340 2384
Financing receivables, net of allowances of $42 and $44 at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 73 60
Operating lease right-ot-use assers 369 385 .
Goodwill 3,205 3.101
Intangibles, net 1,670 1.668
Deferred tax assets 358 257
Othcr asscls 2,477 2,029
TOTAT. ASSETS S 12,833 § 12,312
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRLNT LTABILITIT.S:
Current macarities of lang=term debt S 751§ 660
Accounts payable 193 500
Acerued expenscs and other cusrent liahilitics 468 415
Cwrent contract liabilities T ,5‘)8‘ 1438
Accrued comipensction and benetits 210 235
Current operating, lease Habilities 11 39
Liabilities helc for sale 17 Sy
Tolal current. liabiliticy 3,578 3,287
1.ong=term debt 2,305 2,453
Longaterin contract liabilities 1,759 1,495
T.ongderm aperating fcase liabilitics 273 298
Other long-term liabilities 1,351 1,077
Total liubilitics 9,266 8,610
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 15)
BQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, 10,000,000 shares authorized and none outstanding at both December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 — —
Class A common stock, $0,01 par valuc per share, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 44,275,818 issued and owtstanding at Decombur 31, 2023, and
Class B common stack, $0.01 par vatue per share, 390,751,535 shares autharized, 58,757,123 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023.
Class A commmon stock, $0.01 par value pur share, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 47,482,787 issued and outstunding af Decanber 31, 2022, and
Class B common stock, $0.01 par valuc per sharc, 390,912,161 shares authorized, 58,917,749 sharcs issucd and outslanding al December 31, 2022 1 1
Additional paid<a capital —_ 318
Retained eamings 3,738 3,622
g e cbln;ﬁfchbcli;i"\;i: T T —— AR EiEs R i 75 247)
Tota! stackhalders' equity 3,561 3,699
Noncontrolling interests in conzolidated subsidiaries 3 3
Total equity i 1,567 3,702
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY S 12,833 § 12312

Scc accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statcments.
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HYAT'T HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021
(In millions of dollars)

2023 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) 13 20008 435 S 227
Adjustments to reconcile nel income (Toss) (o nel cash provided by operating activities:
Gaing on sales ol real estate and other (18) (263) “14)
Depreciation und amortization 397 426 310
Amortization ol sharc awards 75 v T el )
Amortivation of operaling lease righi-ofuse asscls 12 35 27 -
Deferred inecome taxes (125) (259) 200
Assel impairmacnts 30 a8 8
Cquity (canl»inbgs) Josses lrom unconsolicated haspitality ventures 1 5 (28)
Conlra revenuc 47 i KR
T.oss on extingruishment of debt —_ 9 2
Unrealized (gains) losses, net (36) 55 (1)
Distributions rom uncomsolidated hospitality ventures 9 16 2
Contingen! consideration liability fair value adjustment 9 — —
Other (54) ©2) (38)
Tnerease (decrease) in cash allributable Lo changes in asgets and liabilitics ]
Reecivables, net — (209) (85)
Prepaid income taxcs (24) 2 255
Prepaids and other assers (66) (114 (54)
Other long-ern agsels (52) (1o (10
Accounts payaiale, accruec exy'\enseé‘ and ather current liabilities ' ' ('Z‘)j 96 87
Contract liabilities 492 491 213
Opcratmg lease Habilitics (43) 35 25)
Accrued compensation and henefits (22) 46 33
Other long-érm liabilities o S (1 3) ' —_ (25)
Other, nct — o= M
el cash provided by operaling activitics 3 F0. S Sz 318
(Continued)

See accompanying Notes to consolidated [inancial statements.
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HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARTES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021

(In millions of dollars)

2023 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACIIVILLES:
Purchuses of murketable sccurities und short-lerm investments b1 (483) § (952) (793)
Proceeds from marketable securities and short-term investments 576 1.060 1,240
Contribulions lo cquity method and other investments @3 ) 9)
Retum of equity method and other investments 7 54 94
Acquisilions, net of cash acquired 175) (174) (2.916)
Capilal cxpendinaey (198) (201) (111
Issuance of inancing reecivables “43) 25 1)
Proceeds from finuncing receivables L L7 7
Procceds from sales of real estale and ofher, net of cash disposed (10) 625 758
Other invesimg gclivitics 3 20 ®)
Net cash provided by (used in) i'nvcsling' activitics (365) 416 (1.772)
CASII FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITINS:
Praceeds fiom debt, net of issuance costs of S4, $— and S11, respectively 596 —_ 1,949
Repayments and repurchases of' deht (660) L {1,218)
Repurchases of camman stock (453) (369) —
Praceeds [fom issuance of Class A comnion stock, net of ofTering costs of S— §—; and $25, respeetively —_— —_ 575
Ltilization of restricted cash for legal deteasance of Series 2003 Bonds ' - [ () o
Dividends paid “n —_ =
Other financing activitics (14) (18) (L8)
Nat eash provided by (used in) linancing activilics 6] 73_) (1,106) 1,288
LFFT.CT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH @) 18 3)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASII, CAS11 EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASIL, INCLUDING CAS1], CASII
EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASII CLASSIFIED WITIIIN CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (145) 2 (amn)
CASII, CASIT CQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASII RECLASSIFIED TO ASSETS IICLD FOR SALE 3) - —
NF.T INCREASF. (DRCRFASE) IN CASIT, CASII EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASII (148) 2 172)
CASII, CASI EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASI—BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,067 1,065 1,237
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH—END OF YEAR : $ 919 1,067 1,065
(Continued)

Scc accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statcments.
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HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021
(In millions of dollars)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

2023 2022 2021
Cash and cash cquivalents R B e e o e Fitasn S 881 3% ECL 960
Restricted cash 34 39 51
Restricted cash ineluded in wther assets (see Note 10) 4 37 48
‘Total cash, cash equivilents, and restricted cash S 919§ 1,067 S 1,065
2023 2022 2021
Cash paid during the period for interest $ £ L] 138 3 145
Cash paid (received) during the period for incoms raxes, net $ 153 S 101§ (210

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities $ 54 S 47 3 41

Non-cash iavesting aad financing activities are as follows:
Chunge in accrued capital expenditures $ 9 S [SH: S 2
Noncash contributions to equity method and other investments (see Note 4, Note 7, Note 15) % 4 S — 3§ 61
Nonecash issuance of financing reccivables (see ot 7) % —_ 8 —_ § 11
Non-cash right-ofsuse assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 6 S 25§ 16
Nons=cash legal defeasanee of Series 2005 Bonds (sce Nule 7) $ et 166§ —_
Non=cash reduction in right=ofeuse asscts and operating lease liabilitics for lease reassessment 4 T 13§ s
Non~cish held-to-maturity debl security reccived (see Note 7) 3 A 19 § =
Nonscash repurchases of conmunon stock (see Note 16) 3 —_ S 9 3 =
Non=cash contingent consideration liability assumed in acquisition (see Note 7) 3 107 S =iy s
Non=cash contingent consideration receivable recorded in disposition (see Note /) 3 28 S —_— 5 —
Non=cash redemption of held=to=maturity debt security in exchange for equity method investment (seo Nore 4) [ 32 S AT geat;
Non=cash redemprion of financing reccivablos [3 20 S — =
Non=cash dividends deelared (see Note 16) $ RS — 5 —

{Concluded)

Sce accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements,
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BALANCE—Jannary 1, 2021
Total comprehensive loss
Lmployee stock plan issuance
Share=hased payment activity
Class share conversions
Issuance of Class A common stock
BALANCE—Dcecmber 31, 2021
Total comprehensive income
Repurchases of commmon stock
Liability for repurchuses of common
slock (f)
Employes stock plan issuance
Share-based payment activity
Clusy shire conversions
BALANCE—Deceruber 31,2022
‘Total comprehensive income
Repurchases of common stock (2)
Employee stock plan issuance
Share-based payment activity
Cash dividends declared of 50.15 per
sharc (see Nowe 16) (3)
Class share conversions
BALANCE—December 31,2023

HYAT'T HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021
(In millions cxcept share and per share amounts)

Noncontirolling

Common Stock Additienal Retained Accumulated Other in g:;i;‘le?(g:ted
Common Shares Outstanding Amount Paid-in Capital Exrnings Comprchensive Loss Subsidiarics Total
Class A Class B Class A Cluss B
39,250,241 62,038,918 § 1§ — 5 13 § 3,38 S (192) % 3 S 3214
i — — — — (22) (§3) — 275)
46,311 e S = 4 = A jaks 4
589,851 — — — 48 — —_ — 48
2,385,647 (2.385,647) clls Sl ik i i B T
8,050,000 — — — 575 —_— —_ —_ 575
50,322,050 59,653,271 % 1§ — S 640 § 3,167 S (245) % 3 S 3,366
— — — — — 455 3 — 438
(4,233,894) _ — — (369) —_ - o= (369)
— — - - ©) - - — ©)
60,543 — — — ] — — — 5
598,566 — — — 51 — — — sl
735,522 (135,522) — — o — — — —
47.482,787 38917749 § 1$ = 5 318§ 3622 S (242) % 3 S 37902
—_ _ —_— —_ —_ 22 67 — 287
(4,123.824) _ — — (391) (56) —_— —_ (447)
01,977 et = S 6 e pci e 6
694,256 — — —_ 67 —_ _ —_ 67
= _— —_ —_ — (18) _— - (18)
160,626 (160,626) —_ —_ -— — - o s
44,275,818 58,757,123 § RS — § 3,738 S (735) 3% 3 S 3567

(1) Represents repurchases of 106,116 shares for $9 million thal were initiated prior to Deeember 31, 2022, but seuled in the [iest quarier of 2023, AL Decemhber 31, 2022, the shares were included in
shares outstanding anc the liability wus recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

(2) Includes a $3 million liwbility for the 1% U.S. federal excise tux on certain share repurchases enacted by the nflution Reduetion Act of 2022,

(3) Includes a $1 million lighility recorded n acerued expenses and other current lighilitics on our consotidated balance sheel 1o be paid upon vesling of cerlain stock-based compenselion awards.

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in millions, unless otherwise indicated)

1. ORGANIZATION

Hyatt Hotcls Corporation, a Delawarc corporation, and its consolidated subsidiarics have offerings that consist of full service hotcls and resorts, sclect
service hotels, all-inclusive resorts, and other properties, including timeshare, [raclional, and other forms of residential and vacalion units. We also offer
distribution and destination management scrvices through ALG Vacations, a paid membership program through the Unlimitcd Vacation Club, and a boutique
and luxury global travel platform through Mr & Mrs Smith. At December 31, 2023, our hotel portfolio included 613 (ull service hotels, comprising 193,114
rooms throughour the world; 598 sclect scrvice hotels, comprising 87,600 roots, of which 458 hotels arc located in the United States; and 124 all-inclusive
resorls, comprising 41,427 rooms. Al December 31, 2023, our portfolio of properties operaled in 77 countries around the world. Additionally, we provide
certain roservation and/or loyalty program scrvices ta hotels that arc unaffiliated with our hotel portfolio and operate under other trade names or marks owned
by such hotels or licensed by third partics.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Cansolidation—Qur consolidaled [inancial slatements present the results of operations, financial position, and cash flows of [lyatt Hotels
Corporation and its majority owncd and controlled subsidiarics. All intercompany accounits and transactions have been climinated in consolidation.

Lse of Estimates—\We are required 1o make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated [inancial statements and
accompanying Notcs. Our cstimates and assumptions are subjcct to inherent risk and uncertainty, and actual results could differ matcrially from our cstimated
amounis,

Reclassifications—Cecrtain prior ycar amounts have been reclassificd to conform to the current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition—Our revenues are primarily derived from the producits and services provided 1o our customers and are generally recognized when
control of the product or service has transterred to the customer. Our customers include third-party owners and franchisees, guests at owned and Icased hotels,
Unlimited Vacation Club members, ALG Vacations cuslomers, Mr & Mrs Smith cusiomers, a third=party partner through our co<branded credil card programs,
and owners and gucsts of residential and vacation units. A summary of our revenuc strcams is as follows:

o Owned and leased holels revenues—QOwned and leased hotels revenues are derived from room rentals and services provided at our owned and leased
hotels, We present revenues net of sales, occupancy, and other taxes. Taxces collected on behalf of and remitted to governmontal taxing authoritics arc
excluded (rom the transaction price of the underlying products and services.

¢ Management, franchise, license, and other fees—Managoment fees primarily consist of a basc fee, which is gencrally calculated as a percentage of
gross revenues, and an incentive [ee, which is generally computed based on a hotel profitability measure. Included in the management fees are [ees
that we carn in cxchange for providing the hotel access to Hyatt's intcllectual property ("IP"). Franchisc focs consist of an initial foc and ongoing
royaltly lees computed as a percentage ol gross room revenues and as applicable. food and beverage revenues. License [ees represent revenues
associated with. the licensing of the Hyatt brand names through our co-branded credit card programs and with sales of our branded residential units.
Other fees include termination fees, revenues from holel services provided (o certain ALG resorts, and commission [ees related to Mr & Mrs Smith,

s Net managenment, franchise, license, and other fees—Management, franchise, license, and other fees arc reduced by (i) the amortization of
management and hotel services agreement and (ranchise agreement assets and (i1) performance cure payments, which constitute payments to
customcrs. Consideration provided to customers rclated to management and hotel services agrecment and franchisc agrecment asscts is recorded in
other assets and amortized o Contra revenue over the expected customer life, typically the initial term of the management and hotel services
agreement or franchisc agreement.

< Distribution and destination management—=Distribution and destination management revenues include revenues from the sale of vacation packages,
expericnees, and charter tlights through ALG Vacations and destination services and excursions offered through Amstar.
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s Other revenyes—Lthor revenues include revenues from our Unlimited Vacation Club paid membership elub offering member benefits primarily at
ALG resorls within Mexico, Lhe Caribbean, and Central America, revenues (rom the Destination Residential Managemeni business, which was sold
during the year onded December 31, 2023 (sce Note 7), and the salc of promotional awards through our co-branded credit card programs.

o Revenues for the reimbursement of costs incurred on behalf of managed and franchised properties—Revenues for the reimbursement of costs incurred
on behalf of managed and franchised propertics reprosent the roimbursement of costs incurred on behalf of third-party owners and franchisces. These
reimbursed costs relate primarily Lo payroll at managed properties where we are the employer, as well as reimbursements for costs incurred related (o
system-wide scrvicos and the loyalty program operated on behalf of owners of managed and franchised propertics.

‘The products and services we ofller to our customers are comprised of the lollowing performance obligations:

Management and hotel services agreements and franchise agreements

Access lo ITyaitl's IP, including the Ilvat brand names—We reccive sales-bascd fees from hotel owners in cxchange for providing acccss to our IP,
including the Ilyalt brand names and systems, among other services. Fees are generally payable on a monthly basis as hotel owners and
franchisees derive value (rom access (o our ID. Fees are recognized over lime as services are rendered. Under our franchise agreements, we also
recoive initial foes from hotel owners and franchisccs, The initial fees do not represent a distinct performance obligation, and therofore, arc
combined with the toyalty {ees and deferred and recognized in management, franchise, license, and other [ees over the expected customer life,
which is typically the initial tcrm of the franchise agreement.

System-wide services—We provide systemswide services on behalf of owners of managed and franchised properties. The promise to provide
system-widc services is not a distinct performance obligation because it is attendant to the access to our IP, Therefore, this promisc is combined
with the access to our IP to form a single performance obligation.

[lyall's systemewide services are accounted for under a [und model whereby hotel owners and (ranchisees are invoiced a systemawide
assessment fee on a monthly basis. We recognize the revenues over time as services are provided in revenues for the reimbursement of costs
incurred on behalf of managed and franchised propertics, We have discretion over how we spend program revenucs, and therefore, we are the
principal. Bxpenses related to the systemawide programs are recognized as incurred in costs incurred on behalf of managed and (ranchised
propertics. Over time, we intend to manage the system=wide programs to broak=-cven and not carn a profit on thesc services, but the timing of
revenues received from the owners may not align with the timing of the expenses incurred (o operate the programs. Thereflore, any dilference
botween the revenues and expenses will impact our net income (loss).

Muanagement and holel services agreement services—Under the terms of our management and hotel services agreements, we provide
management and hotel services, which form a single performance obligation that qualifies as a series. In exchange, we receive variable
consideration in the form of management or hotel services fees which are comprised of base and/or incentive fees. Incentive fees are typically
subject to the achicvement of certain profitability targets, and thercfore, we apply judgment in determining the amount of incentive fecs
recognized each period. Incentive lee revenues are recognized to the extent it is probable that we will not reverse a significant portion of the fees
in a subscquent period. We rely on internal financial forecasts and historical trends to estimate the amount of incentive tee revenucs recognized
and the probability that incentive [ees will reverse in the [uture. Generally, base management and hotel services [ees are due and payable on a
monthly basis as scrvices arc provided, and incentive fees arc duc and payable based on the terms of the agrecment, but at a minimum, incentive
[ees are billed and collecled annually. Revenues are recognized over time as services are rendered.

Under the terms of certain management agrecments, primarily within the U.S., we are the employer of hotel employees. When we arc the
employer, we are reimbursed for costs incurred related to the employee management services with no added margin, and the reimbursements are
recognized over time as services are rendered in revenues for the reimbursement of costs incurred on behalf of managed and franchised
properties. In jurisdictions in which we are the employer, we have discretion over how employee management services are provided, and
therefore, we arc the principal.

Loyalty program administration—We administer the loyalty program for the benefit ol Hyaut's portfolio of properties duting the period of their
participation in the loyalty program. Undor the program, members carn points bascd on their spend at our propertics and through our cxpericnce
platform; by transacting with our strategic loyalty alliances, including American Aitlines; or in connection with spend on the World ol Hyatt co-
branded
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consumer and business credit cards. Loyalty program points can be redeemed for the right to stay at participating properties, as well as for other
goods and senvices from third partics. Points camned by loyalty program members represent a material right to free or discounted goods or yervices
in the future,

The loyalty program has one performance obligation thal consists of markeling and managing the program and arranging for award
redemptions by members. These two promises are not distinct because the promise to market and manage the program does not benefit the
customer without the rclated arrangement for award redemptions. The costs of administering the Toyalty program arc charged to the propertics
through an assessment [ee based on members' qualilied expendilures. 1he assessment [ee is billed and collected monthly, and revenues received
by the program arc deferred until a member redeems points. Upon redemption of points at managed and franchised propertics, we recognize the
previously deferred revenue in revenues (or the reimbursement ol costs incurred on behall of managed and [ranchised properties, net of
redemption expense paid to managed and franchised hotels. We arc responsible for arranging for the redemption of promotional awards, but we
do not directly fulfill the award night obligation excepl at owned and leased holels. ‘Therelore, we are the agent with respect Lo this performance
obligation for managed and franchised hotcls, and we arc the principal with respeet to owned and Ieased hotels, A portion of our owned and
leased hotels revenues is deferred upon initial stay as poinls are earned by program members at owned or leased holels, and revenues are
recognized upon redemption at owned or leased hotels.

The revenues recognized each period are based on the number of loyalty points redeemed and the revenue per point, which includes an
cstimatc of breakage for the loyalty points that will not be redecmed. Determining breakage involves significant judgment, and we cngage third-
party acluaries Lo assist us in estimating the ultimate redemption ratios used in the breakage calculations and the amount of revenues recognized
upon redemption. Changes to the cxpeeted ultimate redemption assumptions arc reflected in the current period. Any revenucs in cxcess of the
anticipated [uture redemptions are used to [und the other operational expenses ol the program.

Room rentals and other services provided at owned and leased hotels

We provide room rentals and other services to our guests, including, bul not limited 10, food and beverage, spa, laundry, and parking. These products
and scrvices cach represent individual performance obligations, and in cxchange for these services, we roceive fixed amounts bascd on published rates or
negoliated contracts. Payment is due in (ull al the Lime the services are rendered or the goods are provided. L['a guest enters into a package including
multiple goods or services, the fixed price is allocated to cach distinet good or service bascd on the standalone sclling price for cach item. Revenucs are
recognized over time when we transfer control of the good or service 1o the customer. Room rental revenues are recognized on a daily basis as the guest
occupics the room, and revenucs related to other products and scrvices are recognized when the product or scrvice is provided to the gucst,

Hotels commonly enter inlo arrangements with online travel agencies, trade associations, and oiher entities. As part of these arrangementis, we may
pay the other party a commission or rebate based on the revenucs gencrated through that channcl, We recognize revenues gross or net of rebates and
commissions depending on the terms of each contract.

Global travel platform bookings

‘Through Mr & Mrs Smith, we olTer direct booking access primarily (o properties that are unaffiliated with our hotel portfolio and operate under
other trade names or marks owned by such hotcls or liconsed by third partics. Mr & Mrs Smith also has arrangements with third-party partners that
market hotel offerings through their respective booking channels. In exchange for bookings made directly through Mr & Mrs Smith and through third=
party partncrs, we reecive variable consideration representing a commission fee from hotel owners, which is based on the total transaction value of' the
associated booking. Commission [ee revenues are recoghized at the time of the guest's stay in management, [ranchise, license, and other fees revenues.
Certain boakings require prepayment for travel prior (o stay. These deposits are recorded as contract liabilitics on our consolidated balance sheets until the
slay oceurs, al which point revenues are recognized in management, franchise, license, and other (ees revenues, net ol amounts paid to hotel owners or
third-party partners.

Distribution and destination management(

ALG Vacalions offers (raditional leisure travel products and scervices on an individual and package basis Lo destinations primarily within Latin
America and the Caribbean. ‘Iravel products and services include some or all of the following:

»  Performance obligations in which third-party supplicrs are primarily responsible for providing the services and ALG Vacations is the agent:
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o Commercial air transportation provided by third-pariy air carriers—tevenues are recognized at the time of booking, net of related
payments to supplicrs;

s Holel acconmodations provided by ALG resorts and third-party branded hotels and resoris—revenues are recognized on a net basis as
the guest occupics the room;

o Travel insurance provided by third-party insurance companies—revenues are recognized at the time of booking, net of related payments
to supplicrs;

o Car renlal reservations provided by third-party companies—revenues are recognized on a daily basis as the guest utilizes the rental car,
net of related cosLs; and

o Excursions provided by third-purly compunies—trevenues are recognized on the day of the excursion, net of related costs.

e Performance obligalions in which ALG Vacations is primarily responsible for providing the services and is the principal:
o Charitered air transporiation provided by ALG Vacations—gross revenucs arc recognized at the time of departure and return; and
s Ground transportation und excursions provided by Amstur—gross revenues are recognized at the time of departure and return.

[n cxchange for the products and scrvices provided, we receive fixed and variable consideration that is allocated botween the performance
obligations based on relative standalone selling prices. For all performance obligations, we utilize a cost plus margin approach io determine the
standalonc sclling price. For car rental rescrvations and cxcursions provided by third-party companics, we allocate the standalone sclling price using
observable transaction prices. ALG Vacation's customers pay [or travel prior to trip departure and these deposits are recorded as contract liabilities until
the transter of control of the related performance obligation occurs, at which point the related revenucs arc recoguized in distribution and destination
management revenues. For cerlain airline, hotel, and car rental Lransactions, we also receive fees through global distribution systems ("GDS") that
provide the computer systems through which travel supplicr inventory is made available and rescrvations arc booked, Payments reccived through GDS
are considered commissions [rom suppliers and are recognized as revenues al the time ol hooking in distribution and destination management revenues.

Ve provide advertising services to travel suppliers on our consumer websites and travel agent websites, in travel brochures, and via other media,
Revenues from advertising are recognized in distribution and destination management revenues when the service is provided.

Membership club

‘Through the Unlimited Vacation Club, we enter into membership contracts with guests that provide various benefits, which each represent a
performancc obligation: access to preferred rates and benefits at participating propertics, free room stays, up-front incentives, including gifts and
upgrades, loyally points, the right to renew after the initial contract term, and initial memberships (o third=parly vacation exchange services.

Membership contracts may be paid in full at commencement or by making a deposit and paying the remaining balance in monthly installments over
an average Lerm of less than 4 years. Members are required 10 pay an annual renewal fee 10 have continuous access to the benefits outlined in the contract.
The unpaid portion of the membership contract docs not mect the definition of an assct or a financing reccivable as the unpaid balance relates to future
services to be provided by us, and our right to collect future cash flows is conditional on our ability to provide continuous access to the member over the
contract tcrm,

s S mrome T



Table of Contents

[n exchange for the membership club benefits, we receive fixed and variable consideration. The transaction price includes cash consideration
received and the unpaid portion of the membership contract and is allocated between the performance obligations based on the relative standalone selling
prices of each performance obligation. We utilize observable transaction prices and/or adjusted market assumptions in determining the relative standalone
sclling price of cach performance obligation. Membership fees reccived are recorded as contract liabilitios, and the revenuces allocated to cach
performance obligation are recognized as (ollows within other revenues on our consolidated statements of income (loss):

s Preferred rates and benefils at participating properties—rcvenues arc recognized over the estimated customer life, which ranges from 3 1o 25
years, using the siraight=line method;

»  Free night stays and up-front incentives—revenues are recognized upon redemption, net of redemption expenses as we are the agent;
*  Loyalty poinis—rcvenucs arc recognized upon redemption, nct of redemption cxpenscs as we arc the agent;

*  Right to renew after the initial contract term—this performance obligation represents a material right and revenucs are recognized annually as
earned; and

e Initial memberships to third-party vacation exchange services—revenues are recognized over Lhe exchange membership term, nel of expenses as
wc arc the agent.

Members can upgrade their membership Lo a higher tier {or an additional fee, which results in additional products and services thal are separable
from the initial contract; and thereforc, upgrades arc considered a cancellation of the old contract and the ercation of a iew contract. Mcmbers can also
downgrade their membership by opting out of paying the unpaid portion of the membership contract. Downgrades do not result in additional distinct
goods or scrvices, and therctore, the revised consideration is allocated to the remaining performance obligations, with an adjustment to revenucs
recognized on the date of downgrade for performance to date under the contract,

Co=-branded credit card programs

We have co-branded credit card agreemenis with a third party, and under the terms of the agreemenis, we have various performance obligations:
granting a licensc to the Hyatt namc, arranging for the fultilliment of points issued to cardholders through the loyalty program, and awarding cardholders
with free room nights upon achievement of certain program milestones, The loyally poinls and [ree room nights represent material rights that can be
redeemed for frec or discounted scrvices in the future,

In exchange for the products and services pravided, we receive fixed and variable consideration which is allocated between the performance
obligations bascd on their relative standalonc sclling prices. Significant judgment is involved in determining the relative standalone sclling prices, and
therefore, we engage a third=party valuation specialist (or assistance. We utilize a reliel [rom royalty method to determine the revenues allocated to the
license and the revenucs arc recognized over time as the licensce derives valuc from access to Hyatt's brand name. We utilize obscrvable transaction
prices and adjusted market assumplions Lo determine the standalone selling price of a loyalty point, and we utilize a cost plus margin approach to
determine the standalone selling price of the free room nights. The revenues allocated to loyalty program points and free night awards are deferred and
recognized upon redemption or expiration of a card member's promotional awards, nel of redemplion expense when we are the agent. We are responsible
for arranging for the redemption of promotional awards, but we do not dircctly tulfill the award night obligation cxcept at ownced and Ieased hotcls,
Therefore, we are the agenl for managed and franchised hotels, and we are the principal with respect w owned and leased holels.

We satisfy the following performance obligations over time: access to Hyatt's symbolic IP, services provided under management and hotel services
agreements, administration of the loyalty program, license of our brand name through our cosbranded credit card agreements, and access to preferred pricing
for Unlimited Vacation Club members. Each of these performance obligations is considered a sales-based royalty or a series of distinct services, and although
the activitics to fulfill cach of these promises may vary from day to day, the naturc of cach promise is the same and the customer bencfits from the services
every day.
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For cach performance obligation satisficd over time, we recognize revenues using an output method based on the value transferred to the customer.
Revenues are recognized based on the transaction price and the observable outputs related (o each performance obligation. We deem the following (o represent
our progress in satisfying these performance obligations:

«  revenues and operating profits earned by the hotels during the reporting period for access to Hyatt's TP as it is indicative of the value third-party
owners and franchisces derive;

«  revenues and operating profits of the hotels for the promise Lo provide services 1o the hotels under management and hotél services agreements;
«  award night redemptions or point redemptions with third=party partners for the administration of the loyalty program performance obligation;

¢« cardholder spend for the licensc to the Hyatt name through our co-branded credit card programs as it is indicative of the valuc our partner derives from
Lhe use ol our name; and

+  time clapsed as we provide access to ALG resorts under the Unlimited Vacation Club paid membership program.

Within our management and hotel services agreements, we have two performance obligations: providing access 1o Hyall's IP and providing management
and hotel services. Although those constitute two separate performance obligations, both obligations reprosent scrvices that are satisficd over time, and we
recognize revenues using an oulput method based on the pecformance of the hotel. Therefore, we have nol allocaled (he transaction price between these two
performance obligations as the allocation would rosult in the same pattern of revenuc recognition.

Revenues are adjusted for the effects ol a significant [inancing component when the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the
customer and payment by the customer cxceeds onc year.

We have applied the practical expedient Lhat permits the omission o[ prior=period information about revenues allocated to fulure performance obligations,
and we do not estimate revenues allocated to romaining performance obligations for the following:

»  Deletred revenue related to the loyalty program, base and incentive management fee revenues, and deferred revenues associated with our paid
micmbership program related to preferred rates and benefits at participating proportics as the revenues are allocated to a wholly unperformed
performance obligation in a series;

«  Revenucs related to royalty fees as they are considered sales-based royalty feces;

«  Revenues received for free nights granted through our co-branded credit card programs as the awards have an original duration of 12 months;
+ Revenues related to advanced bookings at owned and leased hotels as each stay has a duration of 12 months or less; and

«  Revenues related to ALG Vacations and Mr & Mrs Smith as bookings are generally for travel within 12 months or less.

Contract Balances—Our payments from customers are based on the billing lerms established in our contracts. Customer billings are recorded as
accounts rcecivable whon owr right to consideration is unconditional. If our right to consideration is conditional on future performance under the contract, the
balance is recorded as a contract asset. Due Lo cerlain prolitability hurdles in our management and hotel services agreements, incenlive (ees are considered
contract assets wutil the risk related to achicving the profitability metrie no longer cxists. Oncce the profitability hurdle has been mct, the incentive fee reccivable
balance will be recorded in accounts receivable. Contract assels are recorded in receivables, nel on our consolidated balance sheets. Payments received in
advance of performance under the contract arc recorded as cuerent or long-term contract liabilitics on our consolidated balance shects and recognized as
revenucs as we perform under the contract.

Costs Incurrced to Obtain Cantracts with Customers—We incur incremental costs to obtain contracts with Unlimited Vacation Club members. The
incremental costs, which primarily relate to sales commissions, are deferred and recorded as current or longsterm other assets on our consclidated balance
sheets. The costs are amortized in other direct costs on our consolidated statements of income (loss) over the same period as the associated revenues, using the
straightlinc method over the customer life, which Tanges from 3 to 25 years. We assess costs incurred to obtain contracts with customers for impairment
quarterly and when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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At December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had $27 million and §15 million, respectively, of deferred costs recorded in prepaids and other assets
and $194 million and S106 million, respectively, recorded in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets, During the years ended December 31, 2023,
December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, we recognized $27 million, $9 million, and an insignificant amount, respectively, of amortization expense related
to these deferred costs,

Foreign Currency—Ihe [unctional cutrency of our consolidated entities located outside the U.S. is generally the local currency. The assets and labilities
of thesc entitics arc translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates, and the related gains and losscs, net of applicable deferred income taxcs, arc
tecorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on our consolidaled balance sheets. Gains and losses [tom foreign currency transactions, including
those related to intercompany receivables and payables, arc recognized in other income (loss), net on owr consolidated statements of income (loss).

Fair Value—We apply the provisions of fair value measurement to various financial instruments, which we measure at fair value on a recurring basis,
and to various financial and nonfinancial asscts and liabilitics, which we measure at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, We disclose the fair value of our
financial assets and liabilities based on observable market information, where available, or market participant assumptions. These assumptions are subjective in
nature and involve matters of judgment; and thercfore, fair values cannot always be determined with precision. When determining fair value, we maximize the
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inpuis. The three levels ol the [air value hierarchy are as follows:

+  Lovel One—Tair valucs based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical asscts and liabilitics;

o Level Two—Tair values based on quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in inactive markets for
identical assets and liabilitics, and inputs other than quoted market priccs that are obscrvable for the asset or liability; and

¢ Level Three—Fair values based on inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data and reflect the use of significant management
judgmenl. Valualion techniques may include the use of discounted cash flow models and similar lechniques and may be intemally developed.

We recognize transfers in and transfers out of the levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of each quarterly reporting period.

We Lypically ulilize the markel gpproach and income approach for valuing our financial instruments. The markel approach utilizes prices and information
generated by market transactions involving identical or similar assets and liabilities, and the income approach uses valuation techniques to convert fisture cash
flows or earnings (o a single, discounled present value. For instances in which the inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels of (he fair value
hierarchy, the classification within the fair value hierarchy has been determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
in ils enlirety. Our assessment of Lhe significance of a particular inpul to the fair value measuremenl requires judgmenl and may affect [he classification of fair
value assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy.

The carrying values of our current (inancial assets and current (inancial liabilities approximate f{air values with the exception of debt and equity securities
(see below and Note 4) and financing receivables (see Note 6). The fair value of long-term debt is discussed in Note 11, and the fair value of our guarantee
ligbilitics and contingent considcration rcccivables and liabilitics is discussed below and in Note 7 and Note 15, We do not have nonfinancial asscts or
nonfinancial liabilities required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Cash Lquivalents—We consider all highly liquid investmenls purchased wilh an original maturily of three months or less al the dale of purchase 1o be
cash equivalents. Our cash equivalents, except for time deposits discussed below and in Note 4, are classified as Level One in the fair value hierarchy as we are
able Lo oblain market pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Restricted Cash—Cash deposited or held in escrow under contractual or regulatory requirements is classificd as restricted cash. Our restricted cash may
include sales proceeds pursuant to likekind exchanges, escrow deposits, deposits with banks that collateralize our obligations to certain vendors, and other
arrangements.

Equity Method Investments—We have investmenis in unconsolidated hospilality venlures accounted for under the equily method. These investments
are an integral parl of our business and strategically and operalionally important to our overall resuits. When we receive a distribuiion [rom an invesiment, we
dctermine whether it is 4 return on our investment or a return of our investment based on the underlying nature of the distribution. Certain equity method
investments are reported on a
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lag of up to three months. When intervening events occur during the time lag, we recognize the impact in our consolidated financial statements.

We assess investmenls in unconsolidated hospilalily ventures for impairment quarterly, and when (here is an indication thal a loss in value has occurred,
we evaluate the carrying value in comparison to the estimated fair vatue of the investment. Fair value is based on internally~developed discounted cash flow
models, third-party appraisals, and if appropriale, current estimated nel sales proceeds from pending offers. Under the discounted cash flow approach, we
utilize various assumptions requiring judgment, including projected future cash [lows, discount rates, and capitalization rates, which are primarily Level Three
assumptions. Our cstimates of projected future cash flows arc basced on historical data, various internal cstimates, and a varicty of cxternal sources, and are
developed as part of our routine, longslerm planning process.

If the cstimated fair value i Tess than the carrying value, we apply judgment to determine whether the decline in value is other than temporary. In
determining this, we consider factors including, but not limited to, the length of time and extent of the decline, loss of value as a percentage of the cost,
financial condition and ncar-term financial projections, our intent and ability to recover the Tost value, and current cconomic conditions. Impairments deemed
other than temporary are recognized in equity earnings (losses) from unconsofidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income (loss).

For additional informalion aboul equity method investments, see Nole 4.
Decbt and Equity Sccurities—Lxcluding equity method investments, debt and equity securities consist of various investments:

«  Equily securilies consist of inlerestbearing money market funds, mulual funds, exchangestraded funds, common shares, and preferred shares. Equity
securities with a readily determinable fair value are recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets based on listed market prices or dealer
quotations where available and are classified ay Level One in the fair value hierarchy as we are able Lo oblain pricing information on an ongoing basis.
Equity securities without a readily determinable fair value are recorded at cost less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable
price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar invesimenl of the same issuer. Nel gains and losses, bolh realized and unrealized, and
impairment charges on equity securities are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income (loss),

«  Dcbt sceuritics include preferred shares, convertible investments, time deposits, and fixed income seeuritics, including U.S. government obligations,
obligations of other government agencies, corporate debt, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, and municipal and provincial notes and
bonds. Debt sceuritics arc classificd as trading, availablesforssalc ("ATS™), or I1TM.

¢+ Trading securities—recorded at fair value based on listed market prices or dealer price quotations, where available, Net gains and losses, both
realized and unrealized, on trading securities are recognized in nel gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securilies held (o fund rabbi
trusts or other income (loss), net, depending on the nature of the investment, on our consolidated statements of income (loss).

«  AFS securities—recorded at [air value based on listed market prices or dealer price quotations, where available. Unrealized gains and losses on
AFS debt sceuritics are recorded in accumulated other comprchensive income (loss) on our consolidated balance sheets, Realized gains and losscs
on ATS debt sceuritics are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income (loss). AFS scouritics arc assessed
quarterly for expected credit losses, which are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income (loss). In
determining the allowance for credit Tosses, we evaluate AFS securities at the individual security level and consider our investment strategy,
current market conditions, financial strength of the underlying investments, term to maturity, credit rating, and our intent and ability to sell the
seeurities,

¢ HTM securities—investments that we have the intent and ability to hold until maturity are recorded at amortized cost, net of expected credit
losses. [TI'M securilies are assessed for expecled credit losses quarterly, and credit losses are recognized in other income (loss), nel on our
consolidated statements of income (loss). In determining the allowance for credit losses, we evaluate HTM securities individually due to the
unique risks associaled with each securily, and we consider the financial strength of the underlying assels, including the current and forecasted
performance of the property, term Lo maturity, credit quality of the owner, and current market conditions.

We classify debt sceuritics as current or long=term based on their contractual maturity dates and our intent and ability to hold the investment, Our
debt securities are primarily classified as Level Two in the fair value hierarchy. Time deposits are recorded at par value, which approximates fair
value, and arce thercefore classified as Level Two. The remaining sceuritics, other than our investment in preforred shares, arc classificd as Level Two
due to the use and
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weighting of multiple market inputs being considered in the final price of the sccurity. Our investments in preferred shares and a convertible debt
securily are classified as Level Three ag discussed in Nole 4.

Interest income on preferred shares that camn a return is recognized in other income (loss), net,
For additional inlormation about debt and equily securilies, see Note 4.

Accounts Receivables—Our accounts receivables primarily consist of trade receivables duc from guests for services rendered at our owned and Teased
properties, from hotel owners with whom we have management and hotel services agreements and franchise agreements for services rendered and for
reimbursements of costs incurred on behalf of managed and franchised propertics, from third=party financial institutions for credit and debit card transactions,
from a third-party partner for our co-branded credit card programs, and from ALG Vacations and Mr & Mrs Smith customers. We assess all accounts
receivables for credit Tosses quarterly and establish an allowance to reflect the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losscs is based on
an assessment of historical collection activity, the nature of the receivable, geographic considerations, and the current business environment and is recognized
in owned and loased hotels expenses, distribution and destination management expensces, or sclling, general, and administrative expenses on our consolidated
statements of income (loss), based on the nature of the receivable. For additional information about accounts receivables, see Note 6,

Financing Receivables—Tinancing receivables represent contractual rights to receive moncey cither on demand or on fixed or determinable dates and arc
recorded on our consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost, net of expected credit losses. We recognize interest as earned and include accrued interest in the
amortized cost basis of the assct.

Our financing receivables are composed of individual, unsecured loans and other types of unsecured financing arrangements provided to hotel owners.
These financing receivables are generally subordinate to senior financing and have stated maturitics and interest rates, but the repayment terms vary and may
be dependent on future cash flows of the hotel. We individually assess all financing receivables for credit losses quarterly and establish an allowance to reflect
the net amount expected to be collected. We estimate credit losses based on an analysis of several factors, including current economic conditions, industry
trends, and specific risk characteristics of the financing receivable, including capital suructure, loan performance, market factors, and the underlying hotel
performance. Adjustments to credit losses are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income (loss).

We evaluate accrued interest allowances separately [rom the [inancing receivable assets. On an ongoing basis, we monitor the credit quality of our
financing reccivables based on historical and expected future payment activity. We determine if financing to hotel owners is nonperforming based on facts and
circumstances of the individual (inancing receivables, including, but not limited (o, i inletest or principal is greater than 90 days past due based on the
contractual terms of the individual financing reccivables or if an allowance has been cstablished for our other financing arrangements with that borrower. If we
consider a financing receivable (o be nonperforming, we place the (inancing receivable on nonaccrual slatus.

For financing receivables on nonacerual status, we recognize interest income in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income (loss)
when cash is received. Accrual of interest income is resumed and potential reversal of any associated allowance for credit loss occurs when the receivable
becomes contractually current and collection doubts are removed.

Aller an allowance for credit losses has been established, we may delermine the receivable balance is uncollectible when all commercially reasonable
means of recovering the reccivable balance have been exhausted, We write oft uncolleetible balances by reversing the financing rcecivable and the related
allowance [or credit losses.

Financing reccivables acquired in a business combination that have experienced more<than-insignificant deterioration in eredit quality since origination
are considered purchased with credit deterioration ("PCD") assets. PCD assets are accounted for at the purchase price or acquisition date fair value with an
estimate of expected credit loyses to arrive at an initial amortized cost bayis. We use certain indicators, such as past duc status and specific risk characteristics of
the financing receivable, including capital structure, loan performance, market factors, and the underlying hotel performance, in identifying and assessing
whether the acquired financing receivables are considered PCD assets,

For additional information aboul financing receivables, see Note 6.

Tnventories—Inventories are comprised of operating supplics and cquipment that primarily have a period of consumption of two years or less and food
and beverage items at our owned and leased hotels, which are generally valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value.

Property and Lquipment and Definite-Lived Intangible Assets—Property and equipment is staled al cost, including interest incurred during
development and construction periods, less accumulated depreeiation. Definite-lived intangible assets
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are recorded at the acquisition date fair value, less accumulated amortization. Depreciation and amortization are recognized aver the estimated useful lives of
the asscts, primarily using the straightJine method.

Property and equipment are depreciated over the following useful lives:

Buildings and improvements 10-50 ycars

Lcaschold improvements The shorter of the leasc term or uscful lifc of assct
Furniture and cguipment 320 years

Computers 3-7 years

Definite-lived inlangible assels are amortized over the [ollowing use(ul lives:

Management and hotel services agreement and tranchisc agreement intangibles 3-30 years
Customer relationships intangibles 4—12 years
Other intangibles Varics bascd on the nature of the assct

We asscss property and cquipment and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment quarterly, and when events or circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable, we evaluate the net book value ol the assets by comparing it to the projected undiscounted future cash flows of the assets. Under
the undiscounted cash flow approach, the primary assumption requiring judgment is our estimate of projeeted future operating cash flaws, which arc based on
historical data, various internal estimates, and a variety ol external resources, which are primarily Level Three assumplions, and are developed as part of our
routine, long-tcrm planning proccss.

If the projected undiscounted future cash flows are less than the net book value of the assets, the fair value is determined based on internally-developed
discounted cash flows of the asscts, third-party appraisals or broker valuations, or if appropriate, current estimated net sales proceeds from pending offers,
Under the discounted cash flow approach, we utilize various assumptions requiring judgment, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, and
cupitalization rates, The cxcess of the net book valuc over the cstimated fair valuc is recognized in assct impairments on our consolidated statements of income
(loss).

We cvaluate the carrying valuc of our property and cquipment and definite-lived intangible asscts based on our plans, at the time, for such asscts and
consider qualitative factors such as future development in the surrounding area, status ol local competition, and any significant adverse changes in the business
climate. Changes to our plans, including a decision to disposc of or change the intended use of an asset, may have a material impact on the carrying valuc of the
assel.

For additional information about property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets, see Note 5 and Note 9, respectively.

T.cases—We primarily lease land, buildings, office space, and equipment. We determine whether an arrangement is an operating or finance lease at
inception. For our management and holel services agreements, we apply judgment in order to determine whelther the contrael is accounied for as a lease or
management or hotel services agreement based on the specilic facls and circumstances ol each agreement. In evaluating whether an agteement constitutes a
Icase, we review the contractual terms to determine which party obtains both the cconomic benefits and control of the assets. In arrangements where we control
the assets and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits, we account for the contract as a leage.

Certain of our leases include options to extend the lease term at our discretion, We include Iease extension options in our operating lease ROU asscets and
lease liabilities when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise the options. Our extension options range from approximately 1 to 25 years, and the impacts
of all currently available options are recorded in our operating Tease ROU agscts and Tcaye liabilitics. Our lease agreements do not contain any signitficant
residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants.

We asscss operating lcasc ROU asscts for impairment quarterly, and when events or circumstancoes indicate the carrying valuc may not be recoverable, we
evaluate the net book value ol the assets by comparing it to the projected undiscounted future cash [lows ol the assets. L[ the carrying value of the assets is
determined o not be recoverable and is in excess of the estimaled fair value, we recognize an impairment charge in asscl impairmenis on our consalidated
stalements of income (loss).

As our Icascs do not provide an implicit borrowing rate, we use our cstimated IBR to determine the present value of our lease payments and apply a
portfolio approach. We apply judgment in estimating our IBR, including assumptious related to currency risk and our credit risk. We also consider our recent
dcebt issuances as well as publicly available data for instruments with similar characteristics when determining our IBR,
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Our operating leases may include the following terms: (i) fixed minimum lease payments, (ii) variable lease payments based on a percentage of the hotel's
profitability measure, as defined in the fease, (i) lease payments cqual to the greater of @ minimum or variable lease payments based on a percentage of the
hotel's profitability measure, as defined in the lease, (iv) lease payments adjusted for changes in an index or market value, or (v) variable lease payments based
on 4 percentage split of the total gross rovenucs, as defined in the lease. Future lease payments that are contingent are not inclyded in the moasurement of the
operating lease lability or in the foture maturities table (see Note 8).

TFor office space, land, and hotel lcascs, we do not scparate the leasc and nonleasc components, which primarily relatc to common arca maintenance and
utilities. We combine lease and nonlease components for those leases where we are the lessor, and we exclude all leases with terms of 12 months or less [rom
the operating lcase ROU asscts and lease liabilitics.

For additional information about leases, see Note 8.

Acquisitions—We evaluate the [acts and circumstances of each acquisition 1o determine whether the transaction should be accounied for as an asset
acquisition or a business combination.

Under the supervision of management, independent third-party valuation specialists estimate the fair value of the assets or businesyes acquired using
various recognized valuation methods, incliding the income approach, cost approach, relief from royalty approach, and sales comparison approach, all of
which are primarily based on Level Three assumptions, Assumptions utilized in determining the fair value under these approaches include, but are not limited
to, historical financial results when applicable, projected cash flows, discount rates, capitalization rates, royalty rates, current market conditions, likelihood of
contract rencwals, and comparable transactions. In a business combination, the fair value is allocated to tangible asscts and liabilitics and identifiable intangible
assets, with any remaining value assigned to goodwill, if applicable. In an asset acquisition, any difference between the consideration paid and the fair value of
the asscts acquired is allocated across the identified asscts based on the relative fair value. When we acquire the remaining ownership interest in or the property
from an unconsolidated hospitality venture in a step acquisition, we estimate the fair value of our equity interest using the assumed cash proceeds we would
receive from sale to a third party at a market sales price, which is determined using our fair value methodologics and assumptions.

The resulls of operations ol propetties or businesses have been included on our consolidated stalements ol income (loss) since their respective dates of
acquisition. Asscts acquired and liabilitics assumed in acquisitions arc recorded on our consolidated balance sheets at the respective acquisition dates based on
their estimated fair values. In business combinations, the purchase price allocations may be hased on preliminary eslimates and assumplions. Accordingly, the
allocations are subjcet to revision when we reecive final information, including appraisals and other analyses.

Acquisition-related costs incurred in conjunction with a business combination are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of
income (loss). In an asset acquisition, these costs are included in the total consideration paid and allocated to the acquired assets.

Periodically, we enter into like-kind cxchange agreements upon the disposition or acquisition of certain propertics. Pursuant to the tcrms of these
agreements, (he proceeds from (he sales are placed into an escrow account administered by a qualified inlermediary and are unavailable for our use until
released. The proceeds are recorded as restricted cash on our consolidaied balance sheets and released (i) if they are utilized as part of a like-kind exchange
agreement, (if) if we do not identify a suilable replacement properly wilhin 45 days afler the agreement date, or (iii) when a likekind exchange agreoment is
not completed within the remaining allowable time period.

For additional information about acquisitions, sce Note 7.

Contingent Consideration—As part of our acquisitions and dispositions, we may cnter into contingent considcration arrangements whereby the buycer
pays the seller additional consideration afler Lransaction close upon the achievement of cerlain milesiones, performance-based melrics, or other objeclives as
prescribed per the terms of the related agreement.

Contingent consideration payable arising from acquisitions is recorded at fair value as a hability on the acquisition dale. In order 10 estimate the fair
value, we generally utilize a Monte Carlo simulation to model the probability of possible outcomes. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and
judgments regarding discount rates, estimated probability of achicving the contractual objectives, and expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level
Three assumptions. Contingent consideration liabilities are recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities or other long-term liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheets and are remeasured at fair value on a quarterly basis. Changes in fair value arc recognized in other income (loss), net on our
consolidated statements of income (loss).
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Contingent consideration receivable arising from dispositions is recorded at fair value as an asset upon sale. In order to estimate the fair value, we
generally utilize a Monte Carlo simulation or a probability-based weighting approach to model possible outcomes. The valuation methodology includes
assumptions and judgments regarding discount rates, estimated probability of achieving the contractual objectives, operating results, and expected timing of
payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions, Contingent consideration receivables are recorded in reccivables, net or other asscts on our
consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the carrying value are recognized in gains (losses) on sales ol real estate and other on our consolidated statements of’
inconic (loss) when realizable.

For additional information about contingent consideration, see Note 7 and Note 15.

Goodwill—Goodwill represents the future cconomic bencfits arising from other asscts acquired in a business combination that are not individually
identified or separately recognized. We evaliate goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each year using balances at October 1 and at
interim dates if indicators of impairment exist. Goodwill impairment is determined by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount,

We evaluate the fair value of the reporting unit by performing a qualitative or quantitative assessment. In any given year, we can elect to perform a
qualitative asscssment to determing whether it is more likely than not that the fair valuc of a reporting unit is less than its carrying valuc. If it is more likely
than not that the fair value is less than the carrying value, or we elect (o bypass the qualitative assessment, we proceed Lo the quantitalive agsessment.

When determining fair value, we utilize internally-developed discounted future cash flow models, third-party valuation specialist models, which may
include income<based and/or market<based approaches, third-party appraisals or broker valuations, and if appropriate, current estimated net sales proceeds from
pending offers, Under an income-based approach, we utilize various assumptions requiring judgment, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, and
capitalization rates. Our estimates of projected future cash flows are based on historical data, various internal estimates, and a variety of external sources,
which are primarily Level Three assumptions, and are developed as part of our routine, long-term planning process. For certain reporting units, we apply a
weighting of an income-based approach and a market-based approach, which utilizes the guideline public companies method and is based on earnings multiple
data derived from publicly traded peer group companics. We then compare the cstimated fair valuc to our carrying valuc. If the carrying valuc is in cxccss of
the fair value, we recognize an impairment charge in assel impairments on our consolidated statemenis of income (loss) based on the amount by which the
carrying valuc of the reporting unit exceeded the fair value, limited to the carrying amount of goodwill. For additional information about goodwill, scc Notc 9.

Indcfinite-Lived Intangiblc Asscts—W'e have cerfain brand and other indefinite-lived intangible assels that were acquired through various business
combinations, At the time of each acquisition, fair value was estimated using a relief from royalty method.

We evaluate indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each year using balances at October [ and at interim
dates if indicatory of impairment exist. We use the relief from royalty method to estimate the fair value. When determining fair value, we utilize internally-
developed disconnted future cash flow models and third-party valuation specialist models, which include various assumptions requiring judgment, including
prajected future cash flows, discount rates, and market royalty ratcs that arc primarily Level Theee assumptions. Our cstimates of projected cash flows are
based on hislorical data, various internal estimales, and a variely ol external sources, and are developed as part of our rouline, long=term planning process. \Ve
then compare the estimated fair valuce to our carrying value. It the carrying valuc is in excess of the fair value, we recognize an impairment charge in assct
impairments on our consolidated stalemenls of income (loss). For additional information about indelinile=lived intangible assets, see Note 9.

Guarantees—Wc ontor into pertormance guarantecs related to certain hotels we manage. We also entor into debt repayment guarantees with respect to
certain unconsolidated hospitality ventures and certain managed or franchised hotels. We record a liability for the fair value of these guarantees at their
inception date. In order to estimatc the fair value, we usc scenario-based weighting, which utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation to model the probability of
possible outcomes. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding probability weighting, discount rates, volatility, hotel operating
results, and hotcl property sales prices, which arc primarily T.evel Three asswmptions. The fair valuc is not revalucd duc to future changes in assumptions. The
corresponding offset depends on the circumstances in which the guarantee was issued and is recorded 1o equity method investments, other assels, or other
inconte (loss), net. We amottize the liability for the fair value of a guarantee into income over the term of the guarantee using a systematic and rational, risk-
based approach. Guaraniees related to our managed or Iranchised hotels and our unconsolidated hospitality ventures are amortized into income in other income
(loss), nct and in cquity carnings (losscs) from unconsolidated hospitality venmires, respeetively, on our consolidated statements of income (loss).
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+  Porformance and other guarantees—On a quarterly basis, we cvaluate the likelihood of funding under a guarantee., To the extent we determine an
obligation to [und is both probable and estimable based on performance during the period, we record a separale contingent liabilily and recognize
expensc in other income (loss), net.

«  Debt repayment guarantees—At guarantee inception and on a quarterly basis, we evaluate the risk of funding under a guarantee. We assess credit risk
bascd on the current and forccasted performance of the underlying property, whether the property owner is current on debt serviee, the historical
perlormance of the underlying property, and the current market, and we record a separate liahility and recognize expense in other income (loss), net or
cquity carnings (losscs) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures based on the nature of the guarantec.

For additional information about guarantees, see Note 15.

Income Taxes—We account for income taxes to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and the amount of deferred tax
assets and liabilities resulting from the future tax consequences of differences between the financial statements and tax basis of the respective assets and
ligbilitics. We assoss the realizability of our deferred tax asscty and record a valuation allowance when it is more lkely than not that some or all of our deferred
tax assets are not realizable. This assessment is completed by tax jurisdiction and relies on the weight of both positive and negative evidence available with
significant weight placcd on recent financial results. When necessary, we usc systematic and logical methods to estimate when deferred tax liabilitics will
reverse and generate taxable income and when delerred tax assets will reverse and generale tax deductions.

We recognize the financial statement effect of'a tax position when, based on the technical merits of the uncertain tax position, it is more likely than not to
be sustained on a review by Laxing authorilies. \Ve review Lhese estimates and make changes o recorded amounts of unceriain tax posilions as facls and
circumstances warrant, For additional information about income taxcs, scc Note 14.

Stock-Basced Compensation—As part of our LTI, we award time-vested stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), time<vested restricted stock units
("RSUs™), and performance-vested restricted stock units ("PSUs") to certain employees and non~employee directors. In addition, non-employee directors may
elect to receive their annual fees and/or annual equity retainers in the form of shares of our Class A common stock. Under the LTIP, we are authorized to issue
up to 22,375,000 sharcs:

«  SA4Rs—=Each vested SAR gives the holder the right to the dilTerence between the value of one share ol our Class A common stock at the exercise date
and the valuc of onc share of our Clags A common stock at the grant date. The valuc of the SARs is determincd using the tair value of our common
stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A common slock. SARs generally vest 25% annually over four years, beginning on
the first anniversary after the grant date. Vosted SARs can be excrcised over their life as determined in accordance with the ITIP. All SARs have a 10-
year contracilual term, are settled in shares of our Class A common stock, and are accounted [or as equity instruments.

We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis from the date of grant through the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting
period, unless the employee meets tetirement eligibility criteria resulting in immediate recognition. We recognize the elfect of [or[eitures as they
occeur.

¢ RSUs—Each vested RSU will generally be seutled by delivery of a single share of our Class A common stock and therefore is accounted for as an
cquity instrument, In certain situations, we grant a limited number of cash=scttled RSUs, which arc recorded as liability instruments, The cashesctilcd
RSUs represent an insignificant portion of previous grants.

The value of the RSUs is determined using the fair value of our common stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A
common stock. Awards are generally settled as each individual tranche vests under the relevant agreements. We recognize compensation expense over
the requisite service period of the individual grant, which {s gencrally a vesting period of one to four years, unless the employee meets retirement
eligibility criteria resulting in immediate recognition. We recognize the effect of forfeitures as they occur.

Under certain circumstances, we have issuced time=vested RSUs with performance requirements, which vest basced on the satisfaction of a continued
employment requirement and the attainment of specified performance-vesting conditions that are established annually and eligible (o be earned in
tranches. Generally, these RSUs fully vest and settle in Class A common stock to the extent performance requirements for the applicable tranche are
achieved and if the requisite service period, which is generally three (o five years, is salis(ied. The value of the RSUs is determined using the fair value
of our common stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A common stock, Duc to the fact that the performance conditions
are established annually, each tranche typically has its own grant
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date. We did not issue any such RSUs during the years ended December 3 [, 2023 and December 31, 2022, At December 31, 2023, all approved RSUs
have met the grant date criteria and were deemed granted,

¢« PSUs—PSUs vest and are scttled in Class A common stock bascd on the performance of the Company through the end of the applicable performance
period relalive o Lhe applicable performance largel and are generally subjecl lo 4 conlinued employment requirement (through the applicable
performance period. The PSUs are eligible to vest at the end o[ the performance period only to the extent the performance threshold is met and
continued service requirements arc satisficd; there is no interim performance metric, except in the case of certain change in control transactions.

The value of the PSUs is determined using the fair value of our common stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A
common stock. PSUs may include a relative total sharcholder return ("TSR™) modificr to determine the number of shares carned at the end of the
performance period. Under the supervision of management, independent third-party valuation specialists estimate the fair value of the PSUs that
include the TSR modificr using a Monte Carlo simulation to model the probability of possible outcomes, The Monte Carlo simulation uses the grant
date stock price as a key input and includes assumptions and judgments regarding the risk-free interest rate, expected volatility, and annual dividend
yield. Generally, the fair valuce of the PSUs estimated using 1 Monte Carlo simulation does not signiticantly differ from the fair valuc bascd on the
granl date stock price.

We recognize compensation cxpensc over the requisite performance period, which is gencrally a vesting period of approximately three to six years.
Compensation expense recognized is dependent on management's quarterly assessment of the expected achievement relative to the applicable
performance targets. We recognize the offeet of forfeitures as they oceur.

For additional information about stock-based compensation, see Note 17.

Loyalty Program—The loyally program is funded through contributions from participaling properties and third-parly loyalty alliances based on eligible
revenues from loyalty program members and returns on marketable securities. The funds are used for the redemption of member awards and payment of
operating cxpenses. Operating costs arc expensed as incurred and recognized in costs incurred on behalf of managed and franchiscd propertics on our
consolidaled statements of income (loss).

The program invests amounts received from the participating propertics and third=party loyalty alliances in marketable seeuritics, which are included in
cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and other assets on our consolidated balance sheets (see Note 4). Deferred revenues related to the loyalty
program arc classificd as current and long-term contract liabilitics on our consolidated balance sheets (see Note 3). The costs of administering the loyalty
program, including the estimated cost of award redemption, are charged to the participating properties and third-party loyalty alliances based on members'
qualificd expenditures.

Advertising Costs—\Ve expense costs to produce advertising in the period incurred and costs to comumunicate advertising as the communication occurs,
Advertising costs arc generally reimbursed by our third-party owners and franchisces and arc recognized in revenucs for the reimbursement of costs incurred
on behall of managed and [ranchised properties and costs incurred on behall o' managed and (ranchised properties on our consolidated statements of income
(loss). Certain advertising costs associated with our Apple [ .cisure Group segment arc nol reimbursable, During the years ended Deeember 31, 2023, December
31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, we recognized approximately $65 million, $67 million, and $13 million, respectively, of advertising costs related 1o ALG in
distribution and destination management expenses on our consolidated statementy of income (loss).

Government Assistance—We receive government subsidies, primarily in the form of cash, related to expenses such as salaries, wages, and taxes. The
subsidics arc recorded when there is reasonable assurance the conditions of the subsidies will be met and the subsidics will be received. The subsidies are
recognized as a benefit against the related expense on our consolidated statements of income (loss) over the period that the subsidies are intended to
compensate. Our subsidics primarily relate to the Coronavirus Aid, Relicf, and Ceconomic Sceurity ("CARES") Act and the American Rescuc Plan Act of 2021
("ARPA"). The CARES Act, enacted in March 2020, as well as subsequently enacted legislation, including ARPA, provided economic support due 1o the
COVID-19 pandemic. The CARTS Act included an employee retention ercdit, which is a refundable tax credit against certain cmployment taxes. ARPA
provided a relundable subsidy tax credit to employers to offset the costs of COBRA coverage for certain qualified employees [rom April 1, 2021 through
September 30, 2021. During the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we reeeived S19 million and §6 million, respectively, of government
assistance related 1o Lthese programs in the [orm of cash. The benefit {rom the government subsidies was primarily recognized against the related expenses in
prior periods. At December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had $7 million and S26 million, respectively, related to thesc programs recorded in
receivables, net on our consolidated balance sheets.
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Adopted Accounting Standards

Reference Rate Reform—Iin March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASR") issucd Accounting Standards Update No, 2020-04 ("ASU
2020-04"), Reference Rate Reform (lopic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. ASU 2020204 provides opiional
expedicnts and exceptions that we can clect to adopt, subject to meeting certain eriteria, regarding contract modifications, hedging relationships, and other
transactions that reference the London Interbank OfTered Rate ("LIBOR") or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of relerence rate
reform, In December 2022, the FASB issucd Accounting Standards Update No. 2022-06 ("ASU 2022-06"), Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the
Sunset Date of Topic 848. ASU 2022-06 was effective upon issuance and delers the sunset date of lopic 848 by two years, extending the provigions o[ ASU
2020-04 through December 31, 2024, During the year ended December 31, 2023, we amended certain LIBOR-bascd contracts and adopted the provisions of
ASU 202004 in conjunclion with (he amendments. We are also in the process of converling other LIBOR<hased contracts (o allernative reference rales, ASU
2020-04 did not materially impact our consolidated financial statements upon adoption and is not expected to have a material future impact as we apply
oplional expedients or exceplions.

TFuture Adoption of Accounting Standards

Disclosure Improvements—in Oclober 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 202306 ("ASU 2023.06"), Divclosure fmprovements:
Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC's Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative. ASU 2023-06 modifics the disclosurc and prescntation
requirements for certain FASB Accounting Slandards Codification Lopics (o align wilh the SEC's regulutions. The effeclive date for each amendment will be the
date on which the SEC's removal of that related disclosure from its regulations becomes effective, if the SEC removes the disclosure by June 30, 2027. The
provisions of ASU 2023-06 are 10 he applied prospectively, with early adoption prohibited. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-06 to have a malerial
impact on our consolidated financial statements and accompanying Notes.

Segment Reporting—In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023207 ("ASU 202307"), Segment Reporting (1opic 280):
Improvements lo Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 improves teportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures
about significant scgment cxpenscs and information uscd to evaluate scgment performance. The provisions of ASU 202307 arc cffective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December [5, 2024, with early adoption permitted, and require
retrospective adoption for gll prior periods presented, We are currently assessing the impact of adopting ASU 2023-07.

Income Tuxes—In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 202309 ("ASU 202309"), Income Tuxes (Topic 740):
Improvements to Income T Disclosures. ASU 2023-09 requires enhanced annual income tax disclosures including (1) disaggregation of effective (ax rate
reconciliation categories, (2) additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, and (3) incomes taxes paid by jurisdiction. The
provisions of ASU 2023-09 arc cffective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with carly adoption permitted, and may be applicd cither
prospectively or retrospectively [or all prior periods presented. We are currently assessing the impact of adopling ASU 2023-09.



Table of Contents

3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Disaggregated Revenues

The following tables present our revenues disaggregated by the nature of the product or service:

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Americas EAME
Owned and g tand m tand manag tand Apple Leisure  Corporate and
leased holels franchising anchdsing franchising Group other Ellnioatdons ‘Total
Rooms revenues (1) $ 848 § — S —$ — S 26 S — % 29 % 845
Tood and beverage 333 — — — — — — 333
Other 159 —_ — — 2 — J— 161
Owned and leased hotels 1,340 — — — 28 — (29) 1,339
Base management fees — 250 6% 40 55 — (40) 374
Incentive managemenl fees — 69 84 34 6] — (16) 232
Franchise, license, and other
fees — 225 17 16 36 85 —_— 379
Management, franchise, license,
and other fees —_ 544 170 90 152 85 (56) 985
Contra revenue — (26) (3) (13) (5) = = (47)
Nct management, franchisc,
license, and oLher [ees — 518 167 77 147 85 (56) 938
Distribution and destination
management — — — -_ 1,032 _— —_ 1,032
Other revenucs — 82 — — 189 28 1 300
Revenues [or the reimbursement
of ¢osts incurred on behalf of
managed and franchiscd :
propertics — 2,667 155 926 140 -— — 3,058
Total $ 1,340 § 3,267 S 322 § 173 S 1,536 S 113 $ ®4)$ 6,667

(1) Apple Leisure Group includes package revenucs for all-inclusive leascd propertics.
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Year Ended December 31, 2022

Americas ASPAC EAME
Owned and  management and management and management and  Apple Leisure  Corporale and
leased hotels franchising franchising (2)  franchising (2) Group ather Eliminations Total
Rooms revenues (1) $ 780 S — 3 — S5 — 3 208 — S (28)S 772
Food and beverage 305 — —_— — — —_ —_ 305
Other 157 — — — 1 — — 158
Owned and leased hotels 1,242 —_ — — 21 — (28) 1,235
Base management fees s 225 45 34 52 — (37) 319
Incentive management fees — 64 40 33 68 — (13) 192
Franchise, license, and other
fees — 190 14 17 26 50 — 297
Management, franchise, license,
and other fees — 479 99 84 146 50 (50) 808
Contra revenuc i o (24) (2) 4) (1) — _— (31)
Nel management, [ranchise,
license, and olher fees - 455 97 80 145 50 (50) 777
Disiribution and destination
management — — — o= 986 — - 986
Other revenues — 119 — e 137 15 2 273
Revenues for the reimbursement
of costs incurred on behalf of
managed and franchised
properties — 2,271 157 78 114 - - 2,620
Total $ 1,242 § 2,845 $ 254 § 158 § 1,403 § 65 S (76) S 5,891

(1) Apple Leisure Group includes package revenues Jor all-inclusive |leased properties.
(2) Amounts presented have been adjusted for changes within the segments cffective on Jauuary 1, 2023 (scc Notc 19).
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Year Ended December 31, 2021

Aniericas ASPAC FAMF,
Owned and I tand ' tand 1] tand AppleTeisure Corporate and
leased hotels franchising franchising (1) franchising (1) Group other Eliminations Total
Rooms rovenucs S 519 § — 3 — S — 3 —3S —3 ans 502
Tood and beverage 196 — — - - — — 196
Other : 140 == B . — — — 140
Owned and feascd hotels 855 — — — — — a7 838
Base management fees — 130 40 19 5 —_ 25) 169
Incentive management lees —_ 19 23 13 10 — (7 58
Tranchise, license, and other
fees ‘ — 128 15 5 6 37 - 191
Management, francliise, license,
and other fees —— 277 78 37 21 317 (32) 418
Contra revenue — (19) ) (12) i — e (35)
Net management, franchise,
license, and other [ees — 258 74 25 21 37 32) 383
Distribution and desiination
management — — — — 115 - e 115
Other revenucs — 84 —_ —_ 19 4 2 109
Revenues for the reimbursement
of costs incurred on behall ol
managed and tranchised
properties e A — 1,410 108 54 11 — — 1,583
"Total S 855 & 1,752 S 182 S 79 % 166 S 41 § “ns 3,028
(1) Amounts presented have been adjusted for changes within the scpments cfective on January 1, 2023 (scc Note 19). T
Contract Balances
Contract assels were insignificant al both December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.
Contract liabilitics were comprised of the following:
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Deferred revenue related to the paid membership program $ 1,204 § 1,013
Deferred revenue related Lo the loyally program (1,130 928
Deferred revenue relaled 1o travel disiribution and destination management services 719 732
Deferred revenue related 1o insurance programs 75 66
Advanced deposity 57 61
Initial fees received from franchise owners 45 45
Other deferred revenue 127 88
Tolal contract ligbilitics $ 3357 § 2,933

Revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 included in the contract liabilitics balance at the beginning of
each year was $1,224 mitlion and $947 million, respectively. This revenue primarily relales 1o travel distribution and destination management services, the
loyalty program, and the Unlimited Vacation Club paid membership program.

Revenue Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations

Revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, which includes deferred revenuc
and amounls thal will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in fulure periods. Contracled revenue expected Lo be recognized in fulure periods was
approximately $575 million at December 31, 2023, approximately 20% of which we expoet to recognize over the next 12 months, with the remainder to be
recognized thereafler.
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4. DEBT AND EQUITY SECURITIES

‘We invest in debt and equity securities that we believe are strategically and operationally important to our business. These investments take the form of (i)
cquity method investments where we have the ability to significantly influcnce the operations of the entity, (ii) marketable sceuritics held to fund operating
programs and for investment purposes, and (iii) other types of investments.

Equity Method Investments

Equity method investments were $211 million and S178 million at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, and are primarily recorded
in owr owned and leased hotels scgment.

The carrying values and owncrship intcrests of our investments in unconsolidated hospitality ventures accounted for under the equity method werc as
follows:

., Carrying value
Ownership

Investee Existing or future hotel properéy interest December 31, 2023 December 31,2022
Hyatt of Baja, S. de. R.L. de C.V. Park Hyatt Los Cabos Hotel and Residences 50.0% $ 74 S 59

Hyatt Regeney Ahmedabad, Andaz Delhi, Grand

Hyatt Mumbai Hotel & Residences, Hyatt Place
Juniper Hotels Privatc Limited Hampi, Hyatt Raipur, Hyatt Regency Lucknow 50.0 % 28 —
HP Boston Partners, LLC Hyatt Placc Boston / Scaport District 50.0 % 22 25
Hotcl am Belvedore Holding GmbH & Co
KG Andaz, Vienna Am Belvedere 50.0 % 13 15
HRM HoldCo, LLC Hyail Regency Miami 50.0 % 13 10
HC Lenox JV LLC Hyall Centric Buckhead Atlanta 50.0 % 9 11
Iotel Toyo Uno, 8. de R\L, de C.V. Andaz. Mayakoba Resort Riviera Maya 40.0 Y4 7 9
ILE. Philadelphia [1C lotel, L.L.C. Ilyatt Centric Center Cily Philadelphia 40.0 %% 7 11
CBRIICN, LI.C Tlyatt Centric Downtown Nashville 40.0 4 6 8
Other Various 32 30
“lotal equity method investments $ 211 =S 178

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we acquired 50% of the outstanding shaves of a third-party entity that owns three of our managed properties in
India in exchange for the non-cash redemption of a | [TM debt security. Upon completion, one of our unconsolidated hospitality ventures in India acquired
100% of the outstanding shares of the entity, and we rec